
 
 
 

 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  Contact: Democracy 

 
Monday, 21 March 2022 at 7.00 pm  Direct: 020-8132 1111 
Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Silver Street, 
Enfield, EN1 3XA 

 Tel: 020-8379-1000 
  
 E-mail: democracy@enfield.gov.uk 

 Council website: www.enfield.gov.uk 

 
Councillors : Susan Erbil (Chair), Margaret Greer (Vice-Chair), Lee David-Sanders, 
Birsen Demirel, Mahmut Aksanoglu, Elif Erbil, James Hockney and Derek Levy 
 
 
Education Statutory Co-optees: 1 vacancy (Church of England diocese 
representative), vacancy (other faiths/denominations representative), Tony Murphy 
(Catholic diocese representative), Alicia Meniru & 1 vacancy (Parent Governor 
Representative). 
 
Enfield Youth Parliament Co-optees (2) 
 
 

 
AGENDA – PART 1 

 
1. WELCOME & APOLOGIES   
 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 Members of the Council are invited to identify any disclosable pecuniary, 

other pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests relevant to the items on the 
agenda. 
 

3. CALL-IN: DUGDALE CENTRE REFURBISHMENT (KD5433)  (Pages 1 - 
104) 

 
 To review the decision of the Deputy Leader of the Council taken on 2 March 

2022 as a result of the matter having been called in. 
 

4. MANAGING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC: INTERIM SUMMARY REPORT  
(Pages 105 - 194) 

 
 The Committee is asked to note the content of the report. 

 
5. GAMBLING ACT 2005 - CONTROL OF GAMBLING PREMISES 

INCLUDING IN TOWN CENTRES  (Pages 195 - 198) 
 
 The Committee is asked to receive a briefing report relating to the planning 

Public Document Pack



legislation and regime for the control of gambling premises, including in Town 
Centres. 
 

6. 2021/22 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 199 - 
202) 

 
 To note the Overview & Scrutiny Work Programme 2021/22. 

 
7. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   
 
 Two provisional meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 

scheduled on 24 March 2022 and 27 April 2022. 
 
The date of the next business meeting will be confirmed at the Annual 
Council meeting on 25 May 2022. 
 

 
 

 



 

Internal - Official - Sensitive [Personal] 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
Meeting Date 21 / 24 March 2022 
 

 
Subject:       Call in – Dugdale Centre Refurbishment  
Cabinet Member:     N/A                        
   
Key Decision:     N/A                        
 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. This report details a call-in submitted in relation to the following decision: 

Portfolio (taken on 2 March 2022). This has been “Called In” by 7 members of the 
Council; Councillors Andrew Thorpe, Edward Smith, Jim Steven, Glynis Vince, 
Joanne Laban (Lead), Maria Alexandrou and Chris Dey. 
 

Details of this decision were included on Publication of Decision List No.54 /21-22  
(Ref. 54 /21-22 – issued on 2 March 2022) 

 
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is asked to consider the decision that has been called-in for 
review. 

 
Proposal(s) 
 

2. That Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers the called-in decision and 
either: 

(a) Refers the decision back to the decision-making person or body for 
reconsideration setting out in writing the nature of its concerns.  The 
decision-making person or body then has 14 working days in which to 
reconsider the decision; or 

(b) Refer the matter to full Council; or 

(c) Confirm the original decision. 

 
Once the Committee has considered the called-in decision and makes one of 
the recommendations listed at (a), (b) or (c) above, the call-in process is 
completed.  A decision cannot be called in more than once. 
 
If a decision is referred back to the decision-making person or body; the 
implementation of that decision shall be suspended until such time as the 
decision-making person or body reconsiders and either amends or confirms the 
decision, but the outcome on the decision should be reached within 14 working 
days of the reference back.  The Committee will subsequently be informed of the 
outcome of any such decision 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



 

Internal - Official - Sensitive [Personal] 

 
Relevance to the Council’s Plan 
 
3. The council’s values are upheld through open and transparent decision 

making and holding decision makers to account. 
 

Background 
 
4. The request received on 9 March 2022 to “call-in” the Portfolio decision of 2 

March 2022 was submitted under rule 18 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules. It 
was considered by the Monitoring Officer.  

 
The Call-in request fulfilled the required criteria and the decision is referred to 
the Overview & Scrutiny Committee in order to consider the actions stated 
under 2 in the report. 
 
Implementation of the Portfolio decision related to this report will be 
suspended whilst the “Call-in” is considered. 

 
Reasons and alternative course of action proposed for the “Call in” 
 
5. The Call-in request submitted by Councillors Andrew Thorpe, Edward Smith, Jim 

Steven, Glynis Vince, Joanne Laban, Maria Alexandrou and Chris Dey Members of 
the Council gives the following reasons for Call-In: 

 

 The report states that the Enfield Museum will be enhanced yet the 
museum prior to COVID had 2 galleries of exhibition space on the ground 
floor of the Dugdale Centre and a permanent exhibition on the 1st floor. 
The design shows a new dedicated area for display of the permanent 
collection which is significantly less than the space allocated on the 1st 
floor of the Dugdale Centre and the space it already inhabited on the 
ground floor. The report fails to say how a smaller area enhances the 
museum. 
 

 Paragraph 17 states that a procurement process has been undertaken to 
appoint Willmott Dixon as contractors to deliver building works for floors 
one and two of Thomas Hardy House. It is proposed that these works be 
delivered as an extension to this existing contract, with delegated authority 
to Director of Environment and Operational Services Doug Wilkinson to 
appoint. However, the report fails to give any information on how just 
extending the existing contract is beneficial both in terms of cost and 
quality. It also fails to explain why this work was not included when the 
contract for the current work was originally procured.  
 

 Deliveries for all events at the Dugdale Centre were previously to the rear 
of the Theatre. Stock and equipment for the café, theatre, exhibitions, 
retail, museum, and 2nd floor offices were all delivered to this point and 
loaded in the service lift to the left of the delivery door. The report and 
accompanying documents fail to show any adequate provision for 
deliveries in this design. 

 

Page 2



 

Internal - Official - Sensitive [Personal] 

 The Dugdale Centre ground floor had a specially designed toilet with a 
hoist to provide access for people with severe mobility disabilities. It was 
the only facility of its kind in Enfield Town and provided essential access 
not only for the Dugdale Centre but elsewhere in Enfield Town. The report 
and accompanying document give no explanation of the removal of this 
facility and how that fits with the Equalities Act.  
 

 This new capital development will cost £1.5m on top of the £6m being 
spent on the 1st and 2nd floor meaning this development of Thomas Hardy 
House will cost £7.5million. The business plan for En_food highlights the 
£330,000 loss of income from the removal of the 1st floor and contributes 
only £121,200 in year 3 based on the analysis undertaken. There is no 
explanation about where the £191,000 in the balance of the loss will come 
from. 
 

 The report fails to set out what the financial projections and implications 
are for the whole scheme. It is not adequate to provide a plan that costs 
only a fraction of the whole operation. 
 

 As the report points out the En_Food business was already producing 
evening dining at the Dugdale Centre which was already achieving 
customers on a Friday and Saturday night through its Pop-Up World 
Tapas. This initiative demanded a much-enlarged staff resource to provide 
the experience that evening customers need to provide a quality 
experience. The report fails to explain how the 1.3 FTE identified to run 
this service are going to adequately deliver a service that needs chefs, bar 
staff, kitchen porters, waiting staff and front of house staff. 
 

 The new main entrance to the venue is situated at a busy part of the 
thoroughfare, close to the entrance to Lidl and which is already busy with 
people waiting for buses. There does not seem to be a safety analysis for 
this decision. It also fails to explain how moving the entrance to this 
location enhances the centre. 
 

 The Dugdale Centre has had repeated problems with the heating and 
ventilation with many problems created by failing dampeners and boilers. 
The new kitchen will put a new pressure on the system and the mezzanine 
being created and curtains dividing the area will change the airflow around 
the space. There is no explanation about how this project will deal with 
that issue, especially as it will be sharing a system with a new service on 
the 1st and 2nd floor. The report and accompanying documents do not 
explain whether the ground floor will have its own separate system or be 
sharing a system as before.  
 

 The business plan for the new En_Food restaurant points out that much of 
the storage for the catering was previously on the 1st floor. The storage 
for the museum exhibitions was also on the 1st floor. A lot of the Dugdale 
Theatre equipment was stored at Millfield Theatre as the backstage areas 
of the Dugdale Theatre were insufficient for the variety of movable 
equipment needed for a versatile facility. The new proposal puts in a 
second versatile performance event space yet fails to explain or show 
storage facilities.  

Page 3



 

Internal - Official - Sensitive [Personal] 

  
 

(2) Outline of proposed alternative action: 

Refer back for the decision to be reviewed  

 
Consideration of the “Call in” 
 
6.  Having met the “Call-in” request criteria, the matter is referred to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee in order to determine the “Call-in” and 
decide which action listed under section 2 that they will take. 

 
The following procedure is to be followed for consideration of the “Call-in”: 

 The Chair explains the purpose of the meeting and the decisions which 

the Committee is able to take.  

 The Call-in lead presents their case, outlining the reasons for call in.  

 The Cabinet Member/ Decision maker and officers respond to the 

points made. 

 General debate during which Committee members may ask questions 

of both parties with a view to helping them make up their mind.  

 The Call in Lead sums up their case. 

 The Chair identifies the key issues arising out of the debate and calls 

for a vote after which the call in is concluded. If there are equal 

numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a second or 

casting vote.  

 It is open to the Committee to either;  

o take no further action and therefore confirm the original decision  

o to refer the matter back to Cabinet -with issues (to be detailed in 

the minute) for Cabinet to consider before taking its final 

decision.  

o to refer the matter to full Council for a wider debate (NB: full 

Council may decide either to take no further action or to refer 

the matter back to Cabinet with specific recommendations for 

them to consider prior to decision taking)  

 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 

  7. To comply with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution, scrutiny is 
essential to good governance, and enables the voice and concerns of 
residents and communities to be heard and provides positive challenge and 
accountability.  

 

Safeguarding Implications 
 
8. There are no safeguarding implications. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
9. There are no public health implications. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal  

Page 4



 

Internal - Official - Sensitive [Personal] 

 
10. There are no equality implications. 
 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 
11. There are no environmental and climate change considerations. 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
12. There are no key risks associated with this report.   
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 
 
13. There are no key risks associated with this report.   
 
Financial Implications 
 
14. There are no financial implications  

 
Legal Implications 
  
15.  S 21, S 21A-21C Local Government Act 2000, s.19 Police and Justice Act 

2006 and regulations made under s.21E Local Government Act  2000 
define the functions of the Overview and Scrutiny  committee.  The 
functions  of the committee include the ability to  consider, under the 
call-in  process, decisions of Cabinet, Cabinet  Sub-Committees, 
individual Cabinet Members or of officers under  delegated authority. 

  
 Part 4, Section 18 of the Council’s Constitution sets out the procedure 
 for call-in. Overview and Scrutiny Committee, having considered the 
 decision may: refer it back  to the decision-making person or body for 
 reconsideration; refer to full Council or confirm the original decision.  
  
 The Constitution also sets out at section 18.2, decisions that are 
 exceptions to the call-in process.  
 
Workforce Implications 
 
16. There are no workforce implications  
 
Property Implications 
 
17. There are no property implications  
 
Other Implications 

 
18. There are no other implications 
 
Options Considered 
 

Page 5



 

Internal - Official - Sensitive [Personal] 

19. Under the terms of the call-in procedure within the Council’s Constitution, 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee is required to consider any eligible decision 
called-in for review.  The alternative options available to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee under the Council’s Constitution, when considering any call-in, 
have been detailed in section 2 above 

 
Conclusions 
 
20.  The Committee following debate at the meeting will resolve to take one of 

the actions listed under section 2 and the item will then be concluded. 
 

Report Author: Marie Lowe   
Governance & Scrutiny Officer 
Email: marie.lowe@enfield.gov.uk 
Tel No. 020 8132 1558 
 
Date of report 11 March 2022 
 
Appendices 
Portfolio Report including appendices 

Response to Call in reasons  
 
Background Papers 
The following documents have been relied on in the preparation of this report: 
None 
 

  

Page 6



Please note Part 2 report is now confidential appendix. 
 
 
 

PL 21/088 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
Portfolio Report 
 
Report of: Mark Bradbury 
 
 

 
Subject:   Dugdale Refurbishment                     
 
Cabinet Member: Cllr Ian Barnes 
 
Executive Director: Sarah Cary 
 
Ward:                        Town / All 
 
Key Decision: 5433 
 

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. This report provides details of the investment in refurbishing  Dugdale Arts 

Centre and Museum of Enfield, improving its capacity as sustainable 
placemaking cultural hub for Enfield Town. 

 
Proposal(s) 
 
2. Note the refurbishment plans as set out in this report, including the 

enhancement of the Museum of Enfield, the cafe and performance spaces in 
the Dugdale Arts Centre.  
 

3. Approve the spend of £1.5million from existing capital budget approved as 
part of the 10 year Capital programme in February 2022 (KD5353).  

 
 

4. Delegate authority to the Director of Environment and Operational Services in 
consultation with the Executive Director – Resources to appoint contractors 
and consultants in accordance with Contract Procedure Rules as necessary 
to deliver the programme provided such appointments do not exceed the 
budget authorised in paragraph 3 above. 

 
Reason for Proposal(s) 
 
5. To address the necessary requirement to make Museum of Enfield a central 

feature of Dugdale Arts Centre following relocation of some museum galleries 
from floor one of Thomas Hardy House to the ground floor and make 
improvements to the internal layout necessitated by move of main entryway. 

Page 7



PL 21/088 

 
6. To create a full size, environmentally friendly commercial kitchen able to 

serve 75 covers with both daytime and evening café and operation, providing 
a key revenue stream to support and enhance the centre’s cultural operation. 

 
7. To create an outward facing and engaging approach to the centre which 

makes clear this is an inviting cultural space and makes use of the 
surrounding public realm. 

 
8. To retain the theatre and dressing rooms as-is and create new cultural 

spaces including permanent and temporary museum exhibitions, education 
space, pop-up retail point for local creative businesses, gallery area and 
flexible seating and performance areas. 

 
Relevance to the Council’s Plan 
 
9. Proposal delivers strongly on five elements of the Council’s Plan: 

a. Craft a cultural offer for Enfield to support London’s status as a world 
class city with a best-in-class multi-functional arts centre and museum 

b. Develop town centres that are vibrant, safe and inclusive anchored 
with a day and evening cultural and F&B offer 

c. Enhance skills and connect local people to opportunities providing 
workshops, meeting point and employment for creative sector 

d. Drive investment to deliver good growth for London increasing the 
attractiveness of Enfield Town to professional sector employers 

e. Inspire and empower young Enfield through connection to the 
borough’s heritage and a programme of events and activities 

f. Create healthy streets, parks and community spaces through inclusive 
design that welcomes everyone inside and outside the centre 

 
Background 
 
10. The Dugdale – one of only four dedicated cultural venues in Enfield – was first 

opened in 2008, has hosted a variety of civic and community services and 
currently houses Museum of Enfield, 98-seat studio theatre, gift shop, gallery 
space and EnFood café. 
 

11.  With the revision to floors one and two of Thomas Hardy House (Build The 
Change) commitments have been given that additional museum capacity will 
be created on the ground floor. This and other impacts of the Build the Change 
works create a need and an opportunity to invest in the space to ensure its 
future as a sustainable cultural centre and cornerstone of revitalised Enfield 
Town. 

 
12. The Council’s Heritage Strategy Making Enfield contains a commitment to 

increasing museum audience development to reflect Enfield’s communities at 
the present day, and to making museum collections more accessible.  

 

13. The Council’s Cultural Strategy, Culture Connects, recognises the potential of the 
Dugdale to support Enfield’s night time economy.  

 
Main Considerations for the Council 

Page 8



PL 21/088 

 
14. The works to be funded by the budget draw down are illustrated in Appendix B, 

and include: 

• New dedicated entrance to the Cultural activities on the ground 
floor 

• New external facilities, e.g. seating and planting  

• New external sign 

• Refurbished informal performance space, including enhanced 
acoustic measures 

• Relocated and enlarged café 

• Expanded and refurbished museum collection 

• Moveable and expandable tiered seating.  
 

15. The refurbishment and new works will not require planning. Affected Council 
services, e.g. museums, culture, have been consulted about the proposals. 
External stakeholders, such as the Arts Council, local civic groups and cultural 
groups which use the Dugdale will have the opportunity to comment on the 
designs over the next few months. Subject to this decision, the timetable 
proposed enables the Dugdale to be open for cultural use before the Christmas 
2022 season.  
 

16. Proposed works have been costed by external surveyors and cost consultants 
at £1.5 million at current rates, including substantial contingency. The finance 
implications below detail how the project will be funded from within the 
approved capital programme.  

 
17. A procurement process has been undertaken to appoint Willmott Dixon as 

contractors to deliver building works for floors one and two of Thomas Hardy 
House. It is proposed that these works be delivered as an extension to this 
existing contract, with delegated authority to Director of Environment and 
Operational Services Doug Wilkinson to appoint.  

 
18. There are no additional revenue implications; all staffing and centre activity is 

already budgeted within Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. The MFP 
does, however, assume revenue generation from improved café-restaurant 
facility to support cultural activity.  

 
19. The business case (Appendix A) prepared by the Council’s commercial team 

for café-restaurant based on customer and spend-per-head figures achieved 
for daytime and evening food service in Dugdale pre-pandemic. These show a 
net profit of £550k over five years. If industry-wide risks due to pandemic, staff 
shortages and supply chain are mitigated, there is the potential to realise net 
profit of £830k as outlined given low levels of F&B offer in Enfield Town and 
popularity of food businesses with an ethical, environmentally friendly and 
locally-focused approach. 

 
 
Safeguarding Implications 
 
20.No safeguarding implications to proposal. 
 
Public Health Implications 

Page 9



PL 21/088 

 
21. Cultural activity and opportunities for social connection play a key role in 

community health and wellbeing. The Dugdale team participates in a range of 
public health initiatives and delivers programming with a wellbeing focus such 
as Mindful Art Café. This service will be enhanced by improved facilities. 

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal  
 
22. Dugdale will continue to provide an inclusive and accessible cultural service. 

The proposals ensure physical access to all spaces for wheelchair users and 
include supportive design features for those with hearing or sight impairments. 
The centre is free to enter ensuring full access to museum and gallery and 
seating is set aside outside the café area to ensure a welcome to all, whether 
or not café customers. Dedicated buggy parking is included and the space is 
family friendly, with museum text and exhibits included at a range of heights. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations  
 
23. Proposal will improve environmental performance of service with an all-electric 

kitchen. Active travel to venue will continue to be encouraged and proposal works in 
partnership with planned Healthy Streets delivery of improved cycle access to venue. 
This is part of a wider improvement programme for the building, which will see 
investment in carbon saving technologies including heat pumps to reduce the carbon 
emissions of the site. 

 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision and related work is not taken 
 
24. The cultural budget depends on the Dugdale providing a café with traded 

income. Not proceeding to refurbish the Dugdale will substantially restrict the 
service income and have a negative impact on the revenue budget and or the 
service overall.  
 

25. Not proceeding at this time will add additional costs and complexity.  The 
current proposal for works to be carried out in tandem with Build the Change 
building works on first and second floors creates some savings and ensures 
Dugdale period of closure is kept to a minimum. 

 
 
Risks that may arise if the proposed decision is taken and actions that will 
be taken to manage these risks 
 
26. The construction costs could come in over the budget in this report.  The 

costs have been prepared based on architectural designs by an external 
consultant and a healthy contingency of 5% has been included.  The budget 
will be controlled by regular review and approvals process as per the Build 
the Change.  

 
27. Building programmes carry complex interdependencies and supply chains 

currently negatively impacted by pandemic and Brexit such that timetable is at 
risk and proposed December reopening may be affected. Risks reviewed 
weekly with Build the Change team, some contingency time included, service 
has plan to maintain cultural delivery in event of delayed opening. 

 

Page 10



PL 21/088 

Financial Implications 
 
28. The Dugdale refurbishment is a new Capital project, approved as part of the 

2022/23 ten year capital programme. A budget envelope of £1,579m is included 
in the ten year programme (KD5353). 
 

29. The total budget is funded through a transfer of previously approved Town 
centre regenerations budgets of £600k. The balance of £979k represents 
growth to the capital programme, of which £821k is funded by Community 
infrastructure Levy (CIL), as approved by the Strategic Planning Board on the 
14.02.2022 and the balance will be funded by Council borrowing 

 
30. The Project is forecast to start and complete during 2022/23  
 

 
Legal Implications 
  
MD 22nd February 2022 
 
31. The Council has the power under s.1(1) Localism Act (2011) to do anything individuals 

generally may do providing it is not prohibited by legislation and subject to Public Law 
principles. The Council therefore has sufficient power to undertake the works 
described in this report. 
  
Any procurement of contracts must comply with the Council’s Contract Procedure 
Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. Any variation of existing contracts 
must also comply with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and the Public 
Regulations 2015, which limit the circumstances in which variations can be made.  
 
The Council’s Sustainable and Ethical procurement policy must be followed for all 
procurements. Recent National Procurement Policy asks all contracting authorities to 
consider the following national priority outcomes alongside any additional local 
priorities in their procurement activities: creating new businesses, new jobs and new 
skills; tackling climate change and reducing waste; and Improving supplier diversity, 
innovation and resilience. Following the Council’s Sustainable and Ethical 
procurement policy will support this requirement. 
 
Further advice should be obtained from Legal Services in relation to the appointment 
of contractors and consultants for the delivery of this programme of works. Detailed 
legal implications will be provided in any future report authorising such appointments. 
 

 
Workforce Implications 
 
32. No workforce implications to this proposal. 

 
Property Implications 
 
33. The building of which the Dugdale is part is leased-in by the Council on a 250-yr 

lease at a peppercorn rent. The lease permits internal non-structural alterations and 
additions, and alterations to entrances, subject to Landlord’s consent which is not to 
be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  

 

Page 11



PL 21/088 

34. Such consent will be required from the Landlord prior to works 
commencement, however the likelihood of such consent being denied is 
considered highly remote owing to the nature of the proposed works, and also 
that greater works to upper floors having been consented by the Landlord 
during the course of the past 12 months. 

 
Other Implications 

 
35.  None. 

 
Options Considered 
 
36.  Not delivering these works – not possible given requirement to move doors and 

relocate full museum within Dugdale. 

 
37.  Reduced scope of works – need to relocate museum, relocate door and create larger 

café-restaurant business that provides revenue return require substantial revision to 
services which forms the bulk of proposed costs, ie no reduction in scope possible.  

 
Conclusions 
 
38. The proposal will deliver significant benefit to Enfield Town including to its public 

realm, public welcome and evening economy and to the cultural infrastructure of the 
borough.  The works also support the delivery of the Council’s Heritage Strategy and 
Cultural Strategy.  

 
39.  Appropriate sources of funding have been identified through the Capital Finance 

Board, including development obligations.  There is potential for project to be 
realised for less than proposed budget envelope. 

 
40.  The proposal is timed to allow financial and operational economies through a shared 

build timetable with works to floors one and two of Thomas Hardy House. 

 

Report Author: Rebekah Polding 
 Head of Cultural Development 
 Rebekah.polding@enfield.gov.uk 
 07894 700931 
 
Date of report 11.2.2022 
 
Appendices 
 
 
Background Papers 
The following documents have been relied on in the preparation of this report: 
 
Appendix A 2021.12.21 Dugdale Restaurant Business Case vF 
Appendix B1170_DAC_DesignUpdate_Stage2 report by specialist culture 
architects DPQ for LBE 
 

Page 12



 
 
 
          
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  London Borough of Enfield 
 
 

 
The Dugdale Centre 

Restaurant Redevelopment  
Strategic Business Case 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 13



 Page 2 of 24  
  

 
Main Business Case 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Documentation Approval 

Name Role Date Signature 

Sarah Cary Executive Director Place   

Mark Bradbury  Director of Property and 
Economy 

  

Rebekah Polding Head of Culture Services 
Development 

  

    

Distribution List 

Name Division Job Title / Dept 

   

   

   

Documentation Control 

Version Date 
Status (draft, approved, signed 
off) 

Change description 

1.0  Draft   

    

    

    

Page 14



 Page 3 of 24  
  

 
 
 

CONTENTS 

 

1. Executive Summary………………………………………........................... 4 

2. Strategic Case…………………………………………………….............. 5 

3. Delivery Options……….……………………………………………............. 7 

4. Financial Case……………………………………………………................. 10 

5. Management Case………………………………………………….............. 14 

6. Constraints/Considerations…..……………………………………............. 15 

7. Risks……………………...……………………………………………........... 16 

8. Indicative Timescale………………...……………………………................ 20 

9. Authorisation to Proceed……………………………………..................... 21 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 Page 4 of 24  
  

 
1. Executive Summary 
 
1.1 Since 2015 Culture Services (CS) has been responsible for a wide range of 

venues and services ranging from The Dugdale Centre to Sports 
Development. It has been managed by various departments including 
Children’s Services, Resources and Property & Economy. In 2018 the CS 
business model was realigned to improve the services financial position, with 
the primary business focus on the services predominant income stream - 
room hire. 
  

1.2 The new Culture Strategy, “Culture Connects”, was approved 11th November 
2020, which lays out three priorities: Sustainability, Opportunities for Young 
People and Culture Everyday (Appendix 1). The strategy celebrates the 
distinct cultural strengths of Enfield and outlines plans to grow the borough’s 
wellbeing, economy and opportunities through culture. This includes a priority 
to support the development of our town centres. 
 

1.3 Following the approval of the Culture strategy, to ensure its delivery, CS has 
been reviewed and restructured. The restructure saw non-cultural venues 
removed from the service, with the number of assets managed by CS 
reduced to two core cultural venues – Forty Hall and the Dugdale Centre 
(including the Museum), along with its the Library Green café.  
 

1.4 In 2022, as part of Enfield’s Build the Change programme, the first floor of the 
Dugdale Centre will become dedicated offices for Children Services. CS will 
no longer be able to provide corporate room hire from this space and so 
expect a loss of generated income of approx. 60% of the Dugdale Centre 
annual income (approx. £330k pa).  
 

1.5 CS budgets have been reset, and its income budget reduced. However, 
considering the loss of room hire income, the new budget requires an initial 
like for like income growth of approx. 30% of remaining income streams. It is 
planned that the development of the EnFood business (the Dugdale 
café/Library Green café) will be the main driver of the delivery of the services 
income budget.  
 

1.6 The Dugdale Centre, in its current guise, has extremely limited kitchen space. 
Key food storage space on the first floor will be lost in the development works. 
To further develop and grow the EnFood provision within the Dugdale, it is 
critical that the service has the required resources to provide a competitive 
offer to Enfield Town. This business case sets out the required investment to 
deliver a functional working kitchen and restaurant space within the venue. 

 

2. Strategic Case 

 Background 

2.1 The Dugdale Centre is an arts centre within Thomas Hardy House in Enfield 
Town. Prior to the pandemic, the centre spanned the ground and first floors, 
containing a 139-seat studio theatre, the Museum of Enfield, exhibition space, 
small retail spaces, a café/bar, local archives and a suite of conference rooms 
for hire. These services supported the local culture offering, whilst generating 
an income, which peaked in 2019/20 generating a total income of approx. 
£680k. 

Page 16



 Page 5 of 24  
  

2.2 In 2022, the first floor of Thomas Hardy House will become contained office 
space. The Dugdale Centre will lose space that was previously used by the 
CS for a community cultural space, operational storage, as well as corporate 
room hire which achieved an average of £330k pa. In addition, hospitality 
catering associated with room hires achieved an average income of approx. 
£52k pa. 

2.3 The remaining venue space needs updating, as the current set up does not 
achieve a strong cultural identity and doesn’t maximise its commercial 
potential. As a result, the centre is not optimised to deliver the newly 
approved Culture Strategy. Refurbishment works are planned with a vision to 
deliver a modern cultural hub supported by its commercial value. It is 
anticipated that the following works will be included within the refurbishment 
programme:   

 

• A central modern designed museum/participation/second performance 
space 

• Relocation and kitchen improvement works 

• A new restaurant/bar area 

• Creation of an outdoor seating area 

• A single retail space  

2.4 Following the CS restructure the services budget has been reset. CS first year 
income budget has been reduced to £390k, which is to be delivered from 
EnFood, Dugdale theatre programming hires. Historically, the Dugdale Centre 
generated an average income of approx. £239k pa from non-room hire 
income streams and so the new budget represents a required income growth 
of approx. 30%. 

2.5 EnFood is the catering service managed by CS with a business model 
focused on sustainability and localism. The business was established in 2017, 
providing fresh, local and sustainable food with a healthy menu sourced from 
local suppliers such as Wright’s Flour Mill and Holtwhites Bakery. The service 
quickly gained industry recognition, earning a top three-star rating by the 
Sustainable Restaurants Association and acknowledgement from the Mayor 
of London at the Good Food for London Awards. Prior to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the business was operating from both the Dugdale Centre and the 
Library Green Café.   

2.6 The EnFood operation within the Dugdale Centre was limited because of 
logistical and operational issues, including: 

• Cooking equipment limited to a hot plate, sandwich toaster and 
microwaves 

• No dedicated storage area for stock with fridges and freezers located 
across both the ground and first floors 

• Irregular programme of events at The Dugdale Centre causing erratic 
visitor numbers which limited momentum for EnFood   

• Little on site branding, with no exterior signage causing a lack of 
presence within the venue 

• Limited marketing of the business 

• The confusing configuration the venue meant consumers were unclear 
as to the offer was of the Dugdale Centre. 

Page 17



 Page 6 of 24  
  

Despite these issues, EnFood delivered a 2019/20 income growth of approx. 
37% to £230k, growing from £168k generated in 2018/19.  

2.7 As pandemic restrictions lifted, the Library Green Cafe reopened and 
achieved a 2021/22 Q1 & Q2 income of approx. £74k. This is a significant 
improvement on its pre-pandemic income, which has been achieved with 
limited marketing and at a time of consumer caution. The following table 
provides a performance comparison: 

 

2.8 As part of the CS restructure, EnFood staffing was reviewed and a new 
structure agreed, which provided 7.5 FTE for EnFood, consisting of: 
 

• EnFood Manager & Head Chef 

• Deputy Chef 

• Customer Service Assistants x 5 

• Catering Assistant x 0.5 

Industry Analysis 

2.9 According to the ONS, in 2019 the food & beverage (F&B) service sector 
within the UK was worth approx. £76.7bn.  In 2020 and 2021, the Covid-19 
pandemic led to nationwide lockdowns and social restrictions including 
closing all non-essential businesses, no social mixing and only essential 
travel. The hospitality sector was one of the hardest hit industry by the 
restrictions, with the 2020 industry’s value falling by 42.4% to £44.2bn. In 
addition, since January 2020, the sector is likely to have also been affected by 
Brexit, but as the end of the transition period coincided with the period of 
restrictions, it is hard to separate the effects of the two.  

2.10 At the start of the first lockdown, the industry’s income for April fell by 87.1% 
compared to April 2019. It quickly became evident that the nation was facing 
an extended period of restrictions and so the sector needed to adapt and find 
a way to continue trading. As a result, there was a huge increase in the 
following areas: 

• Food and Drink Deliveries 

• Food and Drink Click and Collect 

• Home cooking kits 

• On line events including cook along and tastings 

2.11 According to Lumina Intelligence, during 2020, the UK food delivery market 
grew £3.7bn (48%) to £11.4bn, with the sector accounting for £2 of every £10 
spent on a food service. Initially the service value is expected to fall to 
£10.5bn in 2021, which will still be 37% higher than pre- pandemic levels. 
Further growth of the sector is expected though and by 2024 the sector is 
predicted to be valued at £12.6bn. 

2.12 Prior to the pandemic, the use of technology within restaurants was relatively 
low, with just 8% of consumers having used a self-ordering tablet and 10% 
used a QR within a restaurant. As restrictions eased, restaurants introduced 

Page 18



 Page 7 of 24  
  

the use of these technologies, as safety measure and to boost customer 
confidence in public health. According to Lumina Intelligence, the use of both 
technologies has shot up, with the case of the use of QR codes usage 
increased by 250%. They are likely to become a mainstay in many 
businesses, as the industry see additional commercial value as well as future 
proofing against possible future restrictions.  

2.13 The ONS has highlighted the strong contribution from the reopening of the 
hospitality sector in April 2021, helping the UK economy grow 4.8% between 
April and June. A 2021 Lumina Intelligence UK Eating Out Repot, has 
projected that at the end of 2021 the value of the eating out market will have 
recovered to £63.3bn, with full recovery and then continue growth expected in 
2022.  

2.14 Industry experts including Hanni Rützler, Lumina Intelligence, IDG and CGA 
all have recurring themes in their predicted post pandemic trends which 
include:  

• CGA data shows that 55% of consumers intend to spend the same or 
more than pre- pandemic levels 

• An IGD poll in September 2020 indicated 55% of respondents intend 
to make dietary changes to improve their health 

• Consumers who remain anxious about crowds have moved away from 
peak trading periods and spread their visits more evenly across the 
week 

• Local economy spend is expected to continue to benefit from 
consumers continuing to work from home, as seen with the growth of 
the Library cafe 

• Demand growth in vegan and vegetarian menus 

• Consumers becoming aware of environmental impacts 

• Food deliveries will remain higher than pre- pandemic levels, 
becoming less treat led and more habitual plan to spend the same or 
more after Covid-19.  

• Sustainability - the environmental awareness amongst UK consumers 
has surged in recent years with consumers seeking to reduce carbon 
footprint of their food choice, whether that's by shopping local, 
reducing meat intake or buying plastic-free 

• The use of technology throughout the industry will continue including:  
➢ QR codes for menus ordering and payments 
➢ The use of apps for reservations, click and collect ordering and 

payments 
➢ Increased use of contactless payments 
➢ Increased use of digital kitchen boards – a digital menu board 

for kitchen staff helping restaurants streamline back-of-house 
operations. 

Enfield Town Market Analysis 

2.15 Enfield Town is located in the heart of Enfield and is the largest town centre in 
the borough. Enfield Town is the cultural hub of the borough as well as its 
primary shopping, commercial and administrative centre. It is home to 7% of 
the borough’s jobs and 8% of businesses, making it the largest economy of 
the five town centres.  

Page 19



 Page 8 of 24  
  

2.16 The population living around the town centre is older and more prosperous (in 
terms of income and deprivation) than around the other focus town centres in 
the borough. Overall, growth in the population over the last decade has been 
slower than seen across the borough and London, creating a long standing, 
established catchment. 

2.17 There are several larger scale developments expected in forthcoming years 
within Enfield Town, which include:  

• The redevelopment of Palace Gardens to create a new food, leisure 
and residential living space with 600 units 

• The redevelopment of the former Meta Switch Offices, Church Street, 
to create residential living space with approx. 80 units planned 

• The redevelopment of Refuge House, River Front to create residential 
living space with approx. 80 units 
 

2.18 In addition to the above proposals, following successful funding bids from 
TFL’s Liveable Neighbourhoods, works to Enfield Towns public realm are 
planned. The funding is to be to be used to reduce car use and turn local 
areas into safer, greener and healthier places for Londoners to live. The 
proposed improvements that will make Enfield Town a more attractive 
destination to live and visit, include: 
 

• Enhancement of the Market Square, Town Park entrance and 
Fountain Island 

• The creation of a plaza in front of Enfield Town Station 

• Creation of a "pocket park" at one end of Little Park Gardens and  

• A new public space (Saddlers Mill Square) at the other end, making  

2.19 In May 2021 an audit of high street uses was carried out to determine the 
offer in Enfield Town. This found that over half of all units were occupied by 
shops and that the town centre is also well served by banks and other 
services.  

 

2.20 A 2017 survey found that most people visit the town centre for shopping or to 
use services such as banks and hairdressers. Enfield Town users tended to 
live nearby and use the centre regularly, with 60% of respondents visiting at 
least once a week and 17% visiting daily. 

Page 20



 Page 9 of 24  
  

2.21 Data from Mastercard has shown that consumer F&B spend within Enfield 
Town dropped to zero between April and May 2020. It to 12 months for F&B 
spend to finally recover to pre-pandemic levels, in April 2021. By August F&B 
spend within Enfield Town had surpassed pre-March 2020 levels, suggesting 
that there is a growing demand within the Enfield Town F&B market.  

 

2.22 A desktop local market analysis exercise was undertaken in November 2021 
(Appendix 2). The exercise assessed the F&B markets of Enfield Town, 
Palmers Green one of the other 5 town centres in Enfield and Waltham 
Forest, located in neighbouring Waltham Forest with similar planned levels of 
redevelopment as Enfield Town.  

2.23 Enfield Town has 36 food and beverage operators (pubs/bars/restaurants) 
which, given its size, is fewer than might be expected, making up just 16% of 
the businesses within Enfield Town. In comparison, Palmers Green, 46 F&B 
operators and Walthamstow Central has 54. There is a high number of chain 
businesses in Enfield Town with just 50% of businesses independently 
owned, compared to 72% in both Palmers Green and Walthamstow Central.  

2.24 In Enfield Town, F&B businesses mostly provide a quick dining experience 
with approx. 42% focused purely on takeaway and approx. 67% either 
providing fast casual dining, fast food or café offers. The quick dining 
experience accounts for approx. 54% in Palmers Green and 43% in 
Walthamstow Central.  

2.25 In addition, with 30% of F&B businesses in Enfield Town operating only 
during the daytime, there are fewer restaurants providing an evening dining 
experience. These are important factors which are contributing to an 
underdeveloped night time economy in Enfield Town. The following table 
provides a breakdown of the F&B offers within the three local town centres: 

Page 21



 Page 10 of 24  
  

 

2.26 EnFood has previously delivered hospitality catering within the organisation. It 
is important to note that there will be three catering services within the LBE – 
EnFood, Enfield Catering Service and the proposed café provision on the 
ground floor of the Civic Centre managed by CMFM. It is therefore likely that 
EnFood will be competing against these services to secure internal hospitality 
catering.  

2.27 In summary, the local market analysis has confirmed, that there is an 
increasing spend on F&B within Enfield Town. The town has a lower number 
of F&B businesses than other local town centres, with a clear gap in the 
market for a dining experience, with most of the businesses focused on 
quicker eating options. There are also no local restaurants/cafes delivering 
the growing demand for a healthy local menu based on sustainability.  

Investment Opportunity 

2.28 CS needs to address the operational space within the Dugdale Centre, that 
will be lost, when the first floor is converted to office space. Given the 
following: 

• Plans to develop Enfield Towns night time economy 

• Expected increased programming at the Dugdale Theatre  

• The opening of new significant local employment hubs, (LBE Children 
Services within building and Microsoft offices opposite venue) 

• The planned wider refurbishment of the Dugdale Centre  

 It is an opportune time to invest in the EnFood business, to create the flagship 
home at the Dugdale Centre, delivering both daytime and evening services. 

2.29 As outlined in 2.6, despite operational restrictions, pre-pandemic EnFood 
substantially grew its customer base and income. Since reopening the Library 
café has continued this trend, with growth in income, customer numbers and 
average spend.  

2.30 CS are seeking investment to increase the venue’s cultural capacity with an 
accessible museum space and second performance area, and to ensure the 
venue’s sustainability via an enhanced café-restaurant offer. This would 
support the delivery of two key Council strategies: 

Page 22



 Page 11 of 24  
  

Culture Connects: this proposal creates increased cultural 
opportunity for residents in line with the ‘Culture Everyday’ priority, 
and delivers on the priority for a sustainable cultural sector both in 
terms of the more robust business model for the Dugdale Centre and 
the opportunities it provides for local performers 
An Economy That Works for Everyone: delivering strongly on the 
priority to transition our town centres from traditional retail hubs to 
place of welcome and exchange, diversifying the night-time, hospitality 
and cultural offer 
 

2.31 The proposal also supports the emerging Night Time Strategy which supports 
the development of an evening economy for Enfield Town. Through the ethos 
of EnFood, the proposal supports our public health objectives around healthy 
eating, healthy catering and support for the local economy. 

2.32  The EnFood offer will be core to the seven day a week centre operation. A 
flexible layout will adapt to a range of users from community groups (Knit and 
Natter, Breastfeeding Mums, Parent and Toddler), arts and social workshops, 
school parties, local workforce at lunchtime and hot desking workers during 
the day through to theatre audiences, comedy clubs, cabaret, quiz groups and 
networking events in the evening.  

2.33 Culture Palace in Palace Gardens is a test bed for this operating model. The 
new temporary space opened September 2021. EnFood has turned over 
£26k including 3 evening supper club events. 

2.34  The Dugdale Centre is scheduled to reopen November 2022 with new 
museum space, kitchen and café-restaurant facilities in place. Works will be 
delivered April – October in conjunction with the creation of the Children and 
Family Services Hub. A high-level order of cost estimate for the proposed 
works for the Dugdale Centre refurbishment has been prepared by Stace, 
which estimated a total cost of £1.4m including approx. £200k in professional 
fees. The estimated cost related to EnFood at the Dugdale is approx. £395k, 
including a contribution general refurbishment costs. A copy of the updated 
estimate is attached to appendix 3.  

2.35 As per the EnFood resourcing in 2.8, the following services would initially be 
provided across both the Dugdale Centre and Library Green cafes, with 
hospitality catering also provided via the Dugdale Centre:  
 

 
2.36 Following the successful adoption of these services, EnFood would trial 

extended operating services at the Dugdale Centre in year 2. The service 
would initially rely on casual staff to offer the following additional services: 
 

• Thursday evenings,  

• Sunday daytime  

• Delivery/click and collect.  
 
Subject to their success, the service would permanently adopt the additional 
services permanently in year 3. 
 

Service Trading Days Opening Hours Required FTE 

Dugdale Daytime Mon-Sat 9:30am - 4:30PM 3.3 

Dugdale Evening  Fri-Sat 6:30pm – 11pm 1.3 

Library Green Daytime Mon-Sat 9:30am - 4:30PM 2.8 

Page 23



 Page 12 of 24  
  

2.37 Financial appraisal has been undertaken and is detailed in section 4 of this 
report. Included within the analysis is a baseline position based on the current 
service budget, which projects the service, without investment, to operate at a 
net cost of approx. £173k over a five-year period.   
 

2.38 Also included in the financial appraisal are projected budget positions, based 
on a number of operating models and demands.  The following table provides 
a summary of the financial projections for the expected growth of the service, 
for years 1-3: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This model projects a five-year total net income of approx. £521k, which 
represents an improvement of £694k,  
 

2.39 As the business re-establishes itself, there would be potential for further 
growth to provide additional services, including:  
 

• Partnerships with suppliers for order collection for customers 

• Event partnerships with suppliers (eg gin festivals, bake off events etc) 

• Cookery workshop experiences 
*These additional services are not included in any financial assessments as the require 

further development 

 
 Conclusion 
 
2.40 As outlined in 2.14, industry experts expect many changes and trends to 

emerge, post-pandemic to include: 
  

• Health and varied menus containing  
• A varied and increased vegetarian and vegan options 
• Locally focused and based around sustainability 

 
2.41 The local market analysis has also identified the following: 

 

• There is also an increasing spend on F&B within Enfield Town, 
exceeding pre-pandemic spend 

• A low number of F&B businesses with the town centre 

Expected Growth Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 

Exp.       

Employee Costs £223,000 £235,000 £267,000 

Activity Costs £41,000 £41,000 £41,000 

Stock £124,000 £133,000 £148,000 

Total Exp £388,000 £409,000 £456,000 

Inc.       

Library  -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 

Dugdale Day  -£161,200 -£184,600 -£184,600 

Dugdale Night -£114,400 -£145,600 -£182,000 

Hospitality  -£15,600 -£15,600 -£26,000 

Delivery/Take Away £0 -£26,000 -£39,000 

Total Inc -£436,800 -£517,400 -£577,200 

Total -£48,800 -£108,400 -£121,200 

Page 24



 Page 13 of 24  
  

• Majority of business focused on a quick customer turnaround 

• Few businesses providing an ‘dining experience’ 

• Council and Metaswitch employees provide an immediate, contactable 
customer base for lunchtime 

• No business focused on providing a health, local and sustainable 
menu. 

2.42 With EnFood’s business based around providing a healthy local menu based 
on sustainability, there is a clear opportunity to grow and develop the EnFood 
brand within Enfield Town. It is proposed that a flagship space is created for 
EnFood within the refurbished Dugdale Centre, which is closely surrounded 
by the new Children Services and Metaswitch employment hubs.  

2.43 As outlined in 2.36 and within the Financial Case, the proposed investment is 
projected to deliver a year 1 net income of approx. £49k, growing to £121K by 
year 3. Between years 1 to 5, the service is projected to deliver a net income 
of £520k, an improvement of £694k from the current baselined service 
budget. It would therefore be expected that EnFood could return the 
investment cost of £395k within 4 years. 

  

3. Delivery Options 
 

3.1 There are two broad options available to deliver the EnFood business for the 
Authority: 

 

• In house service delivery 

• Third party service delivery 
 
These are considered in more detail below 

  
In House Service Delivery 

 
3.2 The EnFood service was created and has been managed by the Authority 

since 2017. Since its inception, is has delivered a high-quality menu, from 
locally sourced supplies, benefiting both the service and the local economy. It 
remains very popular and significant work has been undertaken to increase 
the service offer, ranging from daytime café service to themed evening food 
events.  

  
3.3 The business has a clear vision for growth and was retained as part of the 

recent CS restructure. The EnFood vision of growth includes a regular 
evening offer utilising an expanded theatre programme, a delivery/click and 
collect service, themed nights and potential partnerships with local suppliers. 
This business case sets out the level of income that could be achieved.  

  
3.4 By continuing with the service in house, the Authority will retain full control, 

ensuring the business continues to operate in line with its policies and 
strategies. Importantly, the service can also retain its level of quality control, 
of which the business has been built.  
 
Third Party Service Delivery 
 

3.5 The Authority could tender the opportunity for the service to managed by a 
third-party operator. This model would remove most associated costs form the 
Authority, whilst delivering a regular income. As part of this process, the 

Page 25



 Page 14 of 24  
  

Authority would develop a detailed specification for how the service is to be 
operated. Typically, third parties would be invited to submit a financial offer to 
manage the service. The LBE may want to include a mechanism which 
includes a profit share.  

 
3.6 If the Authority was to require the retention of the current business model 

including the EnFood branding, it could affect the appeal and value of 
submitted bids. If the requirements were relinquished, the Authority would 
likely attract more interest from providers and potentially improve the financial 
offers for the contract.  

 
3.7 By contracting the business to a third party, the authority would lose a 

significant amount of operational control. Whilst the contractor would need to 
comply with key performance indicators, the Authority would lose its general 
operational control. For example, the Authority would not be able to dictate 
the businesses supply chain. Whilst the LBE could set out strict requirements 
within the tender specification, it will ultimately reduce the value of the 
contract.  

 
3.8 EnFood operates as part of the Dugdale cultural programme not as a 

separate entity. This ranges from shared use of space and facilities – café 
tables are also workshop tables, for example – to co-programming, such as 
music and food events. This collaborative flexibility is a key requirement of the 
new space and may be hard to effect with an external operator with its own 
business model. 

 
3.9 As the Council has established EnFood, there is also potential reputational 

risk for the Council to consider. Consumers may be unaware of management 
changes and could struggle to understand the business is now managed by a 
third-party.  

 

4. Financial Case 
 
4.1 In 2020, as part of the BtC programme, architects delivered a costed high-

level plan for a renewed ground floor of the Dugdale Centre. In September 
2021, the high-level plan was reviewed and updated with an estimated cost of 
£1.4m including professional fees.  

 
4.2 Included within the estimate were the required works to create an updated 

kitchen and café/restaurant with seating for up to 75 customers. The follow 
table provides a breakdown of the estimated kitchen and restaurant costs, 
which total approx. £395k:  

 

Page 26



 Page 15 of 24  
  

Description Cost

Risk Allowance Estimate* £55,745

Facilitating Works* £7,027

External Walls* £3,167

Windows and External Doors* £4,667

Internal Doors* £6,703

Wall Finishes* £26,019

Floor Finishes* £8,637

Ceiling Finishes* £7,337

Allowance for new kitchen equipment £22,000

Allowance to install existing kitchen equipment £3,500

Allowance for tables and chairs; to dining area £15,000

Allowance for display boards £1,100

Allowance for bar £11,000

Allowance for storage towers £5,000

Allowance for store shelving £550

Allowance for signage £5,000

Allowance for FF&E £12,000

Toilets* £8,650

MEP services; modifications to existing* £75,933

CCTV* £6,667

Disability emergency alarm* £833

Heating Pump* £1,800

Extraction system* £9,000

Clean duct work* £1,667

Below ground drainage alterations for kitchen £16,500

Externals Works* £12,667

Fees* £66,667

TOTAL £394,836  
*33% contribution to general venue refurbishment costs 

 
4.3 Commercial Services have produced a baselined five-year Dugdale Centre 

budget (Appendix 4) to demonstrate the potential as-is budget allocation for 
the EnFood service without investment, using the following assumptions 
across the five-year period: 

 

• The annual budgeted income growth for the Dugdale cost centre, will 
be delivered by EnFood  

• Initial café stock costs are in line with previous service spend 

• EnFood stock costs will increase in line with the growth of the 
business 

 
4.4 The baselined budget shows the five-year net cost of EnFood would be 

£172.5k. EnFood’s annual net costs would be expected to fall year on year, 
creating a small surplus by year 5.  

 

Page 27



 Page 16 of 24  
  

 
 

4.5 To support the required investment to create an upgraded and extended 
kitchen at Dugdale, Commercial Services have worked with EnFood to 
develop operating projections and cost breakdowns for the service have been 
developed (Appendix 5 & 6) for the following models:  
 

• Day time only service 

• Limited evening service  

• Planned evening service with expected business growth 

• Accelerated business growth 
 

4.6 The following assumptions were used across the four model projections: 
 

• EnFood current day time customer average spend of £6.86 is 
maintained 

• Supply costs set at 29% of projected income, based on the industry 
standard of 25% and an additional 4% contingency 

• Marketing and running costs remain constant across the five-year 
period.  

• The EnFood staff structure is fully recruited and staff retained within 
current budgets 

• EnFood staff resourcing is grown upon success of phase 1 and 
expansion trial 

• Hospitality is based on a Mon-Fri service 

• Delivery/Takeaway operates alongside evening services 

• Inflation has not been considered 

• Trading is unrestricted  
 
Day Only Model 
 

4.7 Based on a day time only service Monday to Saturday at both the Dugdale 
Centre and Library Green, with additional income achieved from hospitability. 
The model reduces the services risk exposure, as both venues have 
previously provided daytime services. This model potentially may need to be 
adopted whilst service recruitment is completed.  
 

4.8 Under this model, required staffing is reduced by 2 FTE and so employee 
costs have been reduced by £61k from the base lined budget. To achieve the 
projected incomes, stock requirements would also be reduced. Based on the 
supply costs assumptions, to achieve an annual income of £306k, stocks 
costs are projected to be approx. £93.5k, £10.5k below the baseline budget.  
 

4.9 By adopting the following assumptions: 
 

• Current customer average spend of £6.86 is maintained,  

Page 28



 Page 17 of 24  
  

• Average 68 daily customers at Library Green café 

• Average 75 daily customers at Dugdale centre 
 
The model would deliver an annual net income of approx. £42k, an 
improvement of approx. £130.2k from the baseline budget. Across a five-year 
period the service is projected to achieve an approx. net income of £212k, an 
improvement from baseline of £385k. 
 
Day Only Model Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 5 Year Total

Exp.

Employee Costs £162,000 £162,000 £162,000 £162,000 £162,000 £810,000

Marketing Cost £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £47,500

Activity Costs (Op Costs) £15,000 £15,000 £15,000 £15,000 £15,000 £75,000

Stock £93,500 £93,500 £93,500 £93,500 £93,500 £467,500

Total Exp £280,000 £280,000 £280,000 £280,000 £280,000 £1,400,000

Inc.

Library -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£728,000

Dugdale Day -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£806,000

Hospitality -£15,600 -£15,600 -£15,600 -£15,600 -£15,600 -£78,000

Total Inc -£322,400 -£322,400 -£322,400 -£322,400 -£322,400 -£1,612,000

Total -£42,400 -£42,400 -£42,400 -£42,400 -£42,400 -£212,000  
 
Limited Evening Service 
 

4.10 Based on a fully staffed service, as per the recent restructure, this model 
includes the addition of a weekly Friday and Saturday evening service at the 
Dugdale Centre. Further income is achieved from hospitality and from year 2 
the introduction of takeaway/delivery services.  
 

4.11 The model adopts the following assumptions: 
 

• Current customer average spend of £6.86 is maintained,  

• Average 68 daily customers at Library Green café 

• Average 75 daily customers at Dugdale centre 

• Average evening spend of £18.60                   

• Average 43 evening customers 

• Takeaway/Delivery commences year 2 

• Average takeaway spend £15 

• Average daily takeaway volume 7 

• Growth only applied to hospitality and takeaway/delivery. 

• Average daily hospitality income £53 

• Average daily hospitality volume 0.4 

• Regular event programme at Dugdale Theatre 
 

4.12 Previously, for evening dining events, the average number of customers was 
58 with an average spend of £19.40.  
  

4.13 With a modest hospitality income in year 1, the service is projected to operate 
at a net income of approx. £22k, an improvement of approx. £110k on the 
baselined budget. With the growth of the hospitality service and introduction 
of takeaway/deliveries, net income is projected to grow to £32k in year 2, with 
the model projecting a 5-year income of approx. £157k. This performance 
would be below the EnFoods previous performances and so this performance 
level is considered unlikely.  

Page 29



 Page 18 of 24  
  

 
Limited Evening Service Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 5 Year Total

Exp.

Employee Costs £223,000 £223,000 £223,000 £223,000 £223,000 £1,115,000

Marketing Cost £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £47,500

Activity Costs (Op Costs) £22,500 £22,500 £22,500 £22,500 £22,500 £112,500

Stock £118,560 £123,240 £124,020 £124,020 £124,020 £613,860

Total Exp £373,560 £378,240 £379,020 £379,020 £379,020 £1,888,860

Inc.

Library -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£728,000

Dugdale Day -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£806,000

Dugdale Night -£83,200 -£83,200 -£83,200 -£83,200 -£83,200 -£416,000

Hospitality -£5,200 -£10,400 -£10,400 -£10,400 -£10,400 -£46,800

Delivery/Take Away £0 -£10,400 -£13,000 -£13,000 -£13,000 -£49,400

Total Inc -£395,200 -£410,800 -£413,400 -£413,400 -£413,400 -£2,046,200

Total -£21,640 -£32,560 -£34,380 -£34,380 -£34,380 -£157,340  
 
Planned evening service with expected growth 
 

4.14 The following projection is based on the expected level of service growth. As 
per the above model, in year 1 a daytime service Mon-Sat at both venues, 
plus additional evening services twice a week would be provided.  
 

4.15 In year 2, the service would trial increasing its daytime service at the Dugdale 
to a Sunday, increase its evening services to a Thursday night and 
commence a delivery/take away service. Whilst these services are trialled, to 
reduce exposure, the service would rely on casual staff.  
 

4.16 Once EnFood is satisfied with the trials, they would seek to expand the 
staffing resources so that the services could be formally adopted and 
expanded further. In year 3 the team would seek to introduce Sunday 
evenings and would expect growth in Thursday evening, hospitality and 
delivery/take away services.  
 

4.17 In addition to the limited growth model, the following assumptions have been 
applied: 
 

• Average 59 evening customers 

• Average takeaway daily volume 17 

• Average daily hospitality volume 1.1 

• Event programming growth in line with the additional evening services 
 
4.18 In the expected growth model, the service projects a year 1 net income of 

approx. £49k, growing to £121k pa by year 3. Across the initial five-year 
period, a net income of approx. £521k is projected, representing an improved 
budget position of £694k. This model is based on previous and current 
service performances and the service is confident of the delivery of these 
projections.  
 

Page 30



 Page 19 of 24  
  

Expected Growth Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 5 Year Total

Exp.

Employee Costs £223,000 £235,000 £267,000 £267,000 £267,000 £1,259,000

Marketing Cost £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £47,500

Activity Costs (Op Costs) £31,500 £31,500 £31,500 £31,500 £31,500 £157,500

Stock £124,000 £133,000 £148,000 £148,000 £148,000 £701,000

Total Exp £388,000 £409,000 £456,000 £456,000 £456,000 £2,165,000

Inc.

Library -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£145,600 -£728,000

Dugdale Day -£161,200 -£184,600 -£184,600 -£184,600 -£184,600 -£899,600

Dugdale Night -£114,400 -£145,600 -£182,000 -£182,000 -£182,000 -£806,000

Hospitality -£15,600 -£15,600 -£26,000 -£26,000 -£26,000 -£109,200

Delivery/Take Away £0 -£26,000 -£39,000 -£39,000 -£39,000 -£143,000

Total Inc -£436,800 -£517,400 -£577,200 -£577,200 -£577,200 -£2,685,800

Total -£48,800 -£108,400 -£121,200 -£121,200 -£121,200 -£520,800  
 
Accelerated service growth 
 

4.19 The following model is considered the ‘best case’ scenario, which is based on 
the ‘Expected Growth Model’ operating hours, with high customer volumes 
and the delivery/takeaway service launching in year 1.  
 

4.20 The model adopts the following additional assumptions: 
 

• Average daytime daily customer volume of 75 at both sites  

• Average evening customer volume of 65 

• Evening services growth from year 1 to 3 and then maintained. 

• Hospitality and Delivery/Takeaway year on year growth 

• Average evening customer volume of 65 maintaining the average 
spend of £18.60 

 
4.21 In the expected growth model, the service projects a year 1 net income of 

approx. £80k, growing to £150k pa by year 5. Across the initial five-year 
period, a net income of approx. £647k is projected, which represents an 
improved budget position of £820k. This model expects high levels of 
performance immediately, however there are likely to be teething issues as 
the new services launch, whilst there are also expected to be labour issues in 
the hospitality sector throughout 2022. There should therefore not be an 
expectancy for the service to deliver these projections.  
 

Page 31



 Page 20 of 24  
  

Accelerated Growth Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 5 Year Total

Exp.

Employee Costs £223,000 £235,000 £267,000 £267,000 £267,000 £1,259,000

Marketing Cost £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £9,500 £47,500

Activity Costs (Op Costs) £31,500 £31,500 £31,500 £31,500 £31,500 £157,500

Stock £129,480 £158,340 £176,280 £178,260 £179,400 £821,760

Total Exp £393,480 £434,340 £484,280 £486,260 £487,400 £2,285,760

Inc. £0

Library -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£161,200 -£806,000

Dugdale Day -£161,200 -£187,200 -£187,200 -£187,200 -£187,200 -£910,000

Dugdale Night -£124,800 -£166,400 -£213,200 -£213,200 -£213,200 -£930,800

Hospitality -£15,600 -£20,800 -£26,000 -£28,600 -£31,200 -£122,200

Delivery/Take Away -£10,400 -£26,000 -£39,000 -£44,200 -£44,200 -£163,800

Total Inc -£473,200 -£561,600 -£626,600 -£634,400 -£637,000 -£2,932,800

Total -£79,720 -£127,260 -£142,320 -£148,140 -£149,600 -£647,040  
 
Summary  

 
4.22 A baseline budget, for a service without investment, shows a modest net 

income could be achieved in year 5 of the service re-launching. The total cost 
for this 5-year period would £172.5k. 
 

4.23 An updated detailed estimate of costs, dated September 2021, outlined the 
required restaurant/café related works at an approx. cost of £395k. 
Commercial Services has worked with EnFood to undertake an operational 
review and projected service performances. As a result of this review, 
projection models were prepared demonstrating that with investment, EnFood 
could immediately operate at a net income with a clear vision for service and 
income growth.  
 

5. Management Case 
 
5.1 The proposed project Organisational Breakdown Structure is attached at 

Appendix F and outlines the key reporting relationships within the project 
specifically: 

 
 Executive Director – Sarah Cary, Executive Director Place 
 Project Sponsor – Rebekah Polding, Head of Culture 
 Project Manager – TBD 
  
 CMFM and Build the Change will be a key part of the project team as will 

appropriate consultancy support. 
 
5.2 Formal governance and progress reporting will be through a specific project 

board to meet at least every two months and chaired by project sponsor. 
Project dashboards will be circulated ahead of board meetings to enable due 
consideration and presented at Board by the project manager(s). 

 
5.3 For the construction phase of the project, it is proposed to use RIBA plan of 

works because it is a tried and tested project management tool for 
construction and civil engineering projects of this nature. The method is 
flexible and can be adapted to suit the bespoke nature of this project as it 
develops. 

 

Page 32



 Page 21 of 24  
  

5.4 Using the RIBA process enables any alteration or modification of the design, 
quality or quantity of the works including additions, omissions or substitutions 
that fall within the scope of the planning permission to be managed using 
principles understood by both parties. 

 
5.5 A full project plan along with, risk register, project management plan and full 

project governance documentation will be produced following approval of the 
business case and to support the Cabinet report 
 

6. Constraints and Considerations 
 
 Site 
6.1 The venue needs to contain several services, including the theatre, secondary 

performance space and museum. The layout of the venue therefore needs to 
be considered when designing to ensure they not only can coexist together, 
but they can help support each other with uses using numerous services on 
visits or revisits.  

 
Traffic and Transport considerations 

6.2 The site is well served with multiple bus stops outside the premises, a multi 
storey car park above and Enfield Town station 0.2 miles away. 

 
Neighbouring properties 

6.3 The venue is adjacent to two A1 premises, currently used as the 
supermarkets Iceland and Lidl.   

 
Utility services 

6.4 There is currently insufficient gas supplies and ventilation to allow a gas-
powered kitchen. The current proposal is based on a sustainable electric 
kitchen 
 
Heritage and Conservation considerations 

6.5 Thomas Hardy House, in which the Dugdale Centre sits, is located within the 
Enfield Town Conservation Area. Whilst internal changes will not require 
planning permission, it is likely that changes to the building frontage could., 
causing several months delay before the works could be undertaken.  

 

7. Key Risks  
 
7.1 A full risk assessment, risk register and risk management plan will be 

developed and will be actively managed and reported as part of the delivery 
of this project. For the purposes of this strategic business case however it is 
important to acknowledge and understand several key risks that are inherent 
to the process. 

 
Financial Risks 

 
 There is a risk of increasing supply costs, with 2022 food inflation currently 

projected at between 1.8-2% on Trading Economics. Increased supply costs 
could be partly passed on to customers and risk reducing sale or absorbed by 
the business, with both options likely to impact on its net position. It is 
essential that close relationships are maintained with suppliers, to ensure 
expected price changes are communicated early, allowing sufficient time to 
adapt menus.    

Page 33



 Page 22 of 24  
  

 
  As of the time of writing this business case (November 2021), the recovery of 

the UK economy has slowed. Whilst pandemic related restrictions are 
minimal, there is still a risk of their reintroduction. In addition to this, the cost 
of living has increased and continues to rise. There is therefore a risk that 
customer spend could be impacted, as they seek to control non-essential 
spending. The business should remain aware of this as they develop its 
menus and offer, to remain attractive to customers at a time of financial 
instability.  

 
 Capital Risk 
 
 Average construction material costs across the sector were 23.5 per cent 

higher than they were in August 2020, according to the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, growing 3.5% in a month. It is 
essential that costs are closely monitored throughout the construction phase 
of the project.  
 
There is always a risk of overspend in construction projects and although the 
initial capital investment is relatively low, there could be negative variation to 
expected costs. The outline processes to manage this include: 

 
• Robust site and technical site appraisal to identify any technical 

barriers to achieving the aim of the project before major investment 
takes place.  

• Effective procurement of contractors and consultants with clear 
specifications that enable Enfield to select and manage third parties 
during any future build and mobilisation, 

• Appropriately skilled internal technical project and contract 
management staff with appropriate external technical support to 
ensure the specifications and timescales are met. 

 
 Competition  
 
 As discussed in ‘Enfield Town Market Analysis’ there are a smaller number of 

F&B providers within the local market than would be expected and 
significantly fewer than neighbouring town centres. This reduces the current 
risk of competition, but with the scale of expected development within the 
local area, it is important that the business continues to develop and market 
its services.  
 
Market Risk 
 
There are on-going staffing shortages across the hospitality industry, with 
96% of F&B businesses expecting staff shortages in 2022. Failure to fill and 
retain all positions within the service will likely reduce the operating hours of 
its outlets, which will reduce its over commercial performance.  EnFood staff 
structure will provide contracts for all of the 7.5 FTE, which will provide 
improved assurance to staff, compared to other employers within the industry.   
 
F&B have been hit with supply issues, due to the HGV driver shortage. 
Although the majority of the businesses suppliers are local, there is still a risk 
of impact, as supplier’s supply lines are still vulnerable. 

 
 

Page 34



 Page 23 of 24  
  

 Risk Management 
 

Once approved the project Risk Management Plan will be monitored and 
controlled via the regular scheduled Project Board Meetings. 

 

8. Indicative Timescale  
 

8.1 Capital Board submission Culture  

8.2 Freeholder consent Legal  

8.3 KD period   

8.4 Portfolio Decision Culture  

8.5 Procure specialist to 
design 

Culture  

8.6 Stakeholder consultation Culture  

8.7 Finalise design/technical 
specs etc 

CMFM/Culture  

8.8 Construction Spec CMFM/Culture/Procurement  

8.9 Construction Tender 
Process 

Procurement  

8.10 Operational Decision to 
Award Construction 
Contract 

Culture/CMFM/Procurement  

8.11 Issue Letter of Limited 
Liability 

Legal  

8.12 Mobilisation Project 
Manager(PM)/Contractore 

 

8.13 Construction Contractor/Culture/PM  

8.14 Snagging PM  

8.15 Sign Off Culture  

8.16 Technology for 
restaurant/bar 

Digital Services/EnFood  

8.17 Launch EnFood  
 
 

Authorisation to proceed  
 

Decision  

Decision 
made on 

 

Decision 
made by 

 

Decision 
method 

Delegated authority  

Comment 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 Page 24 of 24  
  

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 - Culture Connects – LBE Culture Strategy 
Appendix 2 – Local Market Analysis 
Appendix 3 – September 2021 Stace Order of Cost Estimate  
Appendix 4 – Baselined Budget 
Appendix 5 – Operating Projections 
Appendix 6 – Cost Breakdowns 
Appendix 7 – ONS - Coronavirus and its effects on UK Hospitality 
Appendix 8 – DoBE&I – Hospitality Strategy  
Appendix 9 – UK Hospitality – Future Shock 
 
 
 
 

Page 36



DAC 
Dudgale Arts Centre

Stage 2 - Design Update

January 2022
P

age 37



- External Design & Planning
- Responding to Design Workshop
- Softening & Defining the Edges

-Proposed Plans and Interior Layout 

Key Design Moves
P

age 38



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0110
Status

Planning 

Drawn by

CL 

RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100

Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Ground Floor Plan 

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

P00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

29/01/2022P00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

TYPE 1

T
Y

P
E

 1

TYPE 2 TYPE 2

TYPE 5

T
Y

P
E

 3

Roman
Sarcophagus

Lead Coffin

Home

People

Nature

Mammoth

People

Production

Arts

Lanscroon
Mural

Piano

People

Arts

Arts

CommunityTYPE 5

Proposed External Column

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Extent Line of Proposed 
Canopy Above 

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt 
Displays 

Existing Pavement 
Outline

Extent of Proposed
Improved Highways

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt 
Displays 

Proposed Restaurant 
Seating Area

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

New Entrance 

Street Presence

Community 
Display & Retail

Box Office

Buggy Store

Piano

Dining Areas

Tiered Seating

The Platform 
Exhibition & Performance 

Space

The Permanent Collection

Multi-Functional 
Landscaping 

Devices

Multi-Functional 
Landscaping 

Devices

Spatial Devices

Enfood

P
age 39



1. External Proposals

P
age 40



- Entrance & Canopy Design
- Street Presence

- Screening and Planting Devices
-Cycle Path

Planning Elements 
P

age 41



Existing Conditions

P
age 42



P
age 43



Signage 

P
age 44



Main Entrance

P
age 45



Multi-functional Exhibit Displays

P
age 46



Street Scene

P
age 47



Seating & Planting

P
age 48



Entrance Enfood 

P
age 49



Softening the Plan 

Spatial Devices - Curtains:
- Atmosphere & Softening 

- Enclosing & Changing Spaces
-Acoustics 

Design Elements - Key Moves
P

age 50



Curtains as Spatial Devices

P
age 51



2. Piano

P
age 52



P
age 53



2. Entrance & Box Office3. Box Office

P
age 54



D
allas–

P
ie

rc
e

–
Q

u
in

te
ro

N
u

m
b

e
r

A
_

0
110

S
tatu

s

P
la

n
n

in
g

 

D
raw

n
 b

y

C
L

 

R
e

v
P

ro
je

c
t N

o
.

1170
S

c
ale

 @

1:10
0

D
ate

2
9

/0
1/2

2

P
ro

je
c

t

E
n

fie
ld

 M
u

se
u

m
3

9
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 R

d
, L

o
n

d
o

n
E

n
fie

ld
 E

N
2

 6
D

S

T
itle

G
ro

u
n

d
 F

lo
o

r P
la

n
 

C
lie

n
t

E
n

fie
ld

 M
u

se
u

m

 

A
1

P
0

0

1. D
o

 n
o

t sc
ale

 fro
m

 th
is d

raw
in

g
. A

ll d
im

e
n

sio
n

s to
 b

e
 c

h
e

c
ke

d
 o

n
 site

 
b

y th
e

 c
o

n
trac

to
r an

d
 su

c
h

 d
im

e
n

sio
n

s to
 b

e
 h

is re
sp

o
n

sib
ility.

2
. R

e
p

o
rt all d

raw
in

g
 e

rro
rs, o

m
issio

n
s an

d
 d

isc
re

p
an

c
ie

s to
 th

e
 

arc
h

ite
c

t.

3
. T

h
is d

o
c

u
m

e
n

t m
ay b

e
 issu

e
d

 in
 an

 u
n

c
o

n
tro

lle
d

 C
A

D
 fo

rm
at to

 
e

n
ab

le
 o

th
e

rs to
 u

se
 it as b

ac
kg

ro
u

n
d

 in
fo

rm
atio

n
 to

 m
ake

 alte
ratio

n
s 

an
d

/o
r ad

d
itio

n
s. In

 th
at in

stan
c

e
 th

e
 file

 w
ill b

e
 ac

c
o

m
p

an
ie

d
 b

y a P
D

F
 

ve
rsio

n
. It is fo

r th
o

se
 m

akin
g

 su
c

h
 alte

ratio
n

s an
d

 ad
d

itio
n

s to
 e

n
su

re
 

th
at th

e
y m

ake
 u

se
 o

f c
u

rre
n

t b
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
 in

fo
rm

atio
n

. D
P

Q
 Ltd

 ac
c

e
p

ts 
n

o
 liab

ility fo
r an

y su
c

h
 alte

ratio
n

s o
r ad

d
itio

n
s to

 th
e

 b
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
 

in
fo

rm
atio

n
 o

r arisin
g

 o
u

t o
f c

h
an

g
e

s to
 b

ac
kg

ro
u

n
d

 in
fo

rm
atio

n
 w

h
ic

h
 

o
c

c
u

r p
rio

r to
 alte

ratio
n

s o
f ad

d
itio

n
s b

e
in

g
 m

ad
e

.

©
D

allas-P
ie

rc
e

-Q
u

in
te

ro
 LT

D

S
tru

c
tu

ral E
n

g
in

e
e

r

B
u

ild
in

g
 C

o
n

tro
l

Q
u

an
tity S

u
rve

yo
r

R
e

aso
n

 F
o

r Issu
e

C
h

k
K

e
y P

la
n

C
o

n
su

ltan
ts

K
e

y
R

e
v. D

ate
R

e
v.

C
o

n
trac

to
r

G
e

n
e

ral N
o

te
s

1 M
e

n
tm

o
re

 Te
rrac

e
, L

o
n

d
o

n
, E

8
 3

P
N

+
 4

4
 2

0
 8

0
8

8
 18

8
0

in
fo

@
d

-p
-q

.u
k

w
w

w
.d

-p
-q

.u
k

NN

2
9

/0
1/2

0
2

2
P

0
0

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

T
Y

P
E

 1

TYPE 1

T
Y

P
E

 2
T

Y
P

E
 2

T
Y

P
E

 5

TYPE 3

R
o

m
a

n
S

a
rc

o
p

h
a

g
u

s
L

e
a

d
 C

o
ffin

H
o

m
e

P
e

o
p

le

N
a

tu
re

M
a

m
m

o
th

P
e

o
p

le

P
ro

d
u

c
tio

n

A
rtsL

a
n

sc
ro

o
n

M
u

ra
l

P
ia

n
o

P
e

o
p

le

A
rts

A
rts

C
o

m
m

u
n

ity
T

Y
P

E
 5

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 E
xte

rn
al C

o
lu

m
n

1

A

234

B
C

D
E

F
G

H

E
xte

n
t L

in
e

 o
f P

ro
p

o
se

d
 

C
an

o
p

y A
b

o
ve

 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 E
xte

rn
al P

lan
te

rs
F

o
rm

e
d

 S
e

ats an
d

 E
xh

ib
t 

D
isp

lays 

E
xistin

g
 P

ave
m

e
n

t 
O

u
tlin

e

E
xte

n
t o

f P
ro

p
o

se
d

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 H

ig
h

w
ays

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 E
xte

rn
al P

lan
te

rs
F

o
rm

e
d

 S
e

ats an
d

 E
xh

ib
t 

D
isp

lays 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 R
e

stau
ran

t 
S

e
atin

g
 A

re
a

N
e

w
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 

Ilu
m

in
ate

d
 S

ig
n

ag
e

 
A

b
o

ve

N
e

w
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 

Ilu
m

in
ate

d
 S

ig
n

ag
e

 
A

b
o

ve

N

0
1

2
3

4
5

M

P
age 55



Archive and Museum Store

P
age 56



Entrance Threshold 

P
age 57



Museum Store

P
age 58



4. Enfood 

P
age 59



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

NumberA_0110
StatusPlanning 

Drawn byCL 

Rev

Project No.1170

Scale @1:100

Date

29/01/22

Project
Enfield Museum

39 London Rd, London

Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Ground Floor Plan 
Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

P00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 

by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 

architect.3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 

enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 

and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 

version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 

that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 

no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 

information or arising out of changes to background information which 

occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control
Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue

Chk

Key Plan

Consultants

Key

Rev. Date

Rev.

Contractor

General Notes

1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN

+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@
d-p-q.uk

www.d-p-q.uk

NN

29/01/2022

P00

1500mmTurningCircle

1500mmTurningCircle

1500mmTurningCircle

1500mmTurningCircle

1500mmTurningCircle

TYPE 1

T
Y

P
E

 1

TYPE 2

TYPE 2

TYPE 5

T
Y

P
E

 3

Roman
Sarcophagus

Lead Coffin

Home

People

NatureMammoth

People

Production

Arts

Lanscroon
Mural

Piano

People

Arts

Arts

Community

TYPE 5

Proposed External Column

1

A

2

3

4

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

Extent Line of Proposed 

Canopy Above 

Proposed External Planters

Formed Seats and Exhibt 

Displays 

Existing Pavement 

Outline

Extent of Proposed

Improved Highways

Proposed External Planters

Formed Seats and Exhibt 

Displays 

Proposed Restaurant 

Seating Area

New Proposed 

Iluminated Signage 

Above

New Proposed 

Iluminated Signage 

Above

N
0

1

2

3

4

5M

P
age 60



Dining

P
age 61



Enfood 

P
age 62



Enfood 

P
age 63



Lounge Area

P
age 64



5. The Platform & Showcase

P
age 65



• Sisters in Islam Muslim Youth 
Club - stories of first and 

second-generation Bangladeshi 
people in Enfield.

• Christ Church Southgate - 
pre-Raphaelite stained glass 

windows

• St Anne’s Catholic High 
School for Girls - heritage of 
the Enfield beast and family 

heraldry.

• Enfield Racial Equality Council 
historic and contemporary 
issue faced by Black, Asian 

and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
communities in Enfield.

• Fisher Cheng Architects and 
community organisation REACT 

will be installing a new poetry 
trail linking Fore Street with 

Meridian Water.

• Enfield Archaeological Society 
will be excavating at Elsyng 

Palace

• Pymmes Park Bowls Club - 
portray the history and heritage 

of bowls and bowls clubs 
through community murals.

• Forty Hall Vineyard -  
exhibition exploring memorable 
green spaces and sanctuaries.

• The Turkish Cypriot 
Community Association -  

migration and the impact the 

Turkish Cypriot community has 
made across Enfield.

• Palmers Green Action Team 
will be threading the poetry of 
renowned poet Stevie Smith 
on surfaces through Palmers 

Green High Street using 
calligraphy.

• MHA Communities will be 
delivering an intergenerational 
project - memories of Enfield. 

accessible via QR codes

• Pymmes BrookERS- Pymmes 
Brook through walking tours, 

a commissioned film, and 
performance poetry.

• Talkies Community Cinema -f 
Archbishop Costakis Evangelou 

-
Stories of Enfield

P
age 66



The Platform - Performing Arts Plan

AV position

P
age 67



The Platform - Temporary Exhibit Plan 

P
age 68



Flexible Displays

P
age 69



The Platform 

P
age 70



6. Museum Collection

P
age 71



Museum

Enfood Theatre

Home

Production

Arts

Nature

People

P
age 72



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0110
Status

Planning 

Drawn by

CL 

RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100

Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Ground Floor Plan 

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

P00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

29/01/2022P00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

TYPE 1

T
Y

P
E

 1

TYPE 2 TYPE 2

TYPE 5

T
Y

P
E

 3

Roman
Sarcophagus

Lead Coffin

Home

People

Nature

Mammoth

People

Production

Arts

Lanscroon
Mural

Piano

People

Arts

Arts

CommunityTYPE 5

Proposed External Column

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Extent Line of Proposed 
Canopy Above 

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt 
Displays 

Existing Pavement 
Outline

Extent of Proposed
Improved Highways

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt 
Displays 

Proposed Restaurant 
Seating Area

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

P
age 73



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0120 

Status

Planning 

Drawn by

CL 

RevProject No.

1170

Scale @

1:50

Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Museum Exhibit Layout

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

P00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on 
site by the contractor and such dimensions to be his 
responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make 
alterations and/or additions. In that instance the file will be 
accompanied by a PDF version. It is for those making such 
alterations and additions to ensure that they make use of current 
background information. DPQ Ltd accepts no liability for any such 
alterations or additions to the background information or arising 
out of changes to background information which occur prior to 
alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk
NN

29/01/2022P00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

TYPE 1

T
Y

P
E

 1

TYPE 2 TYPE 2

TYPE 5

T
Y

P
E

 3

Roman
Sarcophagus

Lead Coffin

Home

People

Nature

Mammoth

People

Production

People

TYPE 5

Museum Exhibit Layout 
1:5001

Permament Collection Plan 

P
age 74



Permanent Collection

P
age 75



Permament Collection

P
age 76



Permanent Collection

P
age 77



Permanent collection pieces

P
age 78



7. Tiered seating

P
age 79



D
allas–

P
ie

rc
e

–
Q

u
in

te
ro

N
u

m
b

e
r

A
_

0
110

S
tatu

s

P
lan

n
in

g
 

D
raw

n
 b

y

C
L

 

R
e

v
P

ro
je

c
t N

o
.

1170
S

c
ale

 @

1:10
0

D
ate

2
9

/0
1/2

2

P
ro

je
c

t

E
n

fie
ld

 M
u

se
u

m
3

9
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 R

d
, L

o
n

d
o

n
E

n
fie

ld
 E

N
2

 6
D

S

T
itle

G
ro

u
n

d
 F

lo
o

r P
lan

 

C
lie

n
t

E
n

fie
ld

 M
u

se
u

m

 

A
1

P
0

0

1. D
o

 n
o

t sc
a

le
 fro

m
 th

is d
raw

in
g

. A
ll d

im
e

n
sio

n
s to

 b
e

 c
h

e
c

ke
d

 o
n

 site
 

b
y th

e
 c

o
n

tra
c

to
r a

n
d

 su
c

h
 d

im
e

n
sio

n
s to

 b
e

 h
is re

sp
o

n
sib

ility.

2
. R

e
p

o
rt a

ll d
raw

in
g

 e
rro

rs, o
m

issio
n

s an
d

 d
isc

re
p

an
c

ie
s to

 th
e

 
a

rc
h

ite
c

t.

3
. T

h
is d

o
c

u
m

e
n

t m
ay b

e
 issu

e
d

 in
 an

 u
n

c
o

n
tro

lle
d

 C
A

D
 fo

rm
at to

 
e

n
a

b
le

 o
th

e
rs to

 u
se

 it a
s b

a
c

kg
ro

u
n

d
 in

fo
rm

atio
n

 to
 m

ake
 alte

ratio
n

s 
a

n
d

/o
r a

d
d

itio
n

s. In
 th

a
t in

sta
n

c
e

 th
e

 file
 w

ill b
e

 ac
c

o
m

p
an

ie
d

 b
y a P

D
F

 
ve

rsio
n

. It is fo
r th

o
se

 m
a

kin
g

 su
c

h
 alte

ratio
n

s an
d

 ad
d

itio
n

s to
 e

n
su

re
 

th
a

t th
e

y m
a

ke
 u

se
 o

f c
u

rre
n

t b
a

c
kg

ro
u

n
d

 in
fo

rm
atio

n
. D

P
Q

 Ltd
 ac

c
e

p
ts 

n
o

 lia
b

ility fo
r a

n
y su

c
h

 a
lte

ra
tio

n
s o

r ad
d

itio
n

s to
 th

e
 b

ac
kg

ro
u

n
d

 
in

fo
rm

a
tio

n
 o

r a
risin

g
 o

u
t o

f c
h

a
n

g
e

s to
 b

ac
kg

ro
u

n
d

 in
fo

rm
atio

n
 w

h
ic

h
 

o
c

c
u

r p
rio

r to
 a

lte
ra

tio
n

s o
f a

d
d

itio
n

s b
e

in
g

 m
ad

e
.

©
D

a
lla

s-P
ie

rc
e

-Q
u

in
te

ro
 LT

D

S
tru

c
tu

ra
l E

n
g

in
e

e
r

B
u

ild
in

g
 C

o
n

tro
l

Q
u

a
n

tity S
u

rve
yo

r

R
e

aso
n

 F
o

r Issu
e

C
h

k
K

e
y P

lan
C

o
n

su
lta

n
ts

K
e

y
R

e
v. D

ate
R

e
v.

C
o

n
tra

c
to

r

G
e

n
e

ra
l N

o
te

s
1 M

e
n

tm
o

re
 Te

rrac
e

, L
o

n
d

o
n

, E
8

 3
P

N
+

 4
4

 2
0

 8
0

8
8

 18
8

0
in

fo
@

d
-p

-q
.u

k
w

w
w

.d
-p

-q
.u

k
NN

2
9

/0
1/2

0
2

2
P

0
0

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

15
0

0
m

m
Tu

rn
in

g
C

irc
le

T
Y

P
E

 1

TYPE 1

T
Y

P
E

 2
T

Y
P

E
 2

T
Y

P
E

 5

TYPE 3

R
o

m
a

n
S

a
rc

o
p

h
a

g
u

s
L

e
a

d
 C

o
ffin

H
o

m
e

P
e

o
p

le

N
a

tu
re

M
a

m
m

o
th

P
e

o
p

le

P
ro

d
u

c
tio

n

A
rtsL

a
n

sc
ro

o
n

M
u

ra
l

P
ia

n
o

P
e

o
p

le

A
rts

A
rts

C
o

m
m

u
n

ity
T

Y
P

E
 5

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 E
xte

rn
al C

o
lu

m
n

1

A

234

B
C

D
E

F
G

H

E
xte

n
t L

in
e

 o
f P

ro
p

o
se

d
 

C
an

o
p

y A
b

o
ve

 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 E
xte

rn
al P

lan
te

rs
F

o
rm

e
d

 S
e

ats an
d

 E
xh

ib
t 

D
isp

lays 

E
xistin

g
 P

ave
m

e
n

t 
O

u
tlin

e

E
xte

n
t o

f P
ro

p
o

se
d

Im
p

ro
ve

d
 H

ig
h

w
ays

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 E
xte

rn
al P

lan
te

rs
F

o
rm

e
d

 S
e

ats an
d

 E
xh

ib
t 

D
isp

lays 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 R
e

stau
ran

t 
S

e
atin

g
 A

re
a

N
e

w
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 

Ilu
m

in
ate

d
 S

ig
n

ag
e

 
A

b
o

ve

N
e

w
 P

ro
p

o
se

d
 

Ilu
m

in
ate

d
 S

ig
n

ag
e

 
A

b
o

ve

N

0
1

2
3

4
5

M

P
age 80



Flexible Displays

P
age 81



Tiered Seating 

P
age 82



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Day 9 11
Month 2 2

Year 22 22

Number Title Scale Size

Existing Drawings
E_0110 Existing Ground Floor Plan 1:100 A1 0

E_0200 Elevations 01/03 Existing 1:100 AX
E_0201 Elevations 05/06 Existing 1:100 AX

E_0300 Sections A-A/Z-Z Existing 1:100 AX

Proposed Drawings
A_0110 Ground Floor Plan Proposed 1:100 A1 0
A_0111 Mezzanine Plan Proposed 1:100 A1 0
A_0120 Museum Exhibit Layoout Varies A3 0
A_0121 Tiered Seating Layout Varies A3 0
A_0122 Box Office Layout Varies A3 0
A_0123 WC Block Layouot Varies A3 0
A_0124 Proposed Main Entrance Layout Vaires A3 0

L_1000 Wall Types Ground Floor 1:100 A1 0
L_1001 Wall Types Mezzanine 1:100 A1 0

L_4000 Floor Finishes Ground Floor 1:100 A1 0
L_4001 Floor Finishes Mezzanine 1:100 A1 0

L_4500 Lighting Plan Ground Floor 1:100 A1 0
L_4501 Lighting Plan Mezzanine 1:100 A1 0
L_4502 Proposed RCP Curtain Tracks and Banners 1:100 A1 0
L_6000 Proposed Signage and Display Layout 1:100 A1 0

Planning Department: NameEnfield 

X X

X X

X X

S - Sketch             I - Information             P - Planning             T - Tender             C - Construction       I I

Reason for issue

Revision

Structural Engineer: 

Approved Inspector:

Quantity Surveyor: Stace

Contractor: Wilmot Dixon

Architects: TPBennett

Drawings Issued

Client: Enfield Museum 

Distribution List

DPQ File Copy

PROJECT   Museum of Enfield DATE   09/02/22

PROJECT N°   DPQ 1170 REV   01

TITLE   Drawing Register & Issue Sheet FOR

1 Mentomore Terrace
London E8 3PN

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk

Sketch, Information, Planning, Tender, Construction

Page 83



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0110
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Ground Floor Plan 
Client

Enfield Museum
 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

QS Issue Draft04/02/2022I00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

TYPE 1

TYPE 1

TYPE 2 TYPE 2

TYPE 5

TYPE 3

Roman
Sarcophagus

Lead Coffin
People

Piano
TYPE 5

Proposed New 
Automatic Slidding Door 

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Extent Line of 
Proposed Canopy 
Above 

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt 
Displays 

Existing Pavement 
Outline

Extent of Proposed
Improved Highways

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt Displays 

Proposed Restaurant 
Seating Area

New Proposed Iluminated 
Signage Above

Museum

Temporary Display 
& Performance Area

Storage 
Museum

Box Office
& 

Retail 

Tiered Seating

OfficeOffice

WC's 

Storage 

Storage 

Kitchen

Bar

Restaurant Area

Lounge Area

Proposed External Column

Proposed New 
Automatic Swing Door 

Existing Theatre

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

Proposed Canopy Above

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

A
0122

A
0121

A
0120

A
0123

Proposed Ground Floor Plan
1:10001

A
0124

P
age 84



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0111
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Mezzanine Plan 
Client

Enfield Museum
 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

Qs issue Draft04/02/2022I00

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Mezzanine Storage

Mezzanine 

Proposed Mezzanine Plan 
1:10001

P
age 85



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0120 
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:50
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Museum Exhibit Layout

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on 
site by the contractor and such dimensions to be his 
responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make 
alterations and/or additions. In that instance the file will be 
accompanied by a PDF version. It is for those making such 
alterations and additions to ensure that they make use of current 
background information. DPQ Ltd accepts no liability for any such 
alterations or additions to the background information or arising 
out of changes to background information which occur prior to 
alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk
NN

      QS Issue Draft 11/02/2022I00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

TYPE 1

TYPE 1

TYPE 2 TYPE 2

TYPE 5

TYPE 3

Roman
Sarcophagus

Lead Coffin
People

TYPE 5

Propopsed Platform Lift 

Re-used Musem Cabinets 
(New Joinery Fronts and Timber 
Framing)

Existing Museum Cabinets Re-Used 
(New Joinery Fronts and Framing 
Support)

Proposed Bespoke Joinery 
Cabinet Fronts and Timber Framing 
to Re-frame Existing Museum 
Cabinets

Proposed Timber Staircase with 
LED recessed lighting in handrail. 

Wall Type - WB.03 

Structural timber framing 
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

Wall Type - WB.03 

Structural timber framing 
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

Wall Type - WB.03 

Structural timber framing 
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

AV/Power and Data:

Allow for power/ data throughout

Museum Exhibit Layout 
1:5002

Wall Type - WB.03 

Structural timber framing 
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

Finish: Painted Throughout

Proposed Open Platform Lift 

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M 
Metroflat 36mm. Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or 
Proprietary items to achieve required 
lenght - TBD

Curtains Types A & B - Fabrics by 
Creation Baumman 

Proposed timber framing fixed to ceiling 
height (+5290mm)
S.E Specification 

Wall Type - WB.03 

Structural timber framing 
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

Proposed Staircase 

MUSEUM - SuperGraphic 
Bespoke Element - CNC cut
Design TBD.

Proposed Open Platform Lift

Proposed timber framing fixed to
ceiling height (+5290mm)

S.E Specification

Wall Type - WB.03

Structural timber framing
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

MUSEUM - SuperGraphic
Bespoke Element - CNC cut

Design TBD.

Curtains Types A & B - Fabrics
by Creation Baumman

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke
or Proprietary items to achieve

required lenght - TBD

3700

5290

900

Axonometric View - Museum
NTS03

 Museum Exhibit Elevation
1:10001

P
age 86



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0121
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:50
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Tiered Seating Layout 

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on 
site by the contractor and such dimensions to be his 
responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make 
alterations and/or additions. In that instance the file will be 
accompanied by a PDF version. It is for those making such 
alterations and additions to ensure that they make use of current 
background information. DPQ Ltd accepts no liability for any such 
alterations or additions to the background information or arising 
out of changes to background information which occur prior to 
alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk
NN

  QS Issue Draft11/01/2022I00

15
00

m
m

Tu
rn

in
g

C
irc

le

Sliding Pocket Doors

Allow for Structural Framing 
Elements to Support Museum 
Contents and Acrylic / Glass Cases 

Allow for Structural Framing 
Elements to Support Museum 
Contents and Acrylic / Glass Cases 

Wall Type - WB.04

Timber Stud Wall Framing to SE Spec. 
Finish: Painted Throughout 

Structural Timber Framing - SE Spec. 

Tiered Seating - 2 layers of Plywwod 
Sheeting and built-in drawers
Finish: Upholstered Seating & 
Painted Throughout

Storage - Under Tiered Seating 
Timber Framing System to Form 
Storage Units 
Allow for Doors 

Curved Wall Build-Up:
Timber Cracassing Stud Wall 
Systems -100mm
Plywood Surfaces 18mm - Built 
In-situ.

+464mm

+928mm

+1392mm

+1856mm

+2320mm

 Wall Pocket to accomodate curtains 

Structural Timber Framing - SE Spec. 
Tiered Seating - 2 layers of Plywwod 
Sheeting
Finish: Upholstered Seating & Painted 
Throughout

Wall Type - EW.01

Existing Wall - Made Good 
Finish: Painted Throughout

Wall Type - WB.04

Timber Stud Wall Framing to SE Spec. 
Finish: Painted Throughout 

Tiered Seating Elevation
NTS01

Structural Timber Framing - SE Spec. 
Tiered Seating - 2 layers of Plywwod 
Sheeting, and built-in drawers
Finish: Upholstered Seating & Painted 
Throughout

Proposed Timber 
Framing to From 
Entrance to Theatre 

Treatre - Signage Above

Wall Type - WB.04

Timber Stud Wall Framing to SE Spec. 
Finish: Painted Throughout 

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M 
Metroflat 36mm. Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or 
Proprietary items to achieve required 
lenght - TBD

Curtains Types A & B - Fabrics by 
Creation Baumman 

Flooring Surface TBD
Coloutr to Match Overall Design 

Wall Type - EW.01

Existing Wall - Made Good 
Finish: Painted Throughout

Wall Type - WB.04

Timber Stud Wall Framing to SE Spec. 
Finish: Painted Throughout 

Axonometric View - Tiered Seating
NTS03

4500

2320

6892

5092

Tiered Seating Layout 
1:5002

P
age 87



75
0

27
00

454 1600 586

Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0122
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:50
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Box Office Layout

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on 
site by the contractor and such dimensions to be his 
responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make 
alterations and/or additions. In that instance the file will be 
accompanied by a PDF version. It is for those making such 
alterations and additions to ensure that they make use of current 
background information. DPQ Ltd accepts no liability for any such 
alterations or additions to the background information or arising 
out of changes to background information which occur prior to 
alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk
NN

  QS Issue 11/02/2022I00

Box Office - Store Layout
1:5001

 

 

Piano

Wall Type - WB.02

Structural timber framing
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

Finish: Painted Throughout

Wall Type - WB.05

Bespoke Plywood Cases and Shelving 
Metal Framing and Mesh Front and 
Backs 
Finish: Painted Throughout 

Wall Type - EW.01

Existing Wall - Made Good
Finish: Painted Throughout

Box Office Desk 
Costum Built Timber Framing and 
Plywood
Finish: Metal Front 

Store Display 

Bespoke Timber Framing 
Window Display

Internal Entrance Portal 

Structural Timber Framing 
Plywood Clad
Finish: TBD

Desks and Shelving
Fitted Plywood Shelving and Desk

Bespoke Door

Axonometric View - Museum
NTS02

Box Office / Displays Elevation
NTS3

P
age 88



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0123
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:50
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

WC Block Layout

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on 
site by the contractor and such dimensions to be his 
responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make 
alterations and/or additions. In that instance the file will be 
accompanied by a PDF version. It is for those making such 
alterations and additions to ensure that they make use of current 
background information. DPQ Ltd accepts no liability for any such 
alterations or additions to the background information or arising 
out of changes to background information which occur prior to 
alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk
NN

  QS Issue Draft 11/02/2022I00

Museum Exhibit Layout 
1:5001

 

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

TYPE 1 TYPE 2 TYPE 2

Roman
Sarcophagus

Lead Coffin
People

Wall Type - WB.03

Structural timber framing
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

Wall Type - WB.03

Structural timber framing
Stud wall to S.E Spec.

Wall Type - EW.01

Existing Wall - Made Good
Finish: Painted Throughout

Accessible WC
Doc. M Compliance

Finishes:

Floor: Forbo Marmoleum
Finish: Painted Throughout

Axonometric View - Museum
NTS02

P
age 89



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0124
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:50
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Proposed Entrance Layout

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

P00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on 
site by the contractor and such dimensions to be his 
responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make 
alterations and/or additions. In that instance the file will be 
accompanied by a PDF version. It is for those making such 
alterations and additions to ensure that they make use of current 
background information. DPQ Ltd accepts no liability for any such 
alterations or additions to the background information or arising 
out of changes to background information which occur prior to 
alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk
NN

  QS Issue Draft 11/02/2022P00

Proposed Elevation Signage
1:5001

Proposed External Canopy - Design TBD
Technical Design - Facade Engineers 

Proposed Illuminated Signage Above Canopy7805

Proposed External Column 

70
0

Entrance Heat Curtain Above 

Internal Entrance Portal 

Structural Timber Framing 
Plywood Clad
Finish: TBD

Proposed New Automated Sliding Door

Existing Curtain Wall 

B
O
X

O
F
F
I
C
E

D U G D A L E   

A R T S   

C E N T R ED A C D A C 
26

80
13

50

26
93

2267

Proposed External Canopy - Design TBD
Technical Design - Facade Engineers 

Proposed Illuminated Signage Above Canopy

Proposed External Column 

Proposed New Automatic Sliding Doors

Existing Curtain Walling System 

Proposed Plan Layout Canopy and Signage 
NTS02

External Elevation -  Signage and Entrance
NTS03

P
age 90



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

A_0125
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:50
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Proposed Kitchen Layout

Client

Enfield Museum

 

A1

P00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on 
site by the contractor and such dimensions to be his 
responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make 
alterations and/or additions. In that instance the file will be 
accompanied by a PDF version. It is for those making such 
alterations and additions to ensure that they make use of current 
background information. DPQ Ltd accepts no liability for any such 
alterations or additions to the background information or arising 
out of changes to background information which occur prior to 
alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.uk
NN

  QS Issue Draft 11/02/2022P00

Proposed Kitchen Layouot 
1:5001

dbl sink

bin bin

prep table

bi
n

bi
n

bi
n snk

com
bi-oven

range/oven
fryer

mixer
bi

n

co
ffe

e

low 
fridge

low 
fridgesink pot wash sink

Proposed External Canopy - Design TBD
Technical Design - Facade Engineers 

Proposed Illuminated Signage Above Canopy

91
2

Proposed New Automated Swing Door

Existing Curtain Wall 

Proposed Servery & Bar Counter 

Existing Column

Existing Column

12
15

60
0

60
0

86
5

92
8

69
1

Axonometric View - Kitchen and Bar 
NTS02 P

age 91



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

E_0110
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Ground Floor Plan 
Client

Enfield Museum
Existing

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

QS Issue Draft04/02/2022I00

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Entrance Relocated

Entrance Relocated 

Thomas Hardy House 
Scope of Works

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Fabric Removal

Existing Ground Floor Plan
1:10001

P
age 92



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_1000
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Wall Type Ground Floor 
Client

Enfield Museum
 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

29/01/2022I00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

Proposed External Column

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F

Office

G

Box Office
& 

Retail 

Lounge Area

H

Extent Line of Proposed 
Canopy Above 

Existing Pavement 
Outline

Extent of Proposed
Improved Highways

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

Museum

Temporary Display 
& Performance Area

Storage 
Museum

Tiered Seating

Office

WC's 

Storage 

Storage 

Kitchen

Bar

Restaurant Area

WB.0
3

EW.0
1

WB.0
4

EW.0
1

WB.0
5

WB.0
5

WB.0
5

WB.0
2

WB.0
2

WB.0
2

WB.0
4

WB.0
4

Extent Line of Proposed 
Canopy Above 

WB.0
2

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Floor Finishes Mezzanine
1:10001

WALL TYPES

EW.01 - EXISTING WALL 
MADE GOOD
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.02 - 120MM 
TIMBER STUD WALL 
12.5MM PLASTERBOARDED - BOTH SIDES
ACOUSTIC INFILL  
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.03 - 120MM 
TIMBER STUD WALL 
PLYBOARD - BOTH SIDES
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.04 - 100MM 
TIMBER STUD WALL 
PLYBOARD - BOTH SIDES
ACOUSTIC INFILL  
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.05 - 500MM WIDE
PLYBOARD DISPLAY CASES - SHELVING 
METAL FRAMING
METAL MESH - FRONT AND BACKS
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.06 - BESPOKE
STRETCHED MESH BALUSTRADES
FINISH: TBD

P
age 93



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_1001
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Wall Type Mezzanine
Client

Enfield Museum
 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

29/01/2022I00

WALL TYPES

EW.01 - EXISTING WALL 
MADE GOOD
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.02 - 120MM 
TIMBER STUD WALL 
12.5MM PLASTERBOARDED - BOTH SIDES
ACOUSTIC INFILL  
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.03 - 120MM 
TIMBER STUD WALL 
PLYBOARD - BOTH SIDES
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.04 - 100MM 
TIMBER STUD WALL 
PLYBOARD - BOTH SIDES
ACOUSTIC INFILL  
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.05 - 500MM WIDE
PLYBOARD DISPLAY CASES - SHELVING 
METAL FRAMING
METAL MESH - FRONT AND BACKS
FINISH: PAINTED THROUGHOUT

WB.06 - BESPOKE
STRETCHED MESH BALUSTRADES
FINISH: TBD

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Storage Areas

Mezzanine

WB.0
2

WB.0
2

WB.0
6

EW.0
1

WB.0
4

WB.0
4

WB.0
4

EW.0
1

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Floor Finishes Mezzanine
1:10001

P
age 94



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_4000
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Ground Floor Plan 
Client

Enfield Museum
Proposed Floor Finishes

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

QS Issue Draft 29/01/2022I00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1848

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt 
Displays 

Existing Pavement 
Outline

Extent of Proposed
Improved Highways

Entrance Matting

Existing Metal Tiles - Refurbised

Forbo Marmoleum 

Forbo Marmoleum 

Tile / Cork Flooring

Upholstered Seats

Forbo Marmoleum

Carpete

Timber Staircase 

Forbo - Step Safety vinyl 

External Paving 

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Floor Finishes Ground Floor 
1:10001

P
age 95



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_4001
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Mezzanine Plan 
Client

Enfield Museum
Proposed Floor Finishes

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

QS Issue Draft29/01/2022I00

1848

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Forbo Marmoleum

Safety Paint on Concrete Deck

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Floor Finishes Mezzanine
1:10001

P
age 96



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_4500
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Lighting Plan Ground Floor
Client

Enfield Museum
 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

29/01/2022I00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

E1 E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1

E1E1

E1 E1

E2

EXIT

EXIT

E2

EX
IT

A
A

P P P P P P P P P P P P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

Proposed External Column

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F

Office

G

Box Office
& 

Retail 

Lounge Area

H

Extent Line of Proposed 
Canopy Above 

Proposed External Planters
Formed Seats and Exhibt 
Displays 

Existing Pavement 
Outline

Extent of Proposed
Improved Highways

External Iluminated Displays 
Down Ligths 

Proposed Restaurant 
Seating Area

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

Proposed Down Lights - 
Under Canopy 
Projection

External Iluminated Displays 
Down Ligths 

External Iluminated Displays 
Down Ligths 

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

Proposed Lights Under Tiered Seating 
Storage Rooms

Proposed Lights Under Tiered Seating 
Storage Rooms

Museum

Temporary Display 
& Performance Area

Storage 
Museum

Tiered Seating

Office

WC's 

Storage 

Storage 

Kitchen

Bar

Restaurant Area

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Floor Finishes Mezzanine
1:10001

A

TYPE K - KITCHEN LIGHT SUSPENDED LED IP RATED 

LIGHTING LEGEND

TYPE A - LINEAR LED LIGHTS 

TYPE B - LED LINEAR LIGHTS 

TYPE C - RECESSED LED STRIP

TYPE D - RECESSED SPOT IP RATED 

TYPE F - FEATURE CYLINDER PENDANT LIGHT 

TYPE G - TRACK LIGHTING / EXHIBITON LIGHTING 

TYPE H - LED CYLINDER PENDANT LIGHT 

TYPE E1 - STAND ALONE SELF TEST EMERGENCY LED DOWNLIGHT E1

TYPE E2 - SURFACE MOUNTED IP65 LED SELF-TEST EMERGENCY BULKHEAD LUMINAIRE

EXTERNAL DOWNLIGHT

E2

ILUMINATED LED EMERGENCY EXIT SIGN EXIT

PIR PRESENCE DETECTOR 

PIR ABSCENCE DETECTOR 

LIGHTING CONTROL

P

LIGHTING TYPES

TYPE B

TYPE A

TYPE C

TYPE D

TYPE F

TYPE G

TYPE H

TYPE K

P
age 97



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_4501
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Lighting Plan Mezzanine
Client

Enfield Museum
 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

29/01/2022I00

P P P

E1

EXIT

EXIT

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Storage Areas

Mezzanine

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Floor Finishes Mezzanine
1:10001

TYPE K - KITCHEN LIGHT SUSPENDED LED IP RATED 

LIGHTING LEGEND

TYPE A - LINEAR LED LIGHTS 

TYPE B - LED LINEAR LIGHTS 

TYPE C - RECESSED LED STRIP

TYPE D - RECESSED SPOT IP RATED 

TYPE F - FEATURE CYLINDER PENDANT LIGHT 

TYPE G - TRACK LIGHTING / EXHIBITON LIGHTING 

TYPE H - LED CYLINDER PENDANT LIGHT 

TYPE E1 - STAND ALONE SELF TEST EMERGENCY LED DOWNLIGHT E1

TYPE E2 - SURFACE MOUNTED IP65 LED SELF-TEST EMERGENCY BULKHEAD LUMINAIRE

EXTERNAL UPLIGHT 

EXTERNAL DOWNLIGHT

E2

ILUMINATED LED EMERGENCY EXIT SIGN EXIT

PIR PRESENCE DETECTOR 

PIR ABSCENCE DETECTOR 

LIGHTING CONTROL

A

P

LIGHTING TYPES

TYPE B

TYPE A

TYPE C

TYPE D

TYPE F

TYPE G

TYPE H

TYPE K

P
age 98



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_4502
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Proposed RCP 
Client

Enfield Museum
Signage, Curtains and AV

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

QS Issue Draft 04/02/2022I00

CURTAIN AND TRACK TYPES

Hanging Rod 

Curtain Rail 
1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F G H

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M Metroflat 36mm. Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or Proprietary items to achieve 
required lenght - TBD

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M Metroflat 36mm. 
Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or Proprietary items to 
achieve required lenght - TBDOffice

Box Office
& 

Retail 

Lounge Area

Museum

Temporary Display 
& Performance Area

Storage 
Areas

Tiered Seating

Mezzanine

Storage 

Storage 

Kitchen

Bar

Restaurant Area

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M Metroflat 36mm. Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or Proprietary items to achieve 
required lenght - TBD

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M Metroflat 36mm. Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or Proprietary items to achieve 
required lenght - TBD

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M Metroflat 36mm. Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or Proprietary items to achieve 
required lenght - TBD

AV4 - Projector AV2 - Projector AV1 - Projector AV3 - Projector 

Curtain rail - Silent Gliss 6100M Metroflat 36mm. Finished to
custom RAL colour, TBD.

Curtian Hangers Rob: Bespoke or Proprietary items to achieve 
required lenght - TBD

Acoustic Ceiling Panels 

 Indicates ceiling mounted banners throughout - TBD

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Curtain Track and Curtains
1:10001

Curtains 

GB.01 
Graphic Banners: Allow for high level  banners 
proprietary fixing and moounting mounting rods.

AV / Interactivities: Allow for AV Hardware and Projector

Note: Curtains Types A & B - TBD

Fabrics by Creation Baumman 

CP.01
Ceiling Panels: Allow for Acoustic Panels 

P
age 99



Dallas–Pierce–Quintero

Number

L_4600
Status

Information
Drawn by

CL 
RevProject No.

1170
Scale @

1:100
Date

29/01/22

Project

Enfield Museum
39 London Rd, London
Enfield EN2 6DS

Title

Signage and Display Layout 
Client

Enfield Museum
 

A1

I00

1. Do not scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site 
by the contractor and such dimensions to be his responsibility.

2. Report all drawing errors, omissions and discrepancies to the 
architect.

3. This document may be issued in an uncontrolled CAD format to 
enable others to use it as background information to make alterations 
and/or additions. In that instance the file will be accompanied by a PDF 
version. It is for those making such alterations and additions to ensure 
that they make use of current background information. DPQ Ltd accepts 
no liability for any such alterations or additions to the background 
information or arising out of changes to background information which 
occur prior to alterations of additions being made.

©Dallas-Pierce-Quintero LTD

Structural Engineer

Building Control

Quantity Surveyor

Reason For Issue Chk Key PlanConsultantsKeyRev. DateRev.

Contractor

General Notes 1 Mentmore Terrace, London, E8 3PN
+ 44 20 8088 1880

info@d-p-q.uk www.d-p-q.ukNN

29/01/2022I00

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

1500mm
Turning
Circle

DS DS DS DS DS DS DS DS DS DS DSDS DS

DS

DS

DS

DS

DS

DS

Proposed External Column

1

A

2

3

4

B C D E F

Office

G

Box Office
& 

Retail 

Lounge Area

H

Extent Line of Proposed 
Canopy Above 

Existing Pavement 
Outline

Extent of Proposed
Improved Highways

External Iluminated Displays 
Down Ligths 

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

New Proposed 
Iluminated Signage 
Above

External Iluminated Displays 
Down Ligths 

External Iluminated Displays 
Down Ligths 

Museum

Temporary Display 
& Performance Area

Storage 
Museum

Tiered Seating

Office

WC's 

Storage 

Storage 

Kitchen

Bar

Restaurant Area

N

0 1 2 3 4 5M

Proposed Floor Finishes Mezzanine
1:10001

SIGNAGE AND DIGITAL DISPLAYS

ILLUMINATED SIGNAGE 

DIGITAL DISPLAYS 

ZONE SIGNAGE 

DOOR SIGNAGE

WAYFINDING 

DS

P
age 100



Thank you

The Fisheries
1 Mentmore Terrace
London E8 3PN

Contact: Juliet Quintero
Juliet@d-p-q.uk
0208 0881880 

Dallas–Pierce–Quintero
P

age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
21st March 2022 

 
RESPONSE TO REASONS FOR CALL IN 
 
Relating to the Following Decision: 
 
Decision: Dugdale Refurbishment 
 
Decision Date: 2 March 2022 
 
Decision of: Cllr Ian Barnes, Deputy Leader of the Council  
 
Key Decision No:        KD 5433 
                
Reasons for Call In: 

 
1. The report states that the Enfield Museum will be enhanced yet the museum 

prior to COVID had 2 galleries of exhibition space on the ground floor of the 
Dugdale Centre and a permanent exhibition on the 1st floor. The design 
shows a new dedicated area for display of the permanent collection which is 
significantly less than the space allocated on the 1st floor of the Dugdale 
Centre and the space it already inhabited on the ground floor. The report fails 
to say how a smaller area enhances the museum. 
 
Response: 
 
The Museum of Enfield previously occupied space on the first floor in a 
corridor/landing area within the conference centre, and on the ground floor in 
an enclosed room behind the café. Neither of these spaces were immediately 
visible to visitors.  
 
The new design places the museum’s permanent and temporary exhibition 
spaces together in the centre of the ground floor space as a key feature of 
the visitor experience. This significantly enhances the visibility and 
accessibility of the Museum and allows the opportunity to display more than 
in the previous arrangement through a more efficient use of space. 
 
 

2. Paragraph 17 states that a procurement process has been undertaken to 
appoint Willmott Dixon as contractors to deliver building works for floors one 
and two of Thomas Hardy House. It is proposed that these works be delivered 
as an extension to this existing contract, with delegated authority to Director of 
Environment and Operational Services Doug Wilkinson to appoint. However, 
the report fails to give any information on how just extending the existing 
contract is beneficial both in terms of cost and quality. It also fails to explain 
why this work was not included when the contract for the current work was 
originally procured.  

 

Page 105



  

 
Response: 
 
The existing contract has been procured using a compliant framework that 
requires all work packages to be competitively tendered by the main 
contractor. This additional package will be competitively tendered in the same 
way will deliver both cost savings through a reduction in contract preliminaries 
and programme savings through not having to wait until the other contract has 
completed.  
 
The proposals for the Dugdale had not been developed in sufficient detail to 
include in the original tender. 

 
 

3. Deliveries for all events at the Dugdale Centre were previously to the rear of 
the Theatre. Stock and equipment for the café, theatre, exhibitions, retail, 
museum, and 2nd floor offices were all delivered to this point and loaded in 
the service lift to the left of the delivery door. The report and accompanying 
documents fail to show any adequate provision for deliveries in this design. 

 
Response: 
 
The delivery arrangements are unchanged. 

 
4. The Dugdale Centre ground floor had a specially designed toilet with a hoist 

to provide access for people with severe mobility disabilities. It was the only 
facility of its kind in Enfield Town and provided essential access not only for 
the Dugdale Centre but elsewhere in Enfield Town. The report and 
accompanying document give no explanation of the removal of this facility and 
how that fits with the Equalities Act.  

 
Response: 
 
The detailed design will replace the existing toilet and hoist within the new 
arrangements. 
 
 

5. This new capital development will cost £1.5m on top of the £6m being spent 
on the 1st and 2nd floor meaning this development of Thomas Hardy House 
will cost £7.5million. The business plan for En_food highlights the £330,000 
loss of income from the removal of the 1st floor and contributes only £121,200 
in year 3 based on the analysis undertaken. There is no explanation about 
where the £191,000 in the balance of the loss will come from. 
 
Response: 
 
The revenue from the first floor conference centre included a significant 
percentage of internal corporate recharges (ie not in fact income to the 
council). A saving was delivered via a number of posts which have been 
deleted during the restructure of the culture team in July 2021. With the 

Page 106



  

removal of these staffing costs and the improved income from EnFood there 
is no revenue shortfall.  
 

6. The report fails to set out what the financial projections and implications are 
for the whole scheme. It is not adequate to provide a plan that costs only a 
fraction of the whole operation. 
 
Response: 
 
Revenue projections for the Dugdale have been previously published within 
the Council’s budget and are unchanged by these plans. Staffing for the 
centre remains unchanged by the change in layout. Revenue projections are 
likewise unchanged for cultural operation. There is therefore no additional 
business case. 
 

7. As the report points out the En_Food business was already producing 
evening dining at the Dugdale Centre which was already achieving customers 
on a Friday and Saturday night through its Pop-Up World Tapas. This initiative 
demanded a much-enlarged staff resource to provide the experience that 
evening customers need to provide a quality experience. The report fails to 
explain how the 1.3 FTE identified to run this service are going to adequately 
deliver a service that needs chefs, bar staff, kitchen porters, waiting staff and 
front of house staff. 
 
Response: 
 
The Culture restructure delivered in July 2021 included staffing provision for 
EnFood to continue with and expand its evening service. While the previous 
staffing model had a chef role and a range of casual staff hired regularly to 
deliver the work required, the new structure provides staff positions for a 
committed core team. This structure consists of a Head Chef and EnFood 
Manager, a Deputy Chef, five FTE customer service assistants and a catering 
assistant (0.5 FTE). This is laid out in 2.8 of the Business Case provided. As 
per the projections laid out in section 4 of the Business Case, no additional 
staffing is required before year 3 of operation, with costs for these staff met 
from increased revenue.  
 
There is no further staffing expansion required to meet the needs of the 
EnFood service in the Dugdale on reopening. 
 

8. The new main entrance to the venue is situated at a busy part of the 
thoroughfare, close to the entrance to Lidl and which is already busy with 
people waiting for buses. There does not seem to be a safety analysis for this 
decision. It also fails to explain how moving the entrance to this location 
enhances the centre. 

 
Response: 
 
The pavement is sufficiently wide at this point to accommodate bus stops and 
through pedestrian movements. The report sets out how the new entrance will 

Page 107



  

improve visibility and provide a better connection to the rest of the town 
centre. 
 

9. The Dugdale Centre has had repeated problems with the heating and 
ventilation with many problems created by failing dampeners and boilers. The 
new kitchen will put a new pressure on the system and the mezzanine being 
created and curtains dividing the area will change the airflow around the 
space. There is no explanation about how this project will deal with that issue, 
especially as it will be sharing a system with a new service on the 1st and 2nd 
floor. The report and accompanying documents do not explain whether the 
ground floor will have its own separate system or be sharing a system as 
before.  

 
Response: 
 
Heating and Ventilation systems are being upgraded as part of the Build the 
Change Project and following a successful application for funding through the 
Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund. 
 
 

10. The business plan for the new En_Food restaurant points out that much of the 
storage for the catering was previously on the 1st floor. The storage for the 
museum exhibitions was also on the 1st floor. A lot of the Dugdale Theatre 
equipment was stored at Millfield Theatre as the backstage areas of the 
Dugdale Theatre were insufficient for the variety of movable equipment 
needed for a versatile facility. The new proposal puts in a second versatile 
performance event space yet fails to explain or show storage facilities.  

 
Response: 
 
The scheme creates additional storage capacity for the café and museum on 
the ground floor and storage for the additional performance space under the 
tiered seating. 
 

 

 

Page 108



London Borough of Enfield 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee Meeting: 21st March 2022 

Subject: Managing the Covid-19 pandemic: Interim Summary Report 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Alev Cazimoglu 
Executive Director: Tony Theodoulou 

Purpose of Report 

1. For Information

Relevance to the Council Plan 

2. The management of the pandemic is central to the delivery of all Council
Plan objectives.

Background 

3. On 31st December 2019, China alerted the World Health Organisation
(WHO) to dozens of cases of ‘viral pneumonia’ in the central city of Wuhan.
The first death was reported on 11th January 2020 and 2 cases were
confirmed in the UK on 31st January 2020.

4. On 26th March 2020, the first National Lockdown was declared across the
UK. The effects of the Covid-19 pandemic continue to be felt and this
report is designed to reflect on some key lessons learned for the local
authority.

5. During the Covid-19 pandemic between March 2020 and February 2022
(two-year period), there were 684 excess deaths registered (this means
342 excess deaths per year).  Therefore, 16% of the deaths registered
during Covid-19 pandemic were excess deaths during each one-year
period.

6. When meeting on 2nd June 2021 to set the OSC work programme for the
operational year, it was agreed that a summary report be brought to the
Committee with a commentary of how Covid-19 had impacted on the local
authority and how we had responded with any key lessons learned. A
report has been produced by the local authority that addresses these
issues and is attached here.

7. The expectation at that point would have been based on us not still
managing significant Covid-19 impact as we continue to do. The report
presents a key overview and summary of lessons learned as we still
manage the consequences of a pandemic that has not yet fully abated.

Page 109 Agenda Item 4



 

 

 
Main Considerations for the Panel 
  

8. To note the content of the report.  
 
 
Conclusions 
  

9. The report findings demonstrate how the Local Authority and its partners 
showed tremendous resilience and determination to support residents in 
the face of an unprecedented public health challenge. The learning 
generated by the response will help inform preparedness for future 
emergencies and provides a resource for others to draw upon.  

  
 
Report Author:        Shaun Rogan  
Date of report: 11th March 2022 
  
 
Appendices 
 
A: The Enfield Council report into the impact of COVID-19 
 
B:  Correspondence from the Local Authority to Government and other 

communications addressing aspects of the response to the pandemic 
 
C: The ‘Reuters Report’ that featured significant reflections on the situation in 

Enfield and other boroughs 
 
D: Terms of Reference for supporting internal/multi-partner boards that 

helped coordinate responses at various stages of the pandemic 
 
E: Example of ‘Enfield Stands Together’ communications literature 
 
F: Examples of ‘COVID-19 Dashboard’ produced by Public Health Team to 

support and inform decision making and information sharing 
 
G: Summary of legislative change: Care Act Easements  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 110



1 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Enfield Council Review into 
the Impact of COVID-19  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



2 
 

Contents 
 
Purpose of this Report ....................................................................................................... 3 

Covid-19 Impact on Enfield’s Population .......................................................................... 4 

The Disproportionate Impact of Covid-19 on Communities in Enfield ............................ 6 

Timeline & Advice to Providers of Services including Care Homes & Hospitals ......... 11 

Provision of Personal, Protective Equipment (PPE) ....................................................... 14 

Support from Enfield Council to the Care Homes Sector .............................................. 15 

Internal Governance ......................................................................................................... 21 

External and partner governance .................................................................................... 22 

Partnerships and System Resilience (HASC) ................................................................. 22 

Government Funding Interventions ................................................................................. 24 

Government Four-Step Programme out of Lockdown and Enfield Response.............. 26 

Testing ............................................................................................................................... 28 

Vaccination Programme ................................................................................................... 29 

Summary of Lessons Learned ......................................................................................... 33 

PPE .................................................................................................................................... 33 

Schools and educational settings ................................................................................... 35 

Testing ............................................................................................................................... 38 

Vaccinations ...................................................................................................................... 39 

Communications ............................................................................................................... 40 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



3 
 

Purpose of this Report 
 

1. This review will document and examine the impact of Covid-19 on the 
population of Enfield with a strong focus on how the health and Adult Social 
Care sector in Enfield was affected by the outbreak of Covid-19. The report 
will also make wider reference to how Enfield Council worked with the 
community and other public sector partners to galvanise a resilient 
response.  

 
2. Whilst there are many and varied risk factors involved in increasing the 

likelihood of contracting the virus, we also know that factors such as old 
age, disability, being of black and minority ethnic background and having 
underlying health conditions significantly increases the risk of death once 
the virus is contracted.  Communal living where residents and staff live and 
work in proximity were known risk factors from the onset. Placing 
vulnerable people in different settings using a variety of different services 
meant an increased risk from Covid-19. These include residential care, 
nursing homes, domiciliary care, supported accommodation and day 
centres. Each of these services had different arrangements and therefore 
were impacted differently. As part of this review areas covered will include: 

 

• A timeline of key events during the pandemic covering both national 
social care policy developments and Enfield Council’s response. 
 

• Record of the impact of Covid-19 on Enfield adult care services 
including deaths, access to PPE, testing and vaccine capacity and 
staffing levels.  

 

• Enfield Council interventions and how they aligned or differed from 
national guidance at the time. Highlight positive interventions 
undertaken by the Council and how they were driven by or differed to 
national guidance at the time as well as where government guidance, 
or absence of guidance, provided challenges for the Council and 
sector. 

 

• How we supported our schools to stay open and enable key workers 
to continue to meet the ongoing needs of our society through 
lockdown. 

 

• Reflect on how Enfield Council launched, coordinated, and delivered 
a community programme of support. The Council led a public 
sector/community partnership response, the ‘Enfield Stands 
Together’ programme and its subsequent evolution to move us from 
‘crisis management’ through to supporting the delivery of testing and 
vaccination programmes that have helped us move into a world 
where we begin to live with Covid-19. 

 

• Review how we established necessary governance to ensure 
decision making was robust, evidence based and inclusive and how 

Page 113



4 
 

we linked into wider regional/national command and control 
mechanisms. 

 

• Took action to support workforce flexibility and resilience and how 
this affected our existing ambitions for smart working and ‘Build the 
Change’ programming.  

 

• Examine the role of effective communications to enable us to keep 
ourselves and our residents informed of the latest direction from 
Government and how we also used communications effectively to 
raise concerns and seek to improve the nature and quality of support 
we received. 

 

• Provide a summary of lessons learned flowing from the scope to help 
provide valuable insight to inform future working  

 
 

Covid-19 Impact on Enfield’s Population 
 

3. National lockdown began on 26th March 2020 and continued until the 
phased relaxation of restrictions on 20th June 2020. There were 157 Covid-
19 related deaths in Enfield’s care homes by mid-June 2020. 

 
4. In the three weeks leading up to the end of April 2020, 46% of the 124 

deaths (57 deaths) recorded in care homes were attributed to Covid-19. 
April 2020 alone saw 136 deaths due to Covid-19 recorded in Enfield’s 
care homes. 

 
5. By the 30th April 2020, 46 of Enfield’s 81 care homes had outbreaks 

affecting 173 residents or just under 10% of the entire Enfield care home 
population. At the time systematic recording began across services (27th 
March 2020), there were 43 recorded cases across 14 care homes. 

 
6. Within a month of the national lockdown legally coming into force in 

England on 26th March 2020, Enfield’s population experienced an 
unprecedented increase in deaths, rising from a five-year average in April 
2019 of 174 to 653 in April 2020, an increase of 375%. No other month 
since has seen a proportional increase of this magnitude in excess deaths. 

 
7. Excess deaths between January and April 2020 in Enfield were 

proportionally higher than every other London Borough except for Brent 
and Harrow, and the highest in North Central London. 

 
8. A Local Tier system was introduced from June 2020 until 4th November 

2020 – a further 8 Covid-19 related deaths in care homes occurred in this 
period. 

 

Page 114



5 
 

9. 5th November 2020 – second national lockdown began and was lifted on 
2nd December 2020 – there are no Covid-19 related deaths in Enfield’s 
care homes in this period. 

 
10. 2nd December 2020 – tier system is reintroduced with London moved into 

Tier 4 on 21st December 2020 before re-entering national lockdown on 6th 
January 2021 – there were 4 Covid-19 related deaths recorded in Enfield’s 
care homes in this period. 

 
11. 6th January – 19th July 2021 – third national lockdown in place – From 6th 

January to 29th February 21 there are a further 19 Covid-19 related deaths 
recorded in Enfield’s care homes. 

 
12. In January 2021, Enfield experienced its second highest number of excess 

deaths in a month at 218 deaths. These were recorded in hospital and 
community settings. 

 
13. There are no further Covid-19 related deaths recorded in Enfield’s care 

homes between March and the lifting of lockdown in July 2021. Between 
July and the end of August 2021, a further 2 Covid-19 related deaths are 
recorded in care homes. 

 
14. Between April 2020 and February 2021, Enfield sees a total number of 729 

excess deaths. In the following months the excess death total goes into 
negative numbers with 67 fewer deaths compared to the five-year average 
between March 2021 and July 2021. 

 
15. The two months of April 2020 and January 2021 account for 697 of 

Enfield’s excess deaths. 
 
16. As at 13th September 2021, there had been 6,218,198 diagnosed Covid-

19 cases in England and 117,803 Covid-19 related deaths (1.9% rate). In 
London there had been 1,037,222 cases and 16,228 deaths (1.56%) and 
in Enfield, 38,959 cases with 607 deaths (1.55%).1 

 
17. So far in England, there have been two periods during the Covid-19 

pandemic when both weekly and monthly registrations of deaths from all 
causes were consistently higher than the five-year average – known as 
“excess deaths”. Using weekly data, the first period was from the week 
ending 20th March to the week ending 12th June 2020 and the second was 
from the week ending 11th September 2020 to the week ending 5th March 
2021. Using monthly data, the periods above average were from March to 
July 2020 and then from September 2020 to March 2021. This is also 
reflected in Enfield. 

 
18. ‘Excess deaths’ is the clearest way to compare the likely impact of the 

pandemic over time, because a substantial number of non-Covid-19 
excess deaths were recorded early in the pandemic, in March and April 

 
1 Source: https://coronalevel.com/United_Kingdom/England/London/  

Page 115

https://coronalevel.com/United_Kingdom/England/London/


6 
 

2020. One reason for excess deaths could be that Covid-19 was 
undiagnosed. It may also be the case that deaths from other causes 
increased due to reduced access to healthcare services because of the 
pandemic.2 

 
19. Social Care staff data on deaths is not available by Local Authority area. 

However, nationally across England and Wales it was reported between 
9th March 2020 and 28th December 2020. 

 
20. A total of 469 deaths involving Covid-19 among social care workers were 

registered between 9 March and 28 December 2020, with rates of 79.0 
deaths per 100,000 males (150 deaths) and 35.9 deaths per 100,000 
females (319 deaths). 

 
21. Care workers and home carers accounted for most of the deaths (347 out 

of 469 deaths, or 74.0%).  
 

22. Early data on infection rates in staff working across different care settings 
was not considered reliable due to lack of testing capacity. Later, the 
number of recorded cases across care settings reached its peak in January 
2021 with 74 recorded staff cases on 8th January 2021 in care homes 
alone. 

 
23. The peak number of infections amongst care home residents was 

reached on 30th April 2020 with 173 recorded cases.  
 

 

The Disproportionate Impact of Covid-19 on Communities in Enfield  
 

24. The impact of cases and deaths was experienced disproportionately 
across certain parts of the population both nationally and in Enfield. 
 

25. Local analysis carried out by Public Health in Enfield and national analysis 
carried out by Public Health England (PHE) provides evidence that BAME 
individuals are at increased risk of death from Covid-19 even after 
adjusting for geographical region. 

 
26. Local Enfield analysis observed that 674 deaths of Enfield residents were 

reported between 15th March and 5th May 2020 and 299 excess deaths 
(relative to previous years) were related to Covid-19 (suspected, 
confirmed, or probable) during this period.  

 
27. In the early stages of the pandemic there was an issue surrounding the 

ability of medical professionals to verify/record Covid-19 deaths in Enfield 
care homes due to restrictions on visiting. This concern was raised in 
correspondence from the Leader of the Council to Government on 16th 
April 2020 (see Appendix B). 

 
2 Source: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/exc
essdeathsinyourneighbourhoodduringthecoronavirusCovid-1919pandemic/2021-08-03  

Page 116

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/analysisofdeathregistrationsnotinvolvingcoronaviruscovid19englandandwales28december2019to1may2020/28december2019to10july2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/analysisofdeathregistrationsnotinvolvingcoronaviruscovid19englandandwales28december2019to1may2020/28december2019to10july2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/excessdeathsinyourneighbourhoodduringthecoronaviruscovid19pandemic/2021-08-03
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/excessdeathsinyourneighbourhoodduringthecoronaviruscovid19pandemic/2021-08-03


7 
 

 
28. Covid-19 mortality rate after adjusting for age and gender are high among 

White Irish, Other Asian, Greek, Greek Cypriot, Bangladeshi, and Turkish 
communities in Enfield (Figure 1) between 15th March and 5th May 2020. 

 
 

 
 
Figure 1: Covid-19 mortality rate per 100,000 by ethnicity in Enfield3 
 
 

29. Death certificate data obtained from Enfield Registry demonstrated that 
people whose origin is Somalia, Muslim, Caribbean, Bangladeshi, Ghana, 
and Turkey had a high proportion of Covid-19 deaths (Table 1). 

 

Ethnicity 

Number of Covid-

19 deaths 

Number of C-19 deaths as a 

% of total deaths 

Somalia 7 100% 

Muslim 12 80% 

Caribbean <5 75% 

Bangladeshi 5 71% 

Ghana 5 63% 

Turkey 17 59% 

White- born in Wales 12 52% 

 
3 Source: Enfield Registry  

Page 117



8 
 

Greek/ Cyprus 21 50% 

Nigeria <5 50% 

Irish 15 48% 

White- born in Scotland 13 45% 

India <5 43% 

Netherlands <5 43% 

White- born in England 121 41% 

Italy 6 30% 

 Jewish <5 29% 

Table 1: Number of Covid-19 deaths as a proportion of total death between 15th March 
and 5th May 2020 Enfield by ethnicity 
 

30. In Enfield, in terms of languages spoken aside from English, people who 
speak Somali, Arabic, Bengali, Akan and Turkish were at high risk of 
Covid-19 deaths (Table 2). 

 

Language spoken 

Number of Covid-19 

deaths 

Number of Covid-19 deaths 

as a % of total deaths 

Somali 7 100% 

Arabic 18 72% 

Bengali 5 71% 

Akan 5 63% 

Turkish 18 58% 

Welsh 12 52% 

Hindi 7 50% 

Spanish <5 50% 

Yoruba <5 50% 

Punjabi <5 50% 

Dutch <5 43% 

English 155 42% 

Greek 25 40% 

French <5 40% 

Russian <5 40% 

Italian 6 30% 

Polish <5 25% 

Table 2: Number of Covid-19 deaths as a proportion of total death between 15th March 
and 5th May 2020 Enfield by language spoken 
 

Page 118



9 
 

31. Furthermore, certain occupational groups including drivers (bus, taxi), 
carpenters, health and social care professionals, childminders and carers 
have a higher risk of death due to Covid-19. People from BAME 
backgrounds are more likely to work in these roles. 

 

32. A high proportion of people who died from Covid-19 in Enfield were born 
in Turkey, Greece or Cyprus Asian (South Asian, East Asian) and African-
Caribbean countries (Table 3). 

 

Country of birth 

Covid-19 

death 

Number of Covid-19 deaths as a 

% of total deaths 

Middle East <5 33% 

UK 109 41% 

Europe (Western and Eastern) 32 42% 

Turkey, Greece or Cyprus 51 52% 

Asian (South Asian, East Asian) 25 61% 

African-Caribbean 79 62% 

Table 3: Number of Covid-19 deaths as a proportion of total death between 15th March 
and 5th May 2020 Enfield by country of birth 

 

33. In England the death rate among British Black Africans and British 
Pakistanis from coronavirus in hospitals is more than 2.5 times that of the 
white population People from a Black Caribbean background were 1.7 
times that of white British. 

 

34. Possible factors could be: 
 

• Around a third of working-age Black Africans are employed in key worker 
roles, 50% more than the White British population.  

• Pakistani, Indian, and Black African men are 90%, 150% and 310% 
respectively more likely to work in healthcare than white British men. 

• Two-thirds of British Bangladeshi men over the age of 60 have a long-
term health condition that would put them at risk from infection, while 
underlying health conditions are also especially prevalent among older 
people of a Pakistani or Black Caribbean background. 

• Existing health inequalities, such as higher levels of heart disease, 
diabetes, and kidney disease among the BAME population.  

• BAME families are also more likely to live in crowded, multigenerational 
households than white populations, increasing the risk of exposure. 

• A third of the UK Bangladeshi population, 15% of the Black African 
population and 16% Pakistani population are living in overcrowded 
housing, compared to 2% among the white British population.  

 

Page 119



10 
 

35. Similarly, adverse outcomes are seen for BAME patients in intensive care 
units and amongst medical staff and Health and Care Workers. The exact 
reasons for this increased risk and vulnerability from Covid-19 in BAME 
populations are not known.  

 
36. Contributing factors could include over-representation of BAME 

populations in lower socio-economic groups, multi-family and multi-
generational households, co-morbidity exposure risks, and 
disproportionate employment in lower band key worker roles.  

 
37. After adjusting for age, the highest diagnosis rates of Covid-19 per 100,000 

population were in people of ‘Other’ ethnic groups (1,076 in women and 
1,101 in men) followed by people of Black ethnic groups (486 in females 
and 649 in males). This compared to 220 per 100,000 among White 
females and 224 among White males (Figure 2). Other ethnic group 
include Greek, Cypriots and Turkish community groups. 

 

 
Figure 2: Age standardised diagnosis rates by ethnicity and sex, as of 13th May 2020, 
England. Source: PHE Second Generation Surveillance System. 

 

38. After accounting for sex, age, deprivation and region, people of 
Bangladeshi ethnicity had twice the risk of death when compared to people 
of White British ethnicity. People of Chinese, Indian, Pakistani, Other 
Asian, Black Caribbean and Other Black ethnicity had between 10 and 
50% higher risk of death when compared to White British (Figure 3).   

 

Page 120



11 
 

 
Figure 3: Age standardised mortality rates in laboratory confirmed Covid-19 cases by 
ethnicity and sex, as of 13th May, England. Source: PHE: Covid-19 Specific Mortality 
Surveillance System. 

 

39. Within the working age population (aged 20 and 64), the increased risk of 
death is highest in those of Bangladeshi ethnicity (80% higher risk than 
White British ethnicity), Black Other ethnicity, Pakistani ethnicity (both 50% 
higher) and Black Caribbean ethnicity (30% higher). While this analysis 
adjusts for many important factors such as age and deprivation, it does not 
adjust for comorbidities and obesity, which are likely to have an impact on 
the risk of dying between ethnic groups. 

 
40. Finally, and most importantly, we urge national authorities to record 

ethnicity in death records.  It is difficult to ascertain ethnicity in death 
records as there is no provision to collect ethnicity data.  Therefore, we 
urge to establish a national system to collect ethnicity data in death 
records. 

 

Timeline & Advice to Providers of Services including Care Homes & 
Hospitals 
 

41. 10th February 2020 - The government's Scientific Advisory Group for 
Emergencies (SAGE) advised on 10 February that "It is a realistic 
probability that there is already sustained transmission in the UK, or that it 
will become established in the coming weeks." 

 
42. 25th February 2020 – PHE issues guidance to social and community care 

settings including care homes about Covid-19. No restrictions on visits to 
care homes was advised. It was further stated that: “This guidance is 
intended for the current position in the UK where there is currently no 
transmission of Covid-19 in the community. It is therefore very unlikely that 
anyone receiving care in a care home or the community will become 
infected.” 

Page 121

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/882713/17-spi-m-o-consensus-statement-10022020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/882713/17-spi-m-o-consensus-statement-10022020.pdf


12 
 

43. 13th March 2020 – PHE issues new guidance advising that visitors who are 
feeling unwell should not visit care homes. It does emphasise the positive 
impact of visits and residents seeing friends and family. Care home 
providers are advised: “To minimise the risk of transmission, care home 
providers are advised to review their visiting policy by asking no one to visit 
who has suspected Covid-19 or is generally unwell, and by emphasising 
good hand hygiene for visitors… should also consider the wellbeing of 
residents and the positive impact of seeing friends and family.” 

 
44. 19th March 2020 – NHS guidance is issued on hospital discharge 

arrangements stating that “unless required to be in hospital, patients must 
not remain in a hospital bed.” There is no mass testing in place. 

 
45. 23rd March 2020 lockdown is announced and comes into force on the 26th 

March 2020. 
 

46. 2nd April 2020 – New guidance issued by the Department for Health and 
Social Care stating that visits should only be made in exceptional 
circumstances: “Family and friends should be advised not to visit care 
homes, except next of kin in exceptional situations such as end of life.” 

 
47. 2nd April 2020 – the rules on discharging to care homes are clarified stating 

that “negative coronavirus tests are not required prior to 
transfers/admissions into the care home.” The wearing of PPE and 
isolation measures are advised to mitigate the risk. 

 
48. 6th April 2020 – The Leader of Enfield Council releases a statement on the 

news of deaths in a local care home from Covid-19 (see Appendix B).   
 

49. 15th April 2020 - the Adult Social Care Action Plan as referenced in the 19th 
March 2020 NHS guidance is published. At the point of publication, it is 
advised that all symptomatic residents will now be tested. There is still no 
mass testing at this point, including for asymptomatic people.  

 
50. It is also announced as part of this guidance that hospital testing prior to 

discharge to a care home will be introduced. However, it also states that: 
“Where a test result is still awaited, the patient will be discharged and 
pending the result, isolated in the same way as a Covid-19-positive patient 
will be.” 

 
51. In contrast, Enfield Council advises care homes that there should be no 

acceptance of referrals without a negative PCR Covid-19 test result 
confirmed – the usual rate of placements into care homes from hospital 
reduces from 29 to 9 for the months of March - April 2020.  

 
52. 28th April 2020 – the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care 

announces that testing in care homes will be extended to all care staff and 
residents regardless of whether they have symptoms or not. The 100,000 
tests per day target is introduced.  

 

Page 122



13 
 

53. A Reuters news report published on 5th May 2020 examines the scale of 
the challenge that care homes in Enfield, including in Enfield, face (see 
Appendix C).  
 

54. Advice from Enfield Council via the Director of Public Health on care home 
visits is sent as a regular reminder to care homes. The advice continues to 
reiterate the importance of appropriately supported and monitored visits 
where the health and mental wellbeing of residents is at risk but confirms 
the need to do this without placing staff and residents at risk.  

 
55. The Local Authority Adult Social Care Team is making weekly calls to care 

homes to ascertain their position and seeking to provide additional support 
where possible. 

 

56. 17th December 2020 – the guidance on discharges to “designated settings” 
is released by the Department for Health and Social Care, the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC, the health and social care regulator) and PHE. The 
guidance was co-produced with the Local Government Association (LGA) 
and Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS). This 
followed on from communications to Directors of Adult Social Service 
departments on the 13th October 2020 and the 10th November 2020 
requesting notification of settings officially designated and approved by the 
CQC for discharge from hospital of patients found to be Covid-19 positive 
pre-discharge from hospital. Designated settings could be NHS facilities 
(hospital wards) or care homes appropriately set up to manage a period of 
isolation of at least 14 days (or more if still symptomatic). A PCR test to be 
completed on each patient no later than 48 hours before discharge and 
where positive, discharge to a designated setting. Where a setting is not 
an NHS facility, this would have to be inspected by the CQC to determine 
whether appropriate and fit for purpose. 

 

57. Working as part of the North Central London sub-region, Enfield Council 
agreed that all designated settings would be NHS locations and a capacity 
of 85 beds across the five boroughs (Enfield, Barnet, Haringey Camden 
and Islington) was agreed and established in partnership with North 
Central London Clinical Commissioning Group (NCL CCG). Pressure to 
also allocate care home capacity to designated settings was refused by all 
NCL local authorities. The Leader of Enfield Council reiterates this 
message in a letter to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care on 
23rd December 2020 (see Appendix B). 

 

58. Also outlined in the letter to the Secretary of State was a specific ask that 
there should be no hospital discharges into care settings without evidence 
of a negative test.  

 

59. The designated settings guidance is not clear on patients who have 
returned a negative PCR test but have been in subsequent contact (after 
PCR tested) with a Covid-19 positive patient. Enfield Council’s position on 
this was discharge to a designated setting for a period of isolation (14 days) 
in all events.  

Page 123



14 
 

60. By January/February 2021, Enfield’s local hospitals (Royal Free Chase 
Farm and North Middlesex) are under considerable pressure due to the 
number of Covid-19 positive patients occupying hospital beds. North 
Middlesex experienced Covid-19 positive bed occupancy in excess of 310 
beds out of a total normal bed count (excluding escalation beds) of 420 
beds with over 90% of Intensive Therapy Unit (ITU) beds occupied by 
Covid-19 positive patients. At this point internal incidents are declared, and 
some blue light service diversions are enacted with ambulances diverted 
to other London hospitals. 

 
61. The designated bed capacity (85 beds across NCL) remained sufficient to 

support safe discharges across the system. 
 

62. Admissions to care homes are significantly reduced. Snapshot sitreps from 
the care home market indicated that: 

• 30th April 2020 – 46 care homes have reported outbreaks with 173 
reported cases across all providers. 136 Covid-19 deaths and 101 
vacant bed capacity across all care homes. 

• 26th February 2021 – 18 confirmed Covid-19 positive cases in care 
homes, deaths increased to 188 and 281 vacant bed capacity 
across a total bed capacity of around 1,800 beds 

• 26th August 2021 – 17 confirmed Covid-19 positive cases in care 
homes, 190 Covid-19 related deaths and 265 vacant bed capacity. 

 
 

Provision of Personal, Protective Equipment (PPE) 
 

63. 13th March 2020 – the government issues guidance on PPE in care homes 
indicating that PPE should be similar to that used in hospital settings and 
establishes the National Supply Disruption Response, a contact point for 
health and care providers to raise concerns they have linked to PPE 
supplies. 

 
64. 19th March 2020 – the government promises to deliver 300 masks to each 

care home. It is was clear whether this is a one-off delivery or regular at 
this point. Subsequently, it was the case that this was a one-off supply due 
to national supply issues. 

 
65. At this point our larger care homes are using around 300 masks for staff 

per day and supplies are extremely limited.  
 
66. 10th April 2020 – government announces a PPE Action Plan with supplies 

being managed and distributed to local authorities through Local 
Resilience Forums. 

 
67. 14th April 2020 – through its own supply chains Enfield managed to secure 

some PPE stocks, including 46,600 face masks with a further 21,600 

Page 124



15 
 

secured through the new government supply chain network on the 16th 
April. 

 
68. With one of the largest care markets in London, comprising almost 300 

providers and 5,500 staff, stock levels in Enfield at this point were not 
sufficient to meet the needs until mid-April 2020. 

 

69. All providers are highlighting shortages in all areas of PPE supply in 
March/April 2020. 

 
70. Enfield Council is competing with all sectors including the public for PPE 

supplies but manages to secure additional supplies in March and April 
2020. 

 
71. Enfield Council, through its community equipment service, provides a 

collections and deliveries service to all local providers. By the end of April 
2020 over 1 million items have been distributed to local providers, including 
families using direct payments. 

 
72. Average weekly distribution of PPE by the Enfield Council was sourced 

both independently and through the Government supply chain. This 
reached its peak in mid-May 2020 at 282,972 items (face masks, gloves, 
aprons etc). 

 
73. The government advises that free PPE through the government supply 

chain will continue to be available to providers directly and to local 
authorities until 30th September 2021. This later extended to 31st March 
2022. 

 
74. From July 2020 onwards, Health & Adult Social Care community 

equipment service continues to maintain a stock equivalent to at least 12 
weeks’ average demand. 

 
 

Support from Enfield Council to the Care Homes Sector 
 

75. The provisions within the Care Act 2014 place a legal duty on Councils to 
have a direct responsibility for Care Home Market Management and the 
extent of this is to ensure that quality standards are achieved and there is 
sufficient capacity to meet the needs of local people, both Council 
supported residents and self-funders. 

 
76. In April 2020 Health and Adult Social Care Bronze recommends a financial 

support package to the care home market to fund the significant number 
of empty beds in Enfield’s care homes. At this point the number of empty 
beds had risen from 62 out of a total of 1800 plus beds to 145.  

 
77. The proposal to providers of providing a time limited 5% top up to existing 

spot-purchased placement fees, includes the option of further discussion 

Page 125



16 
 

with commissioners, should any provider feel that the temporary financial 
aid was insufficient to meet their needs.  

 
78. It was unclear at this stage how many or if any providers would become 

financially unstainable. None of our care home providers ceased trading 
as a direct result of the pandemic (to date). However, the following were 
considered as appropriate to be factored into any future decisions: 

 
a. CQC rating for the home; 
b. Any safeguarding concerns; 
c. The extent to which Enfield Council has purchased or not beds 

from the home; 
d. The extent to which other Council’s and CCG’s have 

purchased beds from the home; 
e. Any block contract that might exist with the home, which is paid 

regardless of occupancy level; 
f. The quality of the building and extent to which the home is 

considered viable in normal circumstances; 
g. Previous occupancy running levels in the home; 
h. Any specialist provision including client specific that the homes 

provided 
i. The extent to which any financial instability has been a direct 

result of Covid-19. 
 

79. The recommendation to offer financial support to care homes was agreed 
at Cabinet in May 2020 with a financial support package of £345,000 
agreed for the months of April and May 2020.  

 
80. This direct financial support was in addition to other direct offers of support 

to our provider markets, including to families managing their own direct 
payments: 

 
j. Provision of free of charge of items of PPE to all of our 

providers prior to the establishment of the government supply 
chain and process; 

k. Maintaining information and advice and disseminating this to 
all of our providers via email, on our MyLife portal and through 
webinars for training and practical advice on all PPE and 
infection control matters relating to Covid-19; 

l. Provision of daily contact support, guidance and advice to care 
providers through existing and extended council quality 
assurance and commissioning functions; 

m. Launch of a London wide recruitment campaign 
#proudtocarelondon, which has attracted hundreds of north 
London residents to apply for roles in care; 

n. Supporting providers to access NHS mail to support better 
information flows;  

o. Supporting over 80 of our local providers to access tablets as 
a pilot to increase social contact with family and friends during 
the lockdown period; 

Page 126



17 
 

p. Provision of vital signs equipment and training where needed 
and as appropriate for all of our providers to ensure we remain 
vigilant to signs of declining health;  

q. Providing a £1000 grant payment to all of our local providers 
to support the purchase of PPE in the early stages of the 
pandemic; 

r. Extending the Council’s Employee Assistance Programme 
free of charge to all our providers in the borough, which is a 
confidential service that provides expert advice, specialist 
counselling and support to staff.  

 
81. A joint market sustainability project is established across the NCL 

boroughs in July 2020. Enfield Council already has a market sustainability 
group in place focused on care homes with significant numbers of empty 
beds and potential staffing issues due to the impact of the pandemic. The 
data and analysis to support this meeting helps to inform initiatives to 
support the most vulnerable care homes and to distribute additional 
government discretionary funding. 

 
82. Regular provider forums continue virtually to provide practical information, 

advice, and support to all providers in Enfield. 
 
83. The Adult Social Care provider concerns process continues with an 

increased focus on infection control. Controlled in-person visits continue 
on priority cases in order to test provider adherence to infection control 
measures. These visits are still in place, supported by a newly recruited 
infection control lead officer working in partnership with Public Health and 
CCG colleagues. 

 

Schools and Education  
 

• Covid-19 management in Educational settings  
 

84. At the start of the pandemic, workshops were held with head teachers to 
provide them with understanding of COVID-19 and government guidance. 

 
85. A process for local reporting regarding the numbers of pupils and school 

staff with Covid-19 or self-isolating was established to help us understand 
the impact of Covid-19 on school communities and identify outbreaks 
quickly. 

 
86. The Local Authority established a small team of individuals from public 

health and education teams who supported education settings with 
outbreak management and answering queries.  Schools Health and Safety 
officers also provided schools with support regarding Covid-19 risk 
assessments.  All of which enabled schools to maintain education and it 
should be noted that all Enfield schools remained open throughout the 
pandemic albeit for periods only to vulnerable children and those of key 
workers. 

 

Page 127



18 
 

87. These virtual meetings with headteachers will continue although there will 
be some face to face meetings. Other forum meetings for teaching staff 
and school governors have also produced high levels of attendance. 

 

88. The working from home approach for some teams has been very effective 
and has assisted in filling some skills gaps such as in Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND). 

 

89. The importance of schooling and being in school particularly for 
disadvantaged pupils has been demonstrated – achievement gaps have 
been widening over the past two years – schools play a vital role in 
reducing these gaps. 

 

• Protecting the mental wellbeing of children and staff in educational 
settings during the pandemic 

 
90. Educational psychology and public health teams have worked together to 

protect the mental wellbeing of pupils throughout the pandemic producing 
resources for schools early in the pandemic on bereavement, how to 
maintain physical and mental health whilst learning remotely, and others.  
Educational Psychology have developed the ‘Enfield Thrives Together’ 
partnership bringing together multiple agencies to focus on children’s 
mental wellbeing during the pandemic. 

 

• Reducing impact of school closures on disadvantaged children 
 

91. Digital exclusion among pupils was of key concern to schools 
nationally.  The Local Authority worked with schools to identify children at 
risk of digital exclusion and provide equipment.  

 
92. Schools development of online learning platforms has been very beneficial 

and will allow pupils in future to do much more learning in terms of 
homework, if unwell and if not in school for any other reason. 

 
93. Food poverty among children who have free school meals was also a key 

concern nationally as well as locally. Enfield Council made sure no child 
went hungry over the October half term by expanding the council’s food 
voucher scheme.  

 
94. The leadership demonstrated by the Council with schools was 

strengthened after years of the dilution of this relationship through the 
academisation agenda; with lessons learned to seek to maintain and 
further enhance this in the future.  

 

Homelessness and rough sleeping 
 

95. Homelessness Services responded effectively to help offer safe 
accommodation to homeless and rough sleepers who were another highly 
vulnerable group. Enfield Council supported approximately 500 rough 
sleepers or those at risk of rough sleeping through securing move on 

Page 128



19 
 

accommodation. This included the offer of a health needs assessment to 
accepted by many of the homeless individuals who accepted 
accommodation through the ‘everyone in’ programme. 

 
96. The Public Health team worked closely with the rough sleeping team to 

ensure Covid-19 secure accommodation, infection prevention and control 
and outbreak management were in place.   

 
97. This work has since extended to a bespoke vaccination programme for 

homeless and health outreach. 
 

 

Local Authority as community leader: Enfield Stands Together – 
Enfield Community Resilience Board & Covid-19 Resilience Board 
 

98. The Local Authority had been engaged in preparatory work with key 
community and voluntary sector partners since the first signs of a 
significant threat from Covid-19 had appeared in early 2020, before any 
government initiative was announced. This had allowed for an initial 
mobilisation of food support to people affected by ‘Lockdown Shielding’. 
By May 2020, Enfield Council had firmly established its community support 
service called ‘Enfield Stands Together’ and from Segro located on Lincoln 
Road it was engaged in delivering urgent food parcels and other support 
to residents who were unable to go outside. The hub also coordinated an 
urgent medical prescription service and ‘call back’ provision to provide 
some support to residents who were socially isolated.  

 
99. A multi-agency working group, Enfield Community Resilience Board, was 

quickly established under the auspices of the Leader of the Council and 
was able to quickly devise and deliver a series of interlinked service 
provision that could consistently meet the needs of residents. These 
included representatives from the Local Authority and organisations such 
as Enfield Voluntary Action, Citizens Advice, the Felix Project, over 50s 
Forum and the North Enfield Food Bank (see Appendix D).  

 
100. Enfield Council staff were redeployed to provide logistical support from the 

established hub, supported by a dedicated call centre. Over 80 Council 
staff (with the overall number being much larger as some rotas were in 
place) were engaged in this aspect of the response. Many more were 
redeployed on a temporary basis to ensure levels of service did not drop 
during the height of the pandemic. 

 
101. Enfield Stands Together delivered targeted support and reached 

thousands of residents as evidenced by the following: 

• C.9,700 medical prescriptions delivered to residents 

• C.37,000 food parcels delivered to residents 

• 1,243 residents contacted via the befriending service set up to 
reach clinically vulnerable residents who may be socially isolated 

• Handled over 16,000 calls from residents via the Enfield Stands 
Together helpline 

Page 129



20 
 

 
102. The Enfield Stands Together programme demonstrated the ability of the 

Local Authority to act quickly and in partnership with key statutory and 
voluntary and community sector partners to establish an effective borough-
wide network of support. This illustrates the quality of working relationships 
that exist between the Local Authority and its partners and the ability of 
networks to pivot collectively to meet need.  
 

103. This partnership approach was vital in allowing the Local Authority to lead 
the transition from ‘crisis’ management to ‘response’ management as the 
Enfield Community Resilience Board managing the Enfield Stands 
Together programme evolved into the Covid-19 Resilience Board. It 
enabled messages to be agreed and transmitted quickly into the 
community and for localised actions to be taken where ‘hotspots’ were 
identified. 

 
104. The Covid-19 Resilience Board terms of reference are as follows (see 

Appendix D):  
 

“It is a focused group, established to assist the Local Authority, with 
the help of key strategic community partners, in managing its 
community response to the current coronavirus pandemic through the 
‘Enfield Stands Together’ programme and Local Outbreak Control Plan 
(LOCP). The Board is not a formal committee and is not a decision-
making body but may have limited commissioning power. The Board 
will report back to the Cabinet and the Health & Wellbeing Board 
(HWB) and make recommendations for decisions where and when 
appropriate to do so” 

 
105. During 2020 and into 2021, EST called upon over 1,100 people over 6 

months plus approximately 100 staff over 6 months to protect our most 
vulnerable residents.  The speed of the set-up, willingness to get involved 
and sense of purpose was noted. See Appendix E for an example of 
communication sent out to volunteers.  

 
106. More Council staff were redeployed to EST during the 2nd and 3rd waves 

of the pandemic.  Although obviously very helpful some staff found using 
new IT systems a challenge, quicker training may have been useful to 
overcome this.  

 

107. The council officer that coordinated EST Project Group managed a series 
of diverse and unpredictable funding streams to support vulnerable 
residents.  This included a new telephone referral pathway and integrated 
support for food poverty (including acceleration and establishment of the 
Enfield Food Alliance), social isolation and financial hardship. New 
services were created to deliver the test, track and trace payments of £500 
for households struggling financially.  

 
 

 

Page 130



21 
 

Enhancing delivery of emergency food programme: meeting local needs 
 

108. The Local Authority provided support to the governments emergency food 
parcel delivery programme for those shielding during lockdown but 
recognised that dietary needs that could support wellbeing of some of our 
residents were not be met by the standardised government-issued 
emergency food parcels that were in distribution during the lockdown. 
 

109. To this end it initiated an investment in acquiring food that could augment 
that being prescribed and this was then stored at the Community Food Hub 
established on Lincoln Road in the borough and provided additional 
financial and logistical assistance to food banks in the borough in 
partnership with local organisations.  

 
110. Furthermore, in April/May 2020, a further investment was agreed to work 

with grass roots organisations to provide localised ‘small grants for hot 
food’ with c.£30,000 being provided for local groups to meet 
neighbourhood/cultural food needs for our diverse communities. For some 
families with particular hardship white goods were purchased, and 
essentials like baby food and nappies were available for others.  

 
 

Governance 

Internal Governance 
 

111. The Local Authority moved quickly to establish a chain of operational 
command and guidance based on its emergency planning procedures. 
Weekly Gold, Silver and Bronze meeting were put in place to allow for 
information to pass through the organisation and for business to be carried 
out effectively. The ability to hold extraordinary meetings was also 
enshrined in the approach to allow for maximum flexibility as more 
Government announcements came through. 

 
112. Emergency Planning (EP) provided the coordination function between 

Gold, Silver and Bronze teams as well as coordination and communication 
with outside partners/agencies such as the NHS and other Local 
Authorities. The EP team were able to ensure the Council’s nine 
Emergency Management Response Teams (EMRT– on-call) remained 
resilient and that the Borough Emergency Communications Centre (BECC) 
remained operational throughout. Comparison to other Local Authority 
arrangements indicated that this seemed to have been the most useful 
model.    

 

113. The Leader of the Council held a fortnightly ‘All Members’ briefing to update 
councillors on the latest Covid-19 situation and response of the council. In 
this briefing, senior officers also attended to answer questions. 

 
114. The Public Health Intelligence Team was able to supply accurate and 

timely information (see Appendix F) to support decision making and clear 

Page 131



22 
 

reporting lines were established to ensure that feedback could be received 
from leads attached to essential frontline services and the Enfield Stands 
Together hub. The three-tier system allowed officers to work quickly to 
bring new proposals to help mitigate the pandemic to legitimate decision-
making forums where support could be agreed and steps to deploy 
resources taken. In later meetings, it also allowed for a transparent process 
by which proposals for funding assistance could be tested and approved. 

 
115. The Communications team provided vital assistance in helping get key 

messages out to the workforce (and residents/partners) and were 
members of all three-tiers of command for this purpose. This enabled agile 
and highly responsive communications to be delivered across the 
organisation at a time of huge churn for the organisation.  

External and partner governance 
 

116. Gold Command played an active part in helping to shape and respond to 
the pandemic across London. Enfield was able to share best practice and 
receive vital shared intelligence on how the response was being 
coordinated across the Capital. Gold was also able to feed in vital data sets 
and provide accurate and insightful situation reports that helped guide the 
regional response and provided a strong line of communication into 
Whitehall. 

 
117. Colleagues in Public Health were also quick to mobilise and connect 

proactively with the Department for Health and Social Care. Weekly 
meetings were quickly established that provided a highly productive line of 
information and emerging policy steer and helped consistency of response. 
This could then be effectively fed into the actions of the Gold, Silver and 
Bronze Boards as well as helping to shape some of the focus of the multi-
partner Enfield Stands Together/Covid-19 Resilience Board. 

 
118. The Leader had weekly calls with the London Resilience Board as well as 

the Public Health England London Director, along with other London 
Council Leaders.  

 
119. This network of interdependent and mutually supportive forums and 

decision-making groups helped to ensure a joined-up response was 
delivered where possible.  

 

Partnerships and System Resilience (HASC) 
 

120. 17th April 2020 – Joint support planning group for Enfield providers 
established with membership from Health and Adult Social Care and NCL 
CCG Enfield directorate chaired by the Head of Strategy, Service 
Development and Resources. 

 

Page 132



23 
 

121. The purpose of the group is to share information and develop a joint 
response to challenges across the Enfield care markets 

 
122. On 20 March 2020, the first NCL Covid-19 Provider Preparedness meeting 

was held. Subsequent development of NCL’s approach led to various 
Gold/Silver level resilience groups to manage the health and social care 
response to the Pandemic. Meetings between NCL CCG, local Councils, 
community health providers and acute hospital trusts continue. These 
meetings have flexed up or down according to the level of the pandemic. 
Currently they are focused on Covid-19, recovery, and overall increased 
demand on acute services.   

 
123. Joint approach to the pandemic across NCL Councils’ Adult Social Care 

departments is managed within the already established and DASS led NCL 
Adult Social Care group with jointly funded programme support. 

 
Workforce Resilience 
 

124. The response of the Council’s workforce was commendable, and staff 
displayed resilience, flexibility, and professionalism, often balancing their 
personal circumstances such as home-schooling whilst working flexibly to 
ensure work was completed on time. 

 
125. The resilience displayed by the workforce only reinforces the vitally 

important role of having a sustainable organisational culture that invests in 
its workforce to ensure the smooth running of services and the Borough.  

 
126. Since the start of the pandemic, the Council has had on average 1,900 

staff working from home per day. This figure sat at 2,400 during the peak 
when the most severe government restrictions were in place. Many 
activities previously considered only possible face to face have 
successfully continued via video meetings including recruitment interviews 
and large-scale meetings. The importance of fast IT developments meant 
that business continuity was upheld. Improved connectivity in turn 
improved efficiency and reduced travel time without the necessity to 
compromise on outcomes. The positive environmental impact of remote 
working cannot also not be ignored.  

 

127. Steps were taken to quickly ensure staff had the right work equipment, 
tools, and PPE for them to work efficiently, effectively, and safely in 
ensuring internal and external service deliveries were not adversely 
impacted. These measures included: 

 

• Toolkits rolled out to ensure managers could manage and support 
a remote workforce including prompts and expectations about 
keeping in touch with their teams and maintaining regular contact 

• Covid-19 risk assessments completed for both services and 
individual staff to ensure they can run their services and work 
safely 

Page 133



24 
 

• Any potential impacts on mental health and wellbeing quickly 
identified and staff and manager guidance circulated, including 
regular online sessions that were well attended 

 

128. In Spring 2021, a session on ‘creating a safe environment and positive 
culture for mental health and wellbeing at work’ was delivered to the senior 
leadership and middle managers network. In addition to this the Council 
partnered with Mind, Enfield, who ran several workshops through the 
Council’s Learning and Development team. Over 500 staff and managers 
have attended mental health resilience training.  

 
129. Examples of other initiatives provided include managing stress in remote 

teams; relaxation; taking care of yourself; resilience perspective; emotional 
intelligence; resilience drivers; networking remotely and resilience self-
care. 

 
130. The Council worked with its six staff network groups Women into 

Leadership, Disability Working Group, Ethnic Minority Network, Young 
Professional Network, LGBTQ+ and Mental Health and Wellbeing network 
to ensure activities and support were inclusive.  

 
131. To support staff further, the Council introduced and implemented a 

Domestic Abuse policy and a Smart Working Policy.  
 
132. A key learning outcome was the successful transition for many staff to 

home or hybrid working. This has informed the Council’s approach to the 
new Smart Working policy and led us to develop the new working style 
classifications that will support hybrid working and help deliver the ‘Build 
the Change’ Programme, whilst also supporting and promoting healthy 
work-life balance. The work to support mental health and wellbeing has 
now been further developed and the Council is now introducing Mental 
Health First Aiders as additional support for our workforce. This will be 
important coming out of the pandemic and will help to support staff with 
any anxieties about working arrangements post-pandemic and returning to 
the office. 

 

Government Funding Interventions 
 

133. On 9th June 2020, Government announces the Infection Control Grant 
worth £600m to be allocated to Local Authorities. Paid in two tranches, the 
first is paid on the 22nd May 2020 with the second tranche paid in July 2020. 
The purpose of the grant is to support providers with additional costs linked 
to the pandemic, including infection control. 75% of the grant must be 
passported to care homes within the borough’s geographical area on a per 
bed basis. The discretionary 25% can be used to support other parts of the 
care market with issues/costs related to infection control. Enfield’s 
allocation was £2,478,334. Period covered – between May and September 
2020. 

Page 134



25 
 

134. A further Infection Control Grant (Round 2) was made available from 
October 2020, this one worth £546m and again payable in 2 tranches with 
the first in October 20 and the second in December 2020. The conditions 
and purpose although slightly revised, remained largely the same. Enfield’s 
allocation was £2,527,930. Period covered – between October and March 
2021. 

 

135. 23rd December 2020 – government announces a further Rapid Testing 
Fund grant worth £149m nationally. The grant is intended to support new 
and additional testing responsibilities for visitors to care homes. Visits 
resumed in the hiatus between the second lockdown and the third (over 
the festive period). Enfield’s allocation is £598,841. Period covered – 
between January and March 2021.  

 
136. The Infection Control Fund and Rapid Testing Grant were consolidated into 

a final tranche of funding issued in June 2021 worth £341m nationally. 
Enfield’s allocation is £957,479. Period covered – between April and 
September 2021.  

 

137. The government also introduces additional Discharge to Assess funding to 
support Local Authorities and CCGs (the national discharge fund). This is 
jointly agreed with ADASS and the Local Government Association. This is 
announced on the 19th March 2020 with the fund totalling £1.3 billion 
nationally. Funds are held centrally by each CCG and both CCG and the 
Local Authority can use it to fund up to six weeks of free care and support 
for services which help to avoid hospital or to support hospital discharge 
arrangements.  This funding is allocated until 31st March 2021. Enfield and 
the other North Central London boroughs agree an addendum or variation 
to the existing Section 75 agreement to provide governance over the 
allocation and spending of funding. The funding is intended to free up NHS 
hospital capacity by providing additional time (up to six weeks) to complete 
needs assessments either in the community or in a care home setting. 

 

138. A further £588m is made available for the discharge fund from September 
20 to March 21 and then a further £594m to fund the discharge scheme 
from April 21 to September 21. An additional £478m announced on the 6th 
September to fund the scheme up to the end of March 2022. 

 
139. Health and Adult Social Care successfully secures funding from the Control 

Outbreak Management Fund (£220,000) in order to provide funding for 
care homes and supported living schemes to obtain visiting pods which will 
enable safe and secure visiting for establishments where the physical 
layout of the building renders safe visits more difficult. Funding is awarded 
to 22 establishments in June 21 to prepare for the easing of restrictions. 

 
140. The full effects of the pandemic are still to be determined and it is noted 

that presently there is no long-term funding commitment from Government 
to assist with mitigating the full impact of the pandemic. 

Page 135



26 
 

Government Four-Step Programme out of Lockdown and Enfield 
Response 
 

141.    Step 1:  Between 8th and 29th March 2021 
 
Government Announcement (Changes on 8th March 2021) 
 

• Return of children and students to face to face education 

• Childcare and supervised activities to resume where necessary to 
enable parents to work 

• People able to leave home for recreation or exercise outdoors with 
household or support bubble or with one person outside of their 
household 

• Care home residents allowed one regular visitor 
 

Local Authority Response  
 

• Enfield care homes implement on an individual and risk-assessed 
approach – advised by Council/Public Health although this remains 
an individual business decision for each provider. 

• At this point there are seven reported positive Covid-19 cases 
Enfield’s care homes (6 staff and 1 resident) with no new reported 
Covid-19 positive deaths. 

• Enfield Council supports the reopening of its own day centres for 
vulnerable adults and older people using bubbles of five. There is 
regular mass testing of all staff and service users as well as other 
infection control measures. 

 
 

          Government Announcement (Changes on 29th March 2021) 
 

• Outdoor gatherings of either six people or two households resume 

• Outdoor sports facilities allowed to reopen to include formally 
organised outdoor sports 

• The stay at home rule ends but with restrictions still in place 

• People should continue to work from home where they can and 
minimise journeys 

• Travel abroad still restricted 
 
 

Local Authority Response 
 

• Review of day service provision continues with no reported 
outbreaks or issues. Limited numbers of people attending with 
provision made for alternatives for those unwilling or unable to 
attend. 

• At this point there are no reported Covid-19+ cases or new Covid-
19 related deaths in Enfield’s care homes 

 
 

Page 136



27 
 

142.   Step 2: Not Before 12th April 2021 
 
Government Announcement  
 

• Reopening of non-essential retail, personal care premises and 
public buildings as well as indoor leisure facilities (though only for 
household groups) 

• Outdoor attractions and settings reopen 

• Hospitality venues can serve people outdoors with no restriction on 
orders or curfews 

• Funerals can continue with up to 30 mourners with weddings, 
receptions etc rising to 15 

 
 

Local Authority Response  
 

• The Council continues to review day-care activity with bubble 
numbers increased to ten. All testing and other measures remain in 
place. No reported cases at this stage 

• At this point there are four reported Covid-19+ cases in Enfield’s 
care homes (2 staff and 2 residents) and no new Covid-19 related 
deaths 

• Care homes continue to allow or restrict visits according to 
guidance from Public Health protection service and local decision-
making routes dependent on level of assessed risk. 

 
 

143.    Step 3: Not before 17th May 2021 
 
Government Announcement  
 

• Most legal restrictions on meeting other people outdoors lifted 
though number still limited to no more than 30 

• The indoor rule of 6 continues 

• Indoor entertainment venues reopen, and larger outdoor sporting or 
performance events reopen with limits on numbers 

• Up to 30 people can now attend commemorative events such as 
weddings 

 
 
Local Authority Response  

 

• The Council continues to review day-care reopening and support 
bubbles continue at no more than 10 service users. Alternatives 
continue to be in place and funded for those unwilling or unable to 
attend. 

• At this point there are no reported Covid-19+ cases or new Covid-
19 related deaths in Enfield’s care homes. 

Page 137



28 
 

• Care homes continue to allow or restrict visits according to 
guidance from Public Health protection service and local decision-
making routes dependent on level of assessed risk. 
 

 

144.    Step 4: Not before 19th July 2021 (Postponed from 21st June) 
 
Government Announcement  

 

• Legal limits on social contact removed 
 
  Local Authority Response  
 

• Enfield Council increases number of day-care attendees but 
maintains bubbles of no more than 15 people. Alternative services 
continue, including new virtual day-care offer. 

• At this point there are 2 reported Covid-19+ cases (staff) in Enfield’s 
care homes and 1 Covid-19 related death. 

• Care homes continue to allow or restrict visits according to guidance 
from Public Health protection service and local decision-making 
routes dependent on level of assessed risk. 

 
 

Leading recovery 

Testing  
 

145. The aim of the Community Testing project was to ensure that residents had 
every opportunity to take a lateral flow test (LFT) to prevent the onward 
transmission of the virus. 

 
146. It should be noted that LFT testing (from which results are available in 30 

minutes) was under the remit of the Local Authority and is distinct from 
PCR testing (Polymerase Chain Reaction; more accurate but needing to 
be sent to a laboratory) which was under the remit of the NHS.  

 

147. On 19th December 2020, the first assisted lateral flow testing centre 
(Assisted Testing Site, ATS) was opened at Klinger Hall, in N18. This was 
followed in quick succession by a further eight Community Testing sites. In 
addition, three sites were opened at businesses in Enfield to assist in the 
testing of their staff. Finally, a site at Morson Road Depot (LBE site) was 
then opened for the testing of LBE staff.  By the 1st February 2021 we had 
13 Assisted Testing Sites open giving us a good spread across the 
borough. 

 
148. The Public Health project was supported by the Transformation Service 

from its inception at which point a project group was formed, with 
representatives from all over the council, meeting weekly to ensure the 
project ran effectively and followed national guidance. The group 
developed excellent relationships with the Department for Health and 

Page 138



29 
 

Social Care (DHSC), meeting weekly to both update the DHSC on our 
progress and learn from other boroughs.  

 
149. Over a period of more than eight months, the project carried out more than 

98,000 assisted lateral flow tests, registering 2,400 positive results, 
enabling those residents to self-isolate and thereby help stop the spread 
of the virus. 

 
150. In addition to the community testing sites, the project group also developed 

community collect; distribution of home testing kits all over the borough. 
Weekly project meetings were used to gather data on areas of high 
infection/low testing rates and exposure sites. This information was used 
to inform a borough wide distribution plan that ensured our two distribution 
teams were able to hand out kits to residents in key areas. This has been 
very well received by residents and to date the project has distributed over 
360,000 home testing kits. 

 
151. The final community testing site closed in September 2021. However, the 

project is continuing to coordinate the distribution of home testing kits 
across the borough via pop up sites and at eight libraries for residents and 
ten LBE satellite sites for employees.  

 
152. A Council run testing site was set up at Park Avenue Resource Centre in 

July 2020 to support social care service users and carers to receive their 
PCR test. Trained Learning Disability Nurses and day centre staff provide 
a service every Monday. The testing site is open to all social care residents 
and their carers who require this support. Positive feedback has been 
received, particularly from parents/carers who have relatives with complex 
needs who would have not been able to be tested otherwise. 

 

153. We have established a strong working relationship with University College 
Hospital and the Crick Institute who provide the testing equipment and test 
results.  

 

154. The Council has been able to reopen all day centres in line with Covid-19 
precautions as all service users and staff are PCR tested which is 
administered through the Park Avenue testing site. Each month the site 
processes between 1000 - 1200 tests.  

 

Vaccination Programme 
 

155. Before the national vaccination programme commenced in December 
2020, LBE was working with the NHS to ascertain where mass vaccination 
centres could be best located and what the most effective model of delivery 
might be to meet local conditions. 
 

156. Modelling indicated that the only cost-effective mass vaccination site in the 
borough would be the Dugdale Centre. This was duly handed over to the 

Page 139



30 
 

NHS from 5th Jan to 6th Sept 2021 providing capacity of up to 1500 
vaccinations per day. 

 
157. Vaccinations were also delivered through Primary Care Centres, notably 

Carlton House, Winchmore Hill, Evergreen practices and later through 
Pharmacies; Park View, Aldermans and Elgon. In addition, 54 pop ups 
were held facilitated by Medicus Health Partners primary care network as 
well as a vaccine bus commissioned during Summer 2021. 

 

158. This model proved to be very effective and in the first few months of roll-
out Enfield had the highest take-up of vaccines in North Central London. 

 

159. As of 12th February 2022, 202,077 people had had their 1st vaccine jab i.e. 
68.1% of the population aged 12+ registered with an Enfield GP.  108,042 
(63.4%) had had their 2nd jab and 136,738 (48.0%) had had their 3rd / 
booster jab. 

160. Enfield Council has had a significant and prominent role promoting the 
vaccine programme through media and social media campaigns, it has 
become increasingly evident that vaccine hesitancy is an issue within the 
borough.  This has often been in those communities most vulnerable to the 
virus; Gypsy Romany Traveller (GRT), Eastern European and Black 
African communities. In January 2022 LBE was awarded £485k has been 
won from the Department for Levelling Up, Communities and Housing to 
address this issue. 

 

161. 8th December – the national vaccine programme begins with the first jab 
given on 8th December 2020. Pfizer BiONTech and Oxford AstraZeneca 
vaccines are approved and available for deployment at this point. 

 

162. Phase 1 of the government rollout plan prioritises the most vulnerable but 
is based on age and clinical vulnerability. Table 1 below shows the 
deployment dates set according to the priority list: 

 
 
Table 1 – Government Vaccine Priority Levels and Rollout Dates 
 

Start date Appointments available for 
Priority 

group 

8th December 2020 
Residents in a care home for older adults and 
their carers; and all aged 80 and over 

1 and part of 2 

Procedures set out on 
9th and 14th January 
2021 

Frontline health and social care workers Part of 2 

18th January 2021 
All aged 70 and over, and clinically extremely 
vulnerable individuals 

3 and 4 

Page 140



31 
 

15thFebruary 2021 
All aged 65 and over; and those aged 16 to 64 
with underlying health conditions which put them 
at higher risk of serious disease and mortality 

5 and 6 

1st March 2021 All aged 60 and over 7 

6th March 2021 All aged 56 and over 
8 (age adjusted 
from 55) 

17th March 2021 All aged 50 and over 9 

13th April 2021 All aged 45 and over  

26th April 2021 All aged 44 and over  

27th April 2021 All aged 42 and over  

30th April 2021 All aged 40 and over  

13th May 2021 All aged 38 and over  

18th May 2021 All aged 36 and over  

20th May 2021 All aged 34 and over  

22nd May 2021 All aged 32 and over  

26th May 2021 All aged 30 and over  

8th June 2021 All aged 25 and over  

15th June 2021 All aged 23 and over  

16th June 2021 All aged 21 and over  

18th June 2021 All adults (ie aged 18 and over)  

 

163. Enfield’s deployment follows the government’s rollout plan except for care 
homes and younger vulnerable client groups in adult social care. Vaccines 
are deployed in Enfield to all care homes (not just those for older people) 
and available vaccine capacity is also offered to vulnerable community 
clients through the Care Home Assessment Team and local GPs. The 
vaccine rollout plan is overseen by the Vaccine Steering Group established 
in January 2020 chaired by the Director of Public Health and attended by 
Councillors, officers, and Health stakeholders. 

 

164. Front-line staff working in care settings are also offered the vaccine at the 
same time given the level of risk (both to care staff and to service users 
with whom they work). 

 
165. A bespoke vaccine drop-in centre is developed by Enfield Council for 

people with learning disabilities and for people with mental ill health. 
Evidence locally collected on deaths shows that people with complex 
learning disabilities are particularly at risk with the average mortality rate 
for this client group was 6.3 times greater than the whole population during 
the first wave. The site is located on Chase Farm Hospital and was 
operational in January 2021.  

 
166. An accessible webpage explaining the hub was designed and the link 

circulated widely through Partnership Board and providers. This site 
received over 500 hits in the first month. The site also supplied easy read 

Page 141



32 
 

downloads answering questions about the vaccine, and accessible 
consent forms. It also contained several videos encouraging people to 
have the vaccine, including one filmed at the hub featuring a member of 
the Enfield Learning Disabilities and Autism Council. 

 
167.  Access to vaccine supply was controlled nationally by the NHS.   

 
 

Communications  
 

168. Effective communications quickly became central to the coordination of 
key messages and actions initiated as we responded to the pandemic. 

 
169. The Local Authority Communication Team embedded itself in all relevant 

governance structures (internal and external) and worked tirelessly to 
ensure all Government and locally agreed key messages were shared with 
audiences at speed and with accuracy. 

 
170. Bespoke communications packages were developed over the course of 

the pandemic as it was acknowledged that mass mail-outs and 
boroughwide communications would need to be supplemented. The team 
worked with local elected members, faith and community groups to release 
a series of media messages (visual and written) to help penetrate into 
communities where English was not necessarily a first language. 

 
171. Messages were able to dispense sound advice on how to engage with a 

dynamic and diverse community where a significant proportion of its 
population did not have English as a first language and was able to 
mobilise to ensure all appropriate avenues of media were available options 
to decision makers. 

 
172. The Local Authority and its partners were also able to draw upon the 

resources of an in-house Design and Print Team. This meant that valuable 
time could be saved in terms of translating key messages into literature 
and promotional flyers that could be distributed quickly. Officers in the 
Design and Print Team worked flexibly and with resilience to ensure that 
requests were handled quickly and effectively and helped to ensure 
branding was consistent and clear. 

 
173. Some example of literature sent (see Appendix B) include: the Leader 

writing to residents about securing access to testing for frontline key 
workers (22nd April 2020); guidance and Covid-19 advice (11th September 
2020) and urging residents to take up mass testing (11th January 2021).  

 
174. Covid-19 related communications remain of critical importance as we 

move into the present stages of the pandemic and the Local Authority 
retains dedicated additional ‘Covid-19 communications’ capacity at the 
time of writing (March 2022). 

 

Page 142



33 
 

175. In terms of national media, the Leader of the Council and others made 
themselves available for broadcast opportunities with media channels 
(BBC News 24 and others). This allowed Enfield to have a degree of 
prominence on a wider stage that could give local people assurance that 
the Local Authority and partners were lobbying on their behalf and also 
helped to break through the communications barriers many were 
experiencing through lockdown.  

Summary of Lessons Learned 
 

176. The Covid-19 pandemic has been the greatest health crisis to confront the 
Council in its history.  Many staff were asked to work in different roles often 
working long hours over considerable periods of time.  The emergence of 
new Variants of Concern (VOCs) always threatens to reignite the pandemic 
and there is some understanding that the effects of this pandemic may 
continue to last for a number of years, and this may be considered an 
interim report. However, within that, several recommendations might be 
made to potentially mitigate the effects of any future health crisis.  
  

PPE 
 

177. The ability of the Local Authority to use existing and seek new networks to 
support workforce resilience and seize the initiative in terms of acquiring 
PPE to help keep staff and residents safe was a key success early in the 
pandemic when supplies were in short and sometimes trapped in chaotic 
supply chains.  

 
178. The Local Authority quickly mobilised its community equipment service to 

oversee a robust ordering, collection/delivery process for all PPE with stock 
levels regularly monitored and distribution tracked. Having a central point 
of access through an already established logistical infrastructure made it 
possible to begin to meet the PPE needs of services, providers, and 
partners from an early stage in the pandemic. The LA will continue to 
maintain stock levels to provide for any similar situation in future. 

 

 
Support to Care Homes and Day Care Services 
 

179. Keeping People safe – the Local Authority quickly grasped the risk of the 
virus to staff and residents in care homes. Government was lobbied to 
provide regular mass testing as a preventative measure and no Covid-19 
positive admissions to care homes were made from the outset, contrary to 
government advice at the time with regards to the level of risk. Community 
support was bolstered, particularly to informal carers/family members, to 
enable more people to remain living in their own homes as opposed to 
entering a care home. Importantly, this position was agreed across all Adult 
Social Care departments in NCL, providing a consistent position both to 
the public, providers, and the NHS. 

Page 143



34 
 

180. Infection control measures were bolstered by additional recruitment of key 
staff working in partnership with health and public health colleagues which 
supported providers with practical help, advice and guidance to understand 
the plethora of government guidance being issued. Feedback from our 
providers has indicated that this worked particularly well, was responsive 
to need and supportive in nature. Provider concerns processes already 
well established proved invaluable in co-ordinating responses and 
maintaining good, regular communication with the CQC. In addition, new 
and innovative ways of supporting families to maintain contact throughout 
the pandemic were quickly established to reduce the impact of lockdowns 
on the most vulnerable. This included the free distribution of significant 
amounts of IT equipment, for example tablets, enabling families to visit 
their loved ones virtually.  

  

181. Care Act Easements (see Appendix G) – Processes and equipment to 
enable mobile and flexible working was already established in the Local 
Authority, which enabled more front-line staff to work safely and effectively 
from home, making assessment, support planning and review visits where 
these were required (established through a robust risk assessment and 
triage process). Staff absence levels because of the pandemic were 
minimised and no care act easements were enacted. 

 

182. Market sustainability – the provider quality assurance function was quickly 
mobilised to maintain regular contact with all our providers, collecting key 
data and disseminating information, guidance and advice in partnership 
with Public Health colleagues. The Local Authority also made additional 
relief funding available to providers who had lost a significant number of 
their service users because of the pandemic. Similar processes already 
established then enabled additional government funding, strongly lobbied 
for in partnership with all other local authorities, to be distributed quickly, 
efficiently, and fairly. Enfield has not lost any of its providers as a direct 
result of the pandemic. 

 

183. Community Services – daycare services presented a heightened level of 
risk during the pandemic and this risk was largely missing from government 
guidance. The Local Authority quickly established a day-care oversight 
group to ensure that all necessary measures were in place to enable safe 
attendance at day centres to continue, particularly for those most at risk of 
social isolation, family breakdown and mental ill health. Although services 
were suspended for a period due to government legislation, safe and rapid 
reopening was effected much more quickly in Enfield than other areas. As 
a result, many more people were able to safely attend activities which 
supported their mental health and wellbeing. Enfield’s care markets are 
particularly well developed and supported. As a result, other community 
services were able to continue during the entirety of the pandemic with 
minimal disruption. The flexibility inherent in Enfield’s successful direct 
payments approach with service users and providers had a large part to 
play.  

Page 144



35 
 

Schools and educational settings 
 

184. The provision of support to schools was vital during the pandemic as they 
remained open throughout to allow key workers to continue to keep the 
country running. The early establishment of a process for local reporting 
regarding the numbers of pupils and school staff with Covid-19 or self-
isolating was established was effective and provided vital real time 
intelligence. 

 

185. The joint working between small teams of individuals from public health 
and education teams supporting education settings with outbreak 
management and answering queries was successful as was the provision 
of support to schools on COVID-19 risk assessments.  This contributed 
fundamentally to all Enfield schools remaining open throughout the 
pandemic albeit for periods only to vulnerable children and those of key 
workers. 

 
186. The shift to virtual meetings with headteachers was effective and will 

continue with the reintroduction of some face to face meetings. The move 
to virtual meetings allowed for higher levels of attendance and this learning 
will inform how the split of virtual and face to face meetings will continue in 
future.  

 
187. The experience of the pandemic validated many positive outcomes in 

terms of those being required to be working from home approach and will 
continue and has assisted in filling some skills gaps such as in SEND. 

 
188. The leadership demonstrated by the Council with schools was 

strengthened after years of the dilution of this relationship through the 
academisation agenda; with lessons learned to seek to maintain and 
further enhance this in the future.  

 
 
Supporting the homeless 
 

189. The Homelessness Service and partners responded well to the direction 
to house those highly vulnerable to the pandemic as a result of not being 
in safe accommodation. The robustness of the response to an 
unprecedented requirement to house homeless people at scale and with 
speed can be adjudged a success. 

 
 

Enfield Stands Together and Community Response 
 

190. The ability of the Local Authority to move at pace and decisively with key 
local partners was critical to getting the response initiated on the best 
footing. Strong network relationships with key local VCS partners such as 
Enfield Voluntary Action, Citizens Advice Enfield, Age UK Enfield, The 
Felix Project, Enfield Food Bank, Healthwatch Enfield, Enfield Over 50s 

Page 145



36 
 

Forum and all of the groups linked to our adult social care operation meant 
that a response with depth and flexibility to meet rising need was enabled. 
 

191. The soundness of decision making by the Community Resilience Board 
and latterly the Covid-19 Resilience Board is evidenced in the scale of the 
deployment of support to vulnerable people during the early stages of the 
pandemic and through lockdown to ensure that those most vulnerable were 
given the best support at scale over a prolonged period. 

 

192. The Local Authority and partners must also be credited with recognising 
that the well-intentioned ‘emergency food’ parcels could not fully reflect the 
dietary needs of a diverse community. The decision to work collectively 
and assign specific resources to create dietary options and food availability 
that could reflect Enfield’s demography and cultural diversity was a 
welcome relief to many who resident who were seeking to stay resilient 
during the height of the pandemic. 

 
193. From the critical aspect of adult social care, Enfield’s well-developed VCS 

market was invaluable in supporting the partnership to maintain contact 
with its community during the pandemic. A well-established set of Adult 
Social Care VCS service provision was able to be quickly mobilised to 
support the wider Council initiative, Enfield Stands Together, in order to 
provide key support to people in the community, particularly those who 
were socially isolated, enabling people to access critical basics such as 
medication, food and regular social contact for those living on their own. 

 
 
Workforce Resilience 
 

194. Processes and equipment to enable mobile and flexible working enabled 
more front-line staff to work safely and effectively from home.  
  

195. IT was able to adapt to working remotely very quickly. This, together with 
Covid-19 safe measures enabled the service and supplier support to be 
provided throughout the pandemic.   

 
196. As a result, staff absence levels because of the pandemic were minimised 

and no care act easements were enacted. 

 

197. Adopting safe ways of working and moving away from presentation / face 
to face service delivery to phone/teams and on-line delivery allowed critical 
services to continue.   

 
198. However, there were some issues to managing staff remotely, especially 

in keeping in touch with staff and checking on their mental health / 
loneliness. 

 

Page 146



37 
 

199. Overwhelmingly LBE staff demonstrated a willingness and ability to a 
rapidly developing and changing environment.  This did not preclude a high 
dependency on some key managers.  

 

200. This included working from home, collaborating with other Council 
Services and Local Authorities across London.   

 
201. There were inevitably issues that have either been addressed or will need 

consideration in preparation in case of the next pandemic. 

 
 
Governance 
 
 

202. The governance structures and approach that were already in place in 
terms of Emergency Planning, business continuity and related decision 
making provided a sound basis for the mobilisation and establishment of a 
clear chain of command and control. The pre-existence of plans for this 
purpose allowed for these mobilisations to assemble at pace and with 
transparency and accountability quickly established. This was vital in a 
fast-moving environment where and mechanisms for regional linkages into 
wider pandemic crisis management and response were found to be 
effective. These chains of command provided clear lines of accountability 
and responsibility that meant decisions could be effectively taken and 
information shared.  
 

203. Oversight – Bronze meetings were quickly established with links to Council 
Silver and Gold meetings as well as escalation meetings across the health 
and social care partnerships. This regular oversight, ability to discuss and 
make decisions rapidly supported by regular access to robust data enabled 
the Local Authority to quickly appraise itself of rapidly changing situations 
on the ground, mobilise resources quickly and deploy them appropriately. 

 
204. Partnerships – already robust partnerships were strengthened throughout 

the pandemic. Sharing of data to better understand a rapidly evolving 
situation throughout the pandemic, enabled rapid and shared decision 
making, particularly across the North Central London Sub-Region. Working 
together, planning for and responding to a fast-changing health and social 
care landscape resulted in clear, consistent messages to the public and to 
our providers with mutual aid made available within the system to support 
hospital flows, safe discharges into the community and care homes and 
the rapid development of designated bed capacity to provide for Covid-19 
positive discharge cases. 

 
205. The Local Authority connected quickly and effectively into regional/national 

command and control and was able to share best practice from our 
response as well receive and disseminate best practice from others. In 
addition our senior management, including the Chief Executive, were able 
to play a leading role in helping to shape the London response within local 
authorities and in working with statutory health partners such as the NCL 

Page 147



38 
 

CCG/NHS as illustrated in positive joint working on the establishment of 
testing and vaccination centres. 

 

Testing 
 

206. Access to testing for all services was sporadic at the outset, particularly 
care homes and community services. The Local Authority quickly 
established a series of testing hubs, including one specifically for the most 
vulnerable in our community at Park Avenue. This bespoke provision 
enabled simple and regular access for key front-line staff, vulnerable 
clients and their families to access testing in the community. 

 

207. As community testing was a Local Authority responsibility, in November 
2021 a meeting was held to consolidate ‘lessons learnt’ from this part of 
the borough response.  A separate report has been produced on the main 
recommendations included: 

 

• Staffing: 
o Need to be wary of taking staff from their normal work and 

to employ external support 
 

• Governance: 
o Clear reporting lines and communication between Gold, 

Silver and Bronze 
o Clear inclusive agendas and avoid jargon 
o Learn from other boroughs 

   

• Resources: 
o Keep very clear records of communication to and from 

central Government 
o Be very clear on scope of funding pots 
o Prioritise Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 

 

• Buildings: 
o Take photos of buildings pre-Covid-19 use to ensure no 

misunderstandings when returning to normal use 
o Ensure prioritisation of repairs to buildings during Covid-

19 usage 
 

• Communications: 
o Utilise comms resources of partners 
o Be ready to expand the comms team 
o Simplify the message  

 

• IT and Systems: 
o Ensure kit is logged in and out 
o Be ready to provide more equipment if necessary 

 

Page 148



39 
 

208. Specifically with regards to Health and Adult Social Care, the absence of 
mass testing at an early stage in the pandemic, a focus on the NHS with 
rapid and untested discharges as well as the time taken to increase testing 
capacity was a significant factor in the impact on care home staff and 
residents. The Council’s position was an advisory one but supported by the 
DPH where no admissions to care homes were to be accepted without first 
having a negative PCR test was one which put the health and wellbeing of 
staff and care home residents first.  

 

Vaccinations 
 

209. Vaccine roll-out – partnerships in Enfield worked particularly well, were well 
served with the right data to identify those most at risk and critically, worked 
at a very early stage to secure vaccinations for those people most at risk 
and was not limited by age (as government guidance was). A bespoke 
vaccine hub was established with help from health partners (Barnet Enfield 
and Haringey Mental Health Trust) at Royal Free Chase Farm hospital 
enabling people with mental ill health and complex learning disabilities 
where standard vaccine facilities proved difficult to access appropriately, 
to access the vaccine in a more discreet, quiet and managed environment. 
The partnership with health worked extremely well, in particular the ability 
to operate with a degree of flexibility through regular access to timely data 
which enabled more people to access the vaccine more quickly and the 
level of vaccine left unused (the Pfizer vaccine in particular). 

 

210. The mobilisation of the vaccine programme during December 2020 in 
Enfield as nationally, was managed by the NHS. Already well-established 
partnerships with the Local Authority worked extremely well, particularly in 
targeting those residents most at risk. The government produced a timeline 
and hierarchy of different elements of the population in order of priority. 

 

211. Whilst Enfield did follow the government plan, better and more flexible use 
of available vaccine stock and resources enabled the partnership to target 
more rapidly those people it considered to be at equal risk compared to 
older care home residents. This included vulnerable people with learning 
disabilities, mental ill health and extreme frailty living in the community. In 
addition, a bespoke location was established on the Chase Farm Hospital 
site to provide access to vaccines for people with mental ill health and 
learning disabilities where standard vaccine locations would prove difficult 
to access. Discretely located and quiet, the site proved to be more 
accessible to those service users for whom busy and noisy vaccine centres 
(GP surgeries and pharmacies for the most part) would prove to be too 
much of a barrier to accessing the vaccine. 

 

212. Only 1 site in Enfield was identified that met the NHS criteria for a mass 
vaccination site.  However, roll-out was extremely quick and at one point 
was had the highest coverage in North Central London.  This was achieved 
through the mobilisation of Primary Care Networks. 

 

Page 149



40 
 

213. Vaccine hesitancy in certain parts and sections of the community proved 
to be a major obstacle to uptake.  Often this has been apparent in those 
populations most affected by the pandemic. 

 

214. A variety of different events were hosted including by respected community 
leaders as well as voluntary and community sector groups in order to reach 
out to those more hesitant elements of the community with varying degrees 
of success. 

 

215. In addition, LBE ran a vaccine bus targeting those communities.  This 
absorbed considerable staff resource but did not prove to be an effective 
means of encouraging more to be vaccinated and the uptake was limited. 

 

216. Extensive communication campaigns over multiple channels were run in 
relation to vaccine uptake.  It was unclear at what point these began to 
become less effective. 

 

217. Overall, the uptake of the vaccine in Enfield, as in London more widely, 
was and continues to be below the national uptake figure. Part of this may 
be explained by the presence of a larger population under the age of 18 
and proportionally larger elements of various ethnic groups less inclined to 
accept the vaccine or to engage with services generally. 

 

218. A particular area of success was the deployment of vaccines within care 
home settings both for residents and for staff. Regular communication and 
strong relationships between the provider market and Enfield Council were 
particularly effective in building trust, establishing clear lines of reporting 
and accountability and regular, targeted support where needed. As a 
result, when the government vaccine mandate was introduced into care 
homes Enfield care homes lost fewer than 30 staff from a total workforce 
of just under 2,200. 

 
 

Communications 
 

219. Communication was of paramount importance throughout the pandemic 
either indicating where and why people should be tested, for vaccine 
uptake and to advertise Council services such as Enfield Stands Together.  
In getting sometimes complex messaging out to the wider public the 
response was effective and allowed us to penetrate into the community 
with a large degree of success. 

 

220. The use of an internal print service proved to be invaluable in terms of 
speed of turnaround. 

 

221. Mounting pressure and the need for constant comms led to the recruitment 
of further staff reflecting the huge demand for accurate and inclusive 
communications during all stages of the pandemic.  

 

Page 150



41 
 

222. Targeted communications sessions with Public Health specialists also 
proved to be invaluable, particularly in distributing key, accessible 
messages to staff working across services both in the Council and across 
its care markets. The CQC has remarked that Enfield’s provider markets, 
amongst the largest in London, were particularly well supported compared 
to many other areas. 

 

223. Communications between Local Authority Gold, Silver and Bronze 
meetings was particularly effective and well served by the Public Health 
Intelligence team with regular access to key data supporting key 
decision-making processes across the partnership. The focus, not just on 
cases but on the wider impact of those cases on health and social care 
services was instrumental in enabling the Local Authority to plan more 
effectively, avoiding the need to enact Care Act Easements, deploying 
front line staff where they were most needed and prioritising access to 
assessment and support services for those people most in need within 
the community. 

 

224. The communications team also worked well with Elected Members, 
members of the faith community and voluntary sector partners to produce 
bespoke ‘Covid-19 Communications’ in a variety of formats. The 
recording of video clips in different community languages to reinforce 
guidance on how to stay safe was a particularly helpful innovation and 
has positive implications for the future deployment of inclusive 
communications on a range of issues. 

 
225. Externally, the Local Authority and leadership was proactive in engaging 

with key media channels to both highlight the emerging pressures as the 
pandemic began to take hold but also to provide a presence on national 
media outlets that could demonstrate that Enfield was being championed 
and resources were being lobbied. This created effective learning and has 
positive implications for how we position Enfield effectively to secure 
support and gain interest in our borough.  

Page 151



 

Dear Secretary of State 

Ongoing Government response to the Covid-19 crisis 

I am writing to you regarding the ongoing impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on the 
care sector. I have concerns about how key information and coronavirus related 
deaths are is being collated and then shared with the public. I am also increasingly 
worried about the lack of support to frontline workers in care homes.  

My borough has a large ageing population with an extensive network of care homes 
looking after many thousands of vulnerable elderly residents in our borough. The 
London Borough of Enfield has ninety care homes (and 60 domiciliary care homes). 
Our intelligence is telling us that localised Covid-19 outbreaks in our care homes are 
rapidly increasing. This will be the same picture across the country. Government 
should be able to answer what proportion of care homes have declared an outbreak 
of the coronavirus at any one time. 

Daily updates on the number of fatalities directly linked to Covid-19 released by 
government are not fully accurate. The numbers shared only relate to hospital 
deaths. This means the public are not being given the full picture of the extent to 
which Covid-19 is affecting our population.  

Whilst understanding that the process of registration and verification means there is 
a comparative delay in obtaining and verifying figures beyond deaths in hospitals, I 
do believe that it is in everyone’s interest to include fatalities in care homes and in 
the wider community in official reporting. Death numbers of those who have shown 
clear symptoms of Covid-19 should also be published and death certificates should 
be capturing this information fully to help provide an accurate picture of impact.   

Rt Hon Matt Hancock MP 
Secretary of State, 
Department of Health and Social Care, 
39 Victoria Street, 
London SW1H 0EU 

Please reply to: Cllr Nesil Caliskan 
Leader of the Council 

Email: Cllr.nesil.caliskan@enfield.gov.uk 

Phone: 020 8379 4116 

Textphone:  

Fax: 
My Ref: 

Your Ref: 
Date: 16 April 2020 

APPENDIX B
Page 152



 

 

 
We also need government to increase its efforts to direct energy and resources into 
directly supporting front-line workers in our care homes and those delivering home 
care in the community. 
 
Enfield Council is doing all we can to support our local care homes and those who 
reside in them as well as our home care workers. We are working very closely with 
these vital partners by making daily calls to care homes to discuss support 
requirements. Enfield Council support to our local care sector has included extending 
our own occupational health team available to support care home staff affected by 
deaths. We are also playing a dedicated role in monitoring infection control steps 
and other valuable support. 
 
It is clear that care homes in my borough are doing all they can to protect and look 
after their residents. However, like elsewhere in the country they continue to 
experience incredible challenges. I note that on the 11th April 2020 the Association of 
Directors of Adult Social Services wrote to Jonathan Marron expressing deep 
concern about testing, funding, mixed messages from government and personal 
protective equipment (PPE). Enfield Council shares the concerns outlined in that 
letter.  
 
Specifically, in relation to PPE, frontline care home workers must be provided with 
the what they need to allow them to care for patients safely. Enfield Council has 
provided a grant to every care home in the borough and we have played a proactive 
role in trying to secure and distribute supplies to care homes. Despite local 
coordination and efforts, there remains a chronic undersupply of PPE from 
Government. This is causing considerable distress to our care homes, many of 
whom have contacted Enfield Council to share their concern and ask for our help in 
securing equipment.  
 
The response from Government to get protective equipment out to those who 
desperately need it has to be escalated. In Enfield we were waiting for over a month 
for PPE supplies at the beginning of this crisis and the amount we initially received 
was completely inadequate given the level of need. Our care homes were telling us 
of their concerns about PPE from the outset and the need for immediate 
Government assistance, one of these care homes has subsequently suffered the 
highest number of covid-19 related deaths in the borough. 
 
The right equipment, in the right volumes must be distributed to care homes and 
care workers quickly. To date, this has not been the case and in Enfield there has 
never been enough stock to at anyone time to last more than two or three days, 
causing great anxiety to care homes.  
 

APPENDIX B
Page 153



The timely distribution of the right PPE needs to be underpinned by a testing 
programme that is agile, targeted and deployed at sufficient scale to keep workers 
and those being cared for safe. I am very concerned that the recent pledge to 
accelerate testing for Covid-19 presently remains well below the 100,000 tests per 
day you have committed the Government to providing by 30 April 2020. I would hope 
that you can now share a clear trajectory with us to show how that target will be met. 
 
In Enfield, the offer made, up until last week, for care workers to be tested has not 
been of a volume that suggests the machinery and logistics were in place to ramp up 
testing. In the week beginning 6th April 2020 this offer totalled 10 testing places to a 
workforce of around 5,000 staff. It was also not hugely helpful that the highly limited 
offer of testing initially made to us required staff to travel miles across London to 
Wembley in a car to participate.  
 
As we enter the next three weeks of lockdown, we are aware the care homes across 
the country may be facing their most difficult time yet and as are those workers 
delivering home care. The care sector as a whole feel like it has been forgotten 
about by Government in this crisis. In coming weeks this needs to change and our 
front-line care workers, who are too often undervalued and on low pay, looking after 
our most vulnerable residents, are made a priority for receiving the protective 
equipment they need and are offered testing alongside our NHS frontline workers.  
 
I hope that the government will now escalate its response and take meaningful steps 
to prioritise the concerns I have outlined in this letter. Enfield Council is committed to 
working with you and all partners, nationally and locally, to do whatever we can to 
support the care section in my borough.  
 
I look forward to hearing from you in due course.  
 
Yours Sincerely 
 

 
 
Cllr Nesil Caliskan 
Leader, Enfield Council  
 
 
 
Cc: Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP, 
 Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 

APPENDIX B
Page 154



6th April 2020 

Statement from Leader of Enfield Council on news of deaths in local care home 

I am deeply saddened to hear that over the weekend a number of our most vulnerable residents in 
one care home in Enfield have died of what is believed to be coronavirus. On behalf of Enfield 
Council I would like to offer our deepest sympathies to their friends and family. Every life lost to 
coronavirus leaves behind grieving and heartbroken loved ones.  

I would also like to express my deepest gratitude and support to the many care staff working in 
Enfield’s residential and nursing homes who are providing vital social care in the community at this 
difficult time. 

Enfield Council officers continue to have daily contact with every care home in our borough. 
Together with many frontline staff we will continue to do everything we can to support and help the 
most vulnerable members of our community. 

Cllr Nesil Caliskan 
Leader of Enfield Council 

APPENDIX B
Page 155



Dear Secretary of State for Health, 

High number of Covid positive in-patients means hospitals either unable to accept new urgent cases or 
an increase in requests to admit Covid positive people into care homes 

I am writing to you to express my grave concerns about the ongoing and significant impact of this pandemic on 
our local NHS services in Enfield. I am particularly concerned that the increasing pressure on our local NHS 
Hospital Trusts, North Middlesex and Royal Free Chase Farm, will result in significant Covid positive in-
patients with the hospitals either unable to accept new urgent cases or an increase in requests to admit Covid 
positive people into care home beds in order to free up hospital bed capacity. 

In the first wave of this pandemic, the impact of this virus on care homes was nothing short of catastrophic. In 
Enfield we have one of the largest care home markets in London and the impact has been disproportionately 
felt here with 60% of our 83 care homes suffering outbreaks. 

Many dedicated care staff and vulnerable residents lost their lives as this virus entered our care homes. A 
significant contributing factor in that was lack of testing before people were discharged back to these care homes 
from hospital. It is for that reason that Enfield Council has taken a very clear position that care homes in our 
borough should not accept any admissions from hospital settings where people have not received a negative 
PCR test result immediately prior to their discharge. We simply cannot have a repeat of what happened in the 
first wave of this pandemic. 

Locally we are currently in a position where North Middlesex NHS Trust, our local A&E hospital and one of 
the busiest in London, is operating at in excess of 97% capacity, with, as at today, 166 of its 382 general and 
acute beds occupied by patients who are Covid positive. All cases are being actively tracked and the number of 
Covid positive patients occupying hospital beds within this trust is expected to increase to 250 over the next 
two weeks. 

This is generating significant pressure within our Health and Social Care system. With effect from Tuesday 22nd 
December, North Middlesex University hospital announced all non-emergency activity has been ceased, with 
the exception of cancer and radiology treatments. The hospital is rapidly approaching a point where it will have 
to begin diverting blue light services to other areas. This in itself creates an enormous amount of risk and with 
it comes pressure to discharge in order to free up beds for people who really need them. 

The designated bed capacity established across the North Central London sub-region to support our hospitals 
with Covid positive discharges is also approaching capacity and we are now being asked to explore the option 
of creating additional designated bed capacity within our care homes. To be clear, that is a request to receive 

Matt Hancock MP 
Secretary of State for Health 

Please reply to: Cllr Nesil Caliskan 

Leader of the Council 

      Email: Cllr.nesil.caliskan@enfield.gov.uk 

Phone: 020 8379 4116 

Date: 23 December 2020 

APPENDIX B
Page 156



admissions into care homes for people who are either Covid positive or who have tested negative and then 
subsequently come into contact with someone who has tested positive. 

Whilst I am fully aware of the pressures facing our local NHS services, I simply cannot accept our care homes 
being used in this way. No Covid positive patient should be discharged into a care home, whether there is 
capacity to isolate or not. The risk is simply too great. Over 10% of our most vulnerable people living in care 
homes died as a result of this pandemic in the first wave. These deaths accounted for half of our total deaths in 
wave one in Enfield. Behind that shocking statistic are hundreds if not thousands of lives impacted in the 
cruellest possible way with loved ones being lost in homes where they believed they were being helped to stay 
safe. 

Given that local hospitals in Enfield find themselves limited in bed capacity because of the Covid-crisis, it is 
critical the government and the NHS consider now the need for additional and alternative hospital stepdown 
facilities for patients who in normal circumstances would remain in hospital until Covid free. Therefore, I am 
formally asking you, what the government’s plans are to achieve this. 

We understand that this is an unprecedented and very fast-moving situation. However, time and again this 
Council has stepped up and shown itself ready and willing to work with government and other agencies to 
deliver what is needed on the ground to help keep our community safe.  

Enfield Council stands ready to continue this work and to deliver in partnership with government, the NHS and 
our partners, temporary, safe, alternative NHS accommodation for Covid positive people being discharged from 
hospital where they can be cared for safely and appropriately until they are free of the virus. For instance, as a 
local authority we can swiftly identify land for additional temporary hospital beds for elderly and vulnerable 
residents who are Covid positive. 

Our local NHS is on its knees. They are doing the very best that they can, but they simply cannot cope and 
require urgent government assistance. A failure to act urgently and at pace will result in our local hospitals 
closing their doors to new admissions, including those who are Covid positive. Government must, therefore, act 
now for the sake of our most vulnerable residents. 

Yours sincerely, 

Cllr Nesil Caliskan            

Leader of the Council      

Copied to: 

Helen Whately MP, Minister of State for Social Care 

APPENDIX B
Page 157



Covid-19 testing for front-line care sector workers in Enfield 

After many weeks of lobbying Government to demand that all of our frontline key 
workers in Enfield should have access to testing for Covid-19, I am pleased to 
confirm that we now have been able to secure some dedicated local testing provision 
in our borough.  

The tests are being offered to NHS staff or staff working in a care setting, or 
members of their household, with Covid-19 symptoms. 

The tests are being provided as a drive through service at Lee Valley Athletics 
Park in Edmonton, N9 0AR and by pre-booked appointment only. If you are eligible 
you can book a testing slot online at:  
https://feedback.camdenccg.nhs.uk/camden-ccg/ncl-covid-19-staff-testing-
drive-thru/  

This is a helpful start, but we will not rest until all of our 5,500 frontline care sector 
workers in Enfield have all been able to access tests as a matter of urgency. We will 
continue to call for more testing and a clear process for all frontline care workers, 
NHS staff and other key workers to be able to book appointments for tests going 
forward. We are calling for more sites for testing in Enfield so testing of frontline key 
workers can be made more easily accessible.  

Yours Sincerely, 

Cllr Nesil Caliskan 
Leader of the Council 

22 April 2020

APPENDIX B
Page 158

https://feedback.camdenccg.nhs.uk/camden-ccg/ncl-covid-19-staff-testing-drive-thru/
https://feedback.camdenccg.nhs.uk/camden-ccg/ncl-covid-19-staff-testing-drive-thru/
https://feedback.camdenccg.nhs.uk/camden-ccg/ncl-covid-19-staff-testing-drive-thru/
https://feedback.camdenccg.nhs.uk/camden-ccg/ncl-covid-19-staff-testing-drive-thru/


Important information 
from Enfield Council on 
COVID-19

COVID-19 advice

I know how difficult the last few months have been for our communities with many loved ones having lost their lives 
to COVID-19.  Enfield Council continues to do all it can to support you and keep you safe.

Over the last week the number of COVID-19 cases across the country and in Enfield has steadily increased. We 
know that our most vulnerable residents, especially people who are over 60, are the worst affected. 

That is why it remains really important that we all continue to follow social distancing rules and all other public health 
advice to stop the spread of the virus and reduce the chances of a local lockdown.

Please remember that you must:

• Wear a mask on public transport and in indoor places
• Regularly wash your hands
• Socially distance - stay at least two metres away from other people not in your household

The latest government legislation also says that you must not socialise in groups of more than six people 
either indoors or outdoors (with some exemptions such as schools, households, social bubbles, workplaces, 
weddings and funerals). For more information and guidance visit  www.gov.uk/coronavirus

If you have the symptoms of COVID-19 it is important you self-isolate and book a test by ringing 119 or 
visiting www.nhs.uk/coronavirus 

The NHS is planning for winter flu

As well as doing everything we can to reduce the spread of COVID-19 in Enfield w e a re a lso e ncouraging all 
residents to get the winter flu vaccine.    

The NHS is preparing to treat patients with COVID-19 this winter as well as serious illnesses and seasonal bugs, 
which could put immense pressure on our GPs, hospitals and emergency services. By having the winter flu 
vaccine, you can help reduce this pressure and help to protect yourself and others from winter flu.  

For the first time, people aged 50 to 64 are eligible for a free flu vaccine this year. Locally the NHS is preparing to 
make the vaccine available from Autumn 2020.

Enfield Council is working to support our local NHS partners to increase resident access to vaccination sites across 
the borough. We will post locations on our website and social media. Residents will be able to book appointments 
on-line or through their GP.

I know many residents are anxious about the months ahead and a possible second wave. I want to let you know that 
Enfield Council is doing everything it can to support our communities and keep residents safe. If you need our help 
with anything, please do get in touch - www.enfield.gov.uk

Show your support by displaying the back of this leaflet in your window

Update from Enfield Council’s Leader, 
Councillor Nesil Caliskan

11 September 2020

APPENDIX B
Page 159



KEEP YOUR DISTANCE  
two metres if possible3

1 WASH YOUR HANDS 
for 20 seconds

WEAR FACE COVERINGS
on public transport and indoor 
spaces

2

COVID SYMPTOMS?  
Get tested now 
nhs.uk/coronavirus or call 119

4

APPENDIX B
Page 160



?  If you need this document in another language or format contact the service using the details above.

Cllr.Nesil.Caliskan@enfield.gov.uk

Dear Enfield Resident,

It has been a difficult year again for our communities in Enfield and I know that many of you have lost loved ones. With 
the news that we have entered a national lockdown again it is important that we all follow the government guidance to 
stay at home, unless you need to leave for a permitted reason, to control the spread of the virus, protect the NHS and 
save lives. Please also remember to follow the hands, space, face guidance.

While these measures will help slow the spread of the virus, Enfield Council is using another, extremely effective tool to 
tackle the virus – mass testing for people without symptoms. 

Enfield Council has now set up mass testing centres throughout the borough in response to rising coronavirus rates and the 
emergence of a new more contagious strand of the virus. To keep our residents safe, we are carrying out more rapid flow 
tests than any other borough in London and are in the top ten local authorities in the UK.

We have six testing centres in Enfield and they are all open between 9am and 6pm, seven days a week. You do not need 
to book an appointment and residents without symptoms can simply turn up during the centre’s opening hours.

One in three infected people do not show symptoms of coronavirus, but can still pass it on. The centres provide an 
opportunity for residents without symptoms who might not know they are infectious to take a test without an appointment 
and take precautions to protect themselves and their families.

We urge residents who cannot work from home such as key workers and front-line staff who we rely on to keep Enfield open 
and deliver vital services, as well as those caring for our vulnerable residents, to take tests regularly so they know they are 
free of the virus and are not spreading it to others. 

You will receive your results on the same day and residents testing positive will be referred for a follow-up test to confirm 
the result.

You can find your nearest test centre on our website www.enfield.gov.uk/masstesting
You must wear a mask at test centres (unless exempt) and strict social distancing arrangements will be put in place 
to protect residents and staff. 

If you have coronavirus symptoms you must not go to a mass testing centre. You must immediately self-isolate and book 
a test for people with symptoms by ringing 119 or visiting nhs.uk/coronavirus. 

Best wishes,

Councillor Nesil Caliskan
Leader of Enfield Council 

www.enfield.gov.uk/masstesting

KEEP 
ENFIELD 
SAFE

APPENDIX B Page 161



One in three people with coronavirus 
do not have symptoms but can still 
pass it on. Get your free rapid test now, 
especially if you cannot work from 
home or are caring for others. We advise 
you get tested twice a week.

Do not come to our rapid test centres 
if you have coronavirus symptoms. If 
you have symptoms, immediately self 
isolate and book a symptomatic test at
www.gov.uk/get-coronavirus-test

Our test centres are open from 9am - 6pm:
 Brigadier Hall, Cedar Road, Enfield EN2 0NL
 Green Towers Community Centre, Plevna Road, 

Edmonton, N9 0TE
 Kempe Hall, Kempe Road, Enfield, EN1 4QS
 Klinger Hall, Copperfield Mews, Edmonton, N18 1PF 

(access from Silver Street)
 Southgate Library, High Street, Southgate, N14 6BP
 John Wilkes House, 79 High Street, Ponders End, 
 EN3 4EN

Get your rapid
Covid-19 test now

GET YOUR FREE, FAST TEST NOW
www.enfield.gov.uk/masstesting

APPENDIX B Page 162



Special Report: In shielding its 
hospitals from COVID-19, Britain 
left many of the weakest exposed 
By Stephen Grey, Andrew MacAskill 
3 3  M I N  R E A D  

LONDON (Reuters) - On a doorstep in the suburbs of north London, 
three-year-old Ayse picked up a tissue to wipe away her 
grandmother’s tears - tears for one more victim of the virus. 

Ayse Mehmet, whose daughter Sonya Kaygan died from coronavirus disease 
(COVID-19), has tears wiped by her three-year-old granddaughter, also named 
Ayse, at her home in Enfield, Britain, April 27, 2020. Picture taken April 27, 2020. 
REUTERS/Peter Nicholls 

The little girl was waiting for her mum, Sonya Kaygan. Her 
grandmother hadn’t broken the news that Kaygan, 26, who worked at 
a nearby care home, was dead, one of over 100 frontline health 
workers killed by the coronavirus in Great Britain. 

The grandmother, also called Ayse, spoke through sobs. “Why? 
Why?” she repeated. Why couldn’t she visit the hospital to say her 
goodbyes? Why did so many die in her daughter’s workplace? At 
least 25 residents since the start of March, of whom at least 17 were 
linked to the coronavirus. It was one of the highest death tolls 
disclosed so far in a care home in England. And why did Kaygan and 
her colleagues resort to buying face masks on Amazon a month ago, 
protection that arrived only after she was in hospital? 

A Reuters investigation into Kaygan’s case, the care home where she 
worked, and the wider community in which she lived provides an 
intimate view of the frontline of Britain’s war on the coronavirus. It 
exposes, too, a dangerous lag between promises made by Prime 
Minister Boris Johnson’s government and the reality on the ground. 

Even as the government was promising to protect the elderly and 
vulnerable from the deadly virus, local councils say they didn’t have 

APPENDIX C Page 163

https://www.reuters.com/journalists/stephen-grey
https://www.reuters.com/journalists/andrew-macaskill


the tools to carry out the plan, and were often given just hours to 
implement new government instructions. 

Policies designed to prevent hospitals from being overwhelmed 
pushed a greater burden onto care homes. With hospitals given 
priority by the government, care homes struggled to get access to tests 
and protective equipment. The elderly were also put at potentially 
greater risk by measures to admit only the sickest for hospital 
treatment and to clear out as many non-acute patients as possible from 
wards. These findings are based on documents from government 
agencies seen by Reuters, interviews with five leaders of local 
authorities and eight care home managers. 

It is too early to reach final conclusions about the wisdom of these 
policies. Still, staff and managers of many care homes say they 
believe the British government made a crucial early mistake: It 
focused too much attention on protecting the country’s National 
Health Service at the expense of the most vulnerable in society, 
among them the estimated 400,000 mostly elderly or infirm people 
who live in care homes across Britain. 

The government summed up that policy in the slogan “Protect the 
NHS.” The approach gave the country’s publicly-funded hospitals 
priority over its care homes. A UK government spokesman defended 
the strategy. “This is an unprecedented global pandemic and we have 
taken the right steps at the right time to combat it, guided by the best 
scientific advice.” 

The effects of this approach have been felt desperately in Elizabeth 
Lodge, in Enfield, north London, where Kaygan worked. 

The first coronavirus test of a resident of the Lodge only took place 
on April 29. That was 34 days after the first suspected case at the 
home, said Andrew Knight, chief executive of residential services at 
CareUK, a private company which operates the home. It was also 14 
days after Matt Hancock, the UK health secretary, pledged tests 
would be available to “everyone who needs one” in a care home. 

APPENDIX C Page 164



“The government’s response on testing has come way too late to have 
any meaningful effect on keeping the virus out of our homes,” said 
Knight, the CareUK executive, in a statement to Reuters. 

So far, at least 32,300 people have died in Britain from the 
coronavirus, the highest toll in Europe, according to official UK data 
processed by 2 May. Out of those deaths, more than 5,890 were 
registered as occurring in care homes in England and Wales by April 
24, the latest date available. These figures don’t include care home 
residents who were taken to hospital and died there. 

Many care home providers believe the figures understate the number 
of deaths among care home residents because, in the absence of 
testing, not all are being captured. During the 10 weeks prior to the 
outbreak, including the height of the flu season, an average of 2,635 
people died each week in care homes in England and Wales. By April 
24, that weekly death toll had risen to 7,911. According to Reuters 
calculations, the pandemic has resulted in at least 12,700 excess 
deaths in care homes. 

“I think the focus early on was very much on the acute sector,” or 
urgent hospital treatment, “and ensuring hospitals were able to 
respond in an effective way,” said Graeme Betts, acting chief 
executive of Birmingham City Council, which oversees the UK’s 
second-biggest city. “And I think early on care homes didn’t get the 
recognition that perhaps they should have.” 

Helen Wildbore, director of the relatives and residents association, a 
national charity supporting families of people in residential care, said 
while it was right for the initial focus to be on protecting the NHS, “I 
think it has taken too long for the government to turn its attention” to 
vulnerable people outside hospital. “I think it’s fair to say that the 
sector has felt like an afterthought for quite a long time.” 

Jeremy Hunt, a former Conservative Party health secretary and now 
chairman of the House of Commons health select committee, 
advocated banning visits to care homes by friends and family from 
early March, advice that wasn’t followed. Speaking to Reuters, he 

APPENDIX C Page 165



drew a parallel between the UK’s response to the coronavirus and the 
way it deals with peak winter demand for hospital services. 

“What happens with any NHS winter crisis is the focus of attention 
immediately switches to the hospitals and dominates the system’s 
thinking,” he said. “Many people in the social care sector told me 
exactly the same thing happened with COVID-19.” 

The government spokesman said protecting the elderly and most 
vulnerable members of society had always been a priority, “and we 
have been working day and night to battle coronavirus by delivering a 
strategy designed to protect our NHS and save lives.” 

THE COCOON 

Born in Northern Cyprus in 1993, Sonya Kaygan had come to the UK 
after studying English. She settled in Enfield, a north London borough 
of 334,000 people with a large community of Turkish origin, and one 
particularly hard-hit by the virus pandemic. 

Kaygan lived with her mother and together they looked after her 
child. Both worked in different care homes: She worked night shifts 
and her mother worked the day shift. Kaygan’s monthly wages for 
three or four weekly 12-hour shifts added up to a take-home pay of 
about £1,500 - just short of the monthly rent of their home. 

By the time a “lockdown” was imposed by the prime minister on 
March 23, the virus was spreading fast and Kaygan was beginning to 
feel sick. “She started feeling a bit uncomfortable,” her uncle Hasan 
Rusi said. “She had a temperature and was coughing. It might have 
been a cold, it might be a virus.” 

Established plans drawn up by the government for dealing with a flu 
pandemic had always been clear that care homes could be a place for 
infection to spread. But on February 25, Public Health England, a 
government agency overseeing healthcare, stated it “remains very 
unlikely that people receiving care in a care home or the community 
will become infected.” 

APPENDIX C Page 166



The guidance was widely reproduced on care home websites and 
stayed in force until March 13. It meant that few care homes restricted 
visits and few families withdrew their relatives from homes. No plan 
was put in place for testing staff. A government spokesman said that 
advice “accurately reflected the situation at the time when there was a 
limited risk of the infection getting into a care home.” 

On March 12, the government shifted from what it termed a “contain” 
to a “delay” phase, after the World Health Organisation declared an 
international pandemic. The UK now focused efforts on mitigating 
the spread of virus through the general population, allowing “some 
kind of herd immunity” to develop, as the chief scientific adviser, Sir 
Patrick Vallance, explained on BBC radio on March 13. But, said 
Vallance, “we protect those who are most vulnerable to it.” 

David Halpern, a psychologist who heads a behavioural science team 
- once nicknamed the “nudge unit” - advising the UK government, 
had expanded on the idea in a separate media interview on March 11. 
As the epidemic grew, he said, a point would come “where you’ll 
want to cocoon, you’ll want to protect those at-risk groups so that 
they basically don’t catch the disease.” 

Nonetheless, Reuters interviews with five leaders of large local 
authorities and eight care home managers indicate that key resources 
for such a cocoon approach were not in place. 

There weren’t adequate supplies of protective equipment, nor lists of 
vulnerable people, they said. National supply chains for food were not 
identified, nor was there a plan in place to supply medicines, organise 
volunteers, or replace care staff temporarily off sick. Above all, those 
interviewed said, there was no plan for widespread testing in 
vulnerable places like care homes or prisons, let alone an 
infrastructure to deliver it. 

On March 23, Johnson announced another shift in strategy, replacing 
the mitigate-plus-cocoon approach with a broader lockdown. Schools, 
pubs and restaurants were shuttered, sport cancelled and everyone 
was told to stay at home. 

APPENDIX C Page 167



For local leaders, caring for the most vulnerable became increasingly 
challenging. Typically, they said, new plans were announced in an 
afternoon national press conference by a government minister, with 
instructions to implement them, sometimes the next day, arriving by 
email to councils later that night. Ministerial promises, handed off to 
the councils, included drawing up a “shield list” of the most 
vulnerable, delivering food to them and organising and delivering 
prescription medicines. Even plans for using volunteers were 
announced nationally, without taking account of volunteer 
infrastructures that many councils had in place. 

“From our vantage point, it sometimes looked like policy made up on 
the hoof,” said Jack Hopkins, leader of Lambeth Council in south 
London, an early hotspot for the virus outbreak. Local councils knew 
they had to act quickly, but there was no dialogue about how things 
should happen. “It felt very much like government by press release, 
with local government left to pick up the pieces,” Hopkins said. 

It was the same experience in Birmingham, which was also hit hard 
by the virus. Betts, the council’s chief executive, wants to avoid 
dishing out criticism in a situation that is “new for everyone.” But, he 
said, “it did make it quite challenging from a local authority 
perspective, when, you know, the prime minister says at 5 pm or 6 pm 
that something’s going to happen. Eleven o’clock or midnight you get 
some guidance on it, and you’re meant to be off and running in the 
next day.” 

The most acute problem identified locally early on was the shortage 
of adequate personal protective equipment (PPE) for NHS and care 
home staff. Yet Jenny Harries, England’s deputy chief medical 
officer, declared on March 20 that there was a “perfectly adequate 
supply of PPE” for care workers and the supply pressures have been 
“completely resolved.” 

Five days later, Johnson told parliament every care home worker 
would receive the personal protective equipment they needed “by the 
end of the week.” This didn’t happen, and more than a month later, 

APPENDIX C Page 168



the government’s chief medical officer conceded publicly that 
shortages remained. 

According to Nesil Caliskan, leader of Enfield Council, early 
statements that local shortages were caused by distribution difficulties 
proved to be a “downright lie.” The government simply didn’t have 
enough kit, she said. 

The government didn’t respond directly to claims that it gave false 
assurances or insufficient time and support to councils to implement 
ministers’ instructions. A spokesman said an alliance of the NHS, 
industry and the armed forces had built a “giant PPE distribution 
network almost from scratch.” Councils had been supported with £3.2 
billion in extra funding to support their pandemic response, he said, 
and 900,000 parcels of food have been delivered to vulnerable people. 

DO YOU WORK FOR THE NHS? 

Three days into the lockdown, on 26 March, the nation was urged to 
stand at their doorstep or window on a Thursday evening and applaud 
the NHS. Boris Johnson, by now already infected himself, led the 
cheering on the first occasion. 

For some workers in Enfield, the chants left them uneasy. Working 12 
hours shifts for barely £9 per hour, below the non-statutory London 
Living Wage of £10.75, they wondered if those cheers for caregivers 
were also meant for them. 

“I’m one of them,” one care home employee, who asked not to be 
named, recalls telling her 12-year-old daughter as her neighbours 
clapped. The daughter teased her: “Oh, Mummy, they don’t talk about 
you. They talk about the NHS. Mum, do you work for the NHS?” 

The caregiver replied: “No. But it’s the same. We care for people.” 

The caregiver was one of three workers who recounted their 
experiences at an Enfield care home run by a firm called Achieve 
Together. Each described how, after a patient was sent to hospital on 
March 13 and confirmed to have the coronavirus, staff were issued 

APPENDIX C Page 169



with thin paper masks. After a fortnight, staff were told the masks 
should be saved for dealing with patients with symptoms, and they 
were taken away. And although several staff developed symptoms 
and had to isolate, no tests were available. A spokesperson for 
Achieve Together said staff had access to “more than sufficient 
supplies of PPE, including face masks and face shields, which are 
supplied and worn directly in line with Government advice.” 

One night, caring for a resident with a lung infection who hadn’t been 
tested, she’d worn a thin blue surgical mask as she performed close-
up procedures like feeding him and brushing his teeth. 

The day she spoke to Reuters, April 24, health secretary Matt 
Hancock had reiterated to the BBC that tests were available for care 
workers. But for now, none was available for this care worker. Her 
only option was a drive-through centre, but she had no car. 

“I want to be checked and really want to be checked as soon as 
possible,” she said. “If I had the choice.” 

The spokesperson for Achieve Together described the health and 
wellbeing of residents and staff as “our absolute priority.” Staff and 
residents were tested “when the Government made testing available.” 
The company did not specify when those tests took place. It declined 
to comment on details of the home, citing a need to protect patient 
privacy. 

AN INVISIBLE TRAIL 

Kaygan’s workplace, the Elizabeth Lodge, in a leafy Enfield suburb, 
was built in the grounds of two former hospitals of infectious 
diseases. It is operated by CareUK, a large privately owned healthcare 
provider, and normally home to about 90 residents, looked after by 
125 staff. 

The borough has been hit hard by the coronavirus, with Enfield 
Council recording outbreaks in at least 42 out of 82 care homes, 
according to the council. The council and the Care Quality 

APPENDIX C Page 170



Commission, which regulates the sector, declined to disclose 
individual death tolls, citing privacy. 

Elizabeth Lodge, according to several people with direct knowledge, 
was one of two Enfield homes most savagely stricken by the virus. 
The other, these people said, is Autumn Gardens. A senior manager at 
Autumn Gardens, which is privately owned, declined to comment. 

Determining how Kaygan and so many residents at Elizabeth Lodge 
and other homes became infected will be hard. That is partly because, 
as Reuters has previously reported, as the outbreak began Britain had 
no plan for widespread testing for the virus once it started spreading 
in the community. 

The Lodge’s management says it hasn’t identified the source of the 
outbreak there. The home began cutting down on visitors from the 
start of March, with almost all non-emergency visits barred from 
March 17. 

“At this point anyone coming into the home, including team members 
and essential health care professionals, had their temperatures 
checked and went through a health screening questionnaire,” CareUK 
said in a statement to Reuters. 

Kaygan’s last day of work was Friday, March 20th, and she called in 
sick the following week. 

On Sunday, March 22, Mother’s Day in England, Kaygan popped 
round to drop off a bunch of flowers to two relatives, Kenan and his 
wife Ozlem, who helped bring her up as a child. They spoke on the 
doorstep. “She told us she had to go back to work. But I was adamant 
she should stay at home,” Kenan said. The day after, Johnson 
announced the nationwide lockdown. 

According to the Lodge’s management, none of the residents 
displayed symptoms until March 26, in the home’s York wing. This 
was six days after Kaygan last worked, and 11 days after she had last 
worked in the York wing. 

APPENDIX C Page 171



Across Enfield care homes, 48 cases of COVID-19 had been 
identified by March 27 and at least two people had died of the 
disease. By then all homes had essentially banned all visitors. 

So how did infection take hold in care homes? 

According to several care home managers, a key route for infection 
was opened up by an NHS decision taken in mid-March, as Britain 
geared up for the pandemic, to transfer 15,000 patients out of 
hospitals and back into the community, including an unspecified 
number of patients to care homes. These were not only patients from 
general wards. They included some who had tested positive for 
COVID-19, but were judged better cared for outside hospital. 

In a plan issued by the NHS on March 17, care homes were exhorted 
to assist with national priorities. “Timely discharge is important for 
individuals so they can recuperate in a setting appropriate for 
rehabilitation and recovery – and the NHS also needs to discharge 
people in order to maintain capacity for acutely ill patients,” the plan 
said. 

A Department of Health guidance note dated April 2 and published 
online further stated that “negative tests are not required prior to 
transfers / admissions into the care home.” 

Jamie Wilson, a former NHS dementia specialist and founder of 
Hometouch, which provides care to people in their own homes, said 
that, based on his discussions with colleagues in the industry, he 
believes that care homes across the country had taken dozens of 
patients at risk of spreading the infection. While noting he wasn’t 
aware of specific cases, he described what he called an egregious and 
reckless policy “of sending COVID positive patients back into care 
homes and knowing that it’s so infectious a disease.” 

The UK government didn’t respond directly to the question of 
whether discharges from hospitals had put the vulnerable at risk. But 
a spokesman said enhanced funding, testing and quarantine 
procedures should address those concerns. 

APPENDIX C Page 172



One NHS infectious diseases consultant, who manages COVID-19 
patients, said sending people sick with the coronavirus back to a care 
home could, in many cases, be the best thing for the patient, provided 
they could be cared for in the right way. Ideally, she said, all patients 
should be tested before transfer, and quarantined for up to a fortnight. 

The problem was that most patients had not been tested for COVID-
19, and care homes have few facilities to quarantine new arrivals. 

In Birmingham, over 300 people were discharged into care homes 
from the start of March, “which is significantly higher than normal,” 
said council chief executive Betts. In Enfield, 30 patients were sent to 
care homes, about average, according to Enfield Council. One care 
manager in the borough, who manages several homes, said some of 
those transfers caused concern. 

This manager recalled that, shortly after Johnson announced the 
lockdown, she had an argument with officials at a nearby hospital 
who wanted her to take back a resident who had been treated for 
sepsis. The hospital had coronavirus patients at the time. The manager 
would not name the hospital, to avoid identifying the patient. She said 
she agreed to the demand on one condition: that the resident, who was 
not displaying coronavirus symptoms, be tested. But the hospital 
refused, saying it did not have enough tests to assess asymptomatic 
patients. 

Eventually, the manager backed down. A week or so later, several 
residents in the home began displaying symptoms consistent with 
COVID-19, she said. She didn’t give a precise figure. It is not known 
whether the transferred patient was the source of the outbreak. 

“It was just so reckless,” she said. “They were not thinking at all 
about us. It was like they were saying, let’s abandon the old people.” 

At the Elizabeth Lodge, between March 1 and March 19, four new 
residents arrived - two from hospitals and another two from other care 
homes. The Lodge’s management said, in a statement, there was no 
evidence these residents brought the virus into the home, “but we are 
continuing to review.” 

APPENDIX C Page 173



Knight, the residential services chief executive at Lodge operator 
CareUK, said it was essential that hospital patients be tested before 
they were transferred. “We need to ensure not just that the test has 
been done, but that the results are available prior to making the 
decision about admission” to the home, he said in a statement to 
Reuters. 

TEST, TEST, TEST 

On March 12, Britain’s chief medical officer, Chris Whitty, 
announced the ending of most testing of the general population to 
focus on patients admitted to hospital. But Vallance, the chief 
scientific adviser, clarified to parliament a week later there would still 
be testing in isolated clusters of cases in the wider population. 

By April 6, the Enfield council had recorded at least 26 deaths in care 
homes, and 126 suspected cases. Yet only 10 tests per day were being 
offered for the thousands of care staff across the whole of north 
London, said Enfield Council leader Caliskan. 

Knight said that at Elizabeth Lodge, no tests were available for staff 
until after April 15, when Health Minister Hancock announced plans 
to test all residents and care home workers if they had symptoms. 
Even after Hancock’s pledge, only six tests were made available to 
Lodge staff and none to residents, Knight added. 

Guidance from the Government, which has struggled to rapidly 
increase the overall availability of tests, remained that staff should 
simply stay at home and isolate if symptomatic. In his statement to 
Reuters, Knight said he and others in the industry had appealed to 
“senior members of the government to explain the challenges we were 
facing and how best they could support us.” He didn’t say who he 
spoke to. 

Finally, on April 28, Hancock said all care home residents and staff 
could be tested even if they were not displaying symptoms. Again, the 
words didn’t match the experience on the ground. 

APPENDIX C Page 174



Lisa Coombs, manager of the Minchenden Lodge in Enfield, home to 
up to 25 residents, said she had only secured a pack of 10 tests. Eight 
of these had returned a positive result. She’d been unable to secure 
tests for a further 10 residents even though some were displaying 
symptoms. 

“What the government says is a load of rubbish,” she said. I “I am 
angry because we are not being supported.” She declined to discuss 
how many residents have died. 

At Elizabeth Lodge, no residents were tested until April 29, said 
Knight. Even after that date the government’s Care Quality 
Commission, which has been supplying tests to homes, only provided 
enough for residents showing symptoms of coronavirus. Things 
improved “in a very limited way” in the last two weeks of April, said 
Knight, and now “appear to be gaining momentum.” 

Getting access to testing on a meaningful scale now could reduce the 
impact of the virus in the coming months, he added. 

A government spokesman said that a policy of testing everyone prior 
to admission into care homes was now being instituted, with a 
recommendation that hospital patients discharged into care homes are 
isolated for 14 days, even with negative test results. 

MASKS 

Sonya Kaygan, her mother Ayse recalled, never said much about her 
work or conditions at the Lodge. But one day, at the start of the 
outbreak, Sonya saw the long-sleeved gloves that her mother, a 
caregiver at another home, was using. “We don’t have those at our 
place,” Kaygan said. The Lodge told Reuters staff had all the 
equipment that was required. 

Unbeknown to her family, Kaygan had ordered surgical facemasks on 
Amazon. They arrived in early April after she was hospitalized. Other 
carers at the Lodge ordered masks, too, said another staff member. 
And after Kaygan’s death, a different fellow employee posted on 

APPENDIX C Page 175



Twitter: “I work there and all of this has (been) very hard on us all 
and every one is right. We as carers don’t have enough PPE.” 

Another employee at Elizabeth Lodge told Reuters that although staff 
raised concerns, many had to operate for weeks without face masks or 
visors. “I was petrified. Every time I went in there, I worried for 
myself, my family, the people living there, my colleagues,” she said. 

She said at the start of March, she remembers two meetings where 
managers discussed with staff how they would respond if there was a 
coronavirus outbreak. She said employees questioned why they did 
not have more protective equipment. The management responded 
saying they were doing their best to bring more in. 

Reuters could not independently verify this account. The Lodge’s 
management told Reuters that neither Kaygan nor any other employee 
raised concerns to managers about protective equipment. 

It said in a statement that at the time Kaygan worked at the Lodge, 
face masks were not being used. That, according to the home, was 
because official guidance then recommended such masks were only 
necessary when working within a metre (three feet) of someone with 
COVID-19 symptoms. Public Health England said the home’s 
interpretation was in line with advice then in force that masks were 
only needed when in personal contact with someone, such as washing. 

Across Enfield, supply of PPE was a major problem. According to 
council leader Caliskan, by the end of March, supplies in some homes 
were inadequate, and others were running out. The government 
repeatedly promised to send supplies, but when a much-anticipated 
delivery by the army arrived at the council depot on March 28, it took 
just 6 minutes to unload, she said. It contained only 2,000 aprons and 
6,000 masks, which aren’t designed for repeated or prolonged use, for 
Enfield’s 5,500 care workers. 

GETTING TO HOSPITAL 

On March 31, just after 2 pm, Sonya Kaygan was picked up by an 
ambulance from the two-up, two-down home she shared with her 

APPENDIX C Page 176



mother and daughter. Kaygan was finding it increasingly difficult to 
breathe. As she walked to the ambulance, she turned to her mother 
and said: “If I never make it back, look after my baby.” 

The ambulance crew said Kaygan would be taken to the nearby North 
Middlesex Hospital, but when the family called there later, there was 
no one of that name. Uncle Hasan tracked her down to Whipps Cross 
Hospital in Leytonstone, northeast London. Kaygan made video calls 
to her family, and asked Ayse to come and visit. But, as is the case in 
many countries, the hospital wouldn’t allow it. 

In an email to Reuters, the NHS trust managing Whipps Cross said all 
visiting was “currently suspended other than in exceptional 
circumstances” to stop the spread of COVID-19. 

Then news came that Kaygan would be intubated - sedated and put on 
a ventilator. Her last call was to a family member in Cyprus, about 6 
am on April 2. “I’m going in now,” she said. 

Kaygan’s hospital admission was swift. Many others have reported 
difficulties getting in. 

Munuse Nabi, 90, lived in a care home in Ilford, East London. She 
was extremely fragile, with heart, lung and kidney problems. But she 
was also mentally strong with a pin-sharp memory, able to talk on the 
phone and flick through TV channels. “She was all perfect,” said son 
Erkan Nabi, a driving instructor. 

In early April, Munuse developed a temperature and a dry and 
persistent cough, and lost her voice. As she got worse, a doctor 
examined Munuse by video link. When she began to struggle to 
breathe, Nabi urged the home to send her to hospital. 

A nurse, he said, told him: “We’ve been told not to send people to 
hospital. Just leave them here. They’re comfortable.” He was upset. 
“They were trying to encourage me to leave her there basically to 
die.” He insisted they call an ambulance, and she was taken to 
hospital. 

APPENDIX C Page 177



A spokesperson for the care home involved said staff were “doing 
everything we can to make sure our residents and colleagues stay safe 
and well throughout these challenging times.” 

This approach to hospitalisation reflects what many homes took to be 
national guidance. An NHS England policy document issued on April 
10 listed care home residents among those who “should not ordinarily 
be conveyed to hospital unless authorised by a senior colleague.” 

The document was withdrawn within five days, after public criticism. 
The NHS did not respond to a request to discuss the document. 

London’s ambulance service also issued new guidance. 

Ambulance crews assess patients using a standard scoring system of 
vital signs. According to the Royal College of Physicians, a 
professional body for doctors, a patient who scores five or more on a 
20-point scale should be provided with clinical care and monitored 
each hour. A patient scoring five would normally be taken to hospital. 

But in early March, London’s ambulance service raised the bar for 
COVID-19 patients to seven. 

“I have never seen a score of seven being used before,” said one NHS 
paramedic interviewed by Reuters. The medic spoke on condition of 
anonymity. 

On April 10, the required score was lowered to five. In a statement, 
the London Ambulance Service told Reuters its previous guidance 
was one of several assessments used and clinical judgment was the 
deciding factor. Asked if the guidance reflected the national approach, 
the NHS did not respond. 

Possible evidence of restrictions on admissions came in a study of 
17,000 patients admitted for COVID-19 to 166 NHS hospitals 
between February 6 and April 1. The study showed that one-third of 
these patients died, a high fatality rate. 

Calum Semple, the lead author and professor of outbreak medicine at 
Liverpool University, said, in an interview with Reuters, this 

APPENDIX C Page 178



indicated, among other things, that England set a “high bar” for 
hospital admission. “Essentially, only those who are pretty sick get 
in.” But, he said, there was no data yet on whether that high bar 
ultimately made people in Britain with COVID-19 worse off. The 
NHS didn’t comment. 

FALSE VICTORY 

On the hospital wards of London, by Easter Sunday, April 12, there 
was a sense of light at the end of the tunnel. Over the long holiday 
weekend, according to several doctors contacted by Reuters, some 
hospitals saw just a handful of new admissions. 

But on the frontline of the efforts to protect the capital’s most 
vulnerable people, the worst was far from over. According to an 
official closely involved in London’s response to the coronavirus, the 
capital’s mayor, Sadiq Khan, was getting reports that food banks were 
close to running out. Crisis meetings were held all weekend to 
replenish stocks. 

In Enfield, by Easter Sunday a total of 39 care home deaths linked to 
COVID-19 had been recorded, and 142 residents had suspected 
infections. By the end of last month, nearly 100 more residents of 
Enfield care homes would die. The total in the borough, as recorded 
by the council, would rise to 136 deaths linked to the virus in care 
homes by April 30, including care home residents who died in 
hospital. 

On the national stage, the government projected a picture of success. 
Prime Minister Boris Johnson, at his first daily Downing Street 
briefing since recovering from coronavirus, said on April 30 that 
Britain was past the peak and had avoided overwhelming the health 
service. 

“It is thanks to that massive collective effort to shield the NHS that 
we avoided an uncontrollable and catastrophic epidemic,” said 
Johnson. 

Even so, deaths in care homes were surging. 

APPENDIX C Page 179



On the third night of 90-year-old Munuse Nabi’s hospital stay, a 
doctor called her son Erkan to say her COVID-19 test had come back 
positive. As her condition was worsening and she was too fragile for 
invasive treatment, they would not be able to save her life. 

Erkan, urged to visit, went to the hospital and was dressed up by staff 
in what he calls the “full battledress” protective gear, including visor 
and gown. 

As doctors gave Munuse small doses of morphine to make her 
comfortable, Erkan stayed by her bedside all through April 19 and 
into the early hours of April 20, holding her hand as she slipped away. 

It was in the early hours of April 17 that Kaygan’s family got the call 
they dreaded. She, too, had passed away. 

Her mother posted a message on Facebook: “My soul, my angel, I lost 
the most beautiful angel in this world. We lost the most beautiful 
angel in this world.” 

She still hasn’t worked up the strength to tell Kaygan’s daughter, 
three-year-old Ayse, that her mother is dead. 

 

APPENDIX C Page 180



ENFIELD COMMUNITY RESILIENCE AND OUTBREAK ENGAGEMENT BOARD 

Purpose 

The purpose of the Enfield Community Resilience and Outbreak Engagement Board 

is to provide political ownership and community leadership for outbreak and 

community responses as part of the current coronavirus pandemic. 

Membership and Terms of Reference 

The panel shall be known as the ‘Enfield Community Resilience and Outbreak 

Engagement Board’.  

It is a focused group, established to assist the local authority, with the help of key 

strategic community partners, in managing its community response to the current 

coronavirus pandemic through the ‘Enfield Stands Together’ programme and Local 

Outbreak Control Plan (LOCP). The Board is not a formal committee and is not a 

decision-making body but may have limited commissioning power. The Board will 

report back to the Cabinet and the Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) and make 

recommendations for decisions where and when appropriate to do so. 

Membership 

1 The Leader of the Council will Chair the Enfield Community Resilience and 

Outbreak Engagement Board. The Deputy Leader will be Vice-Chair. The 

Executive Director for Resources will act as Senior Responsible Officer 

with the Head of Corporate Strategy in support. 

2 The Enfield Community Resilience and Outbreak Engagement Board shall 

consist of senior operational officers from across the Council and senior 

representatives of strategic external partners in the community to 

successfully manage a coordinated and sustained response to Covid-19 

and local outbreaks.  The core membership is set out below. 

3 The Enfield Community Resilience and Outbreak Engagement Board may 

as it sees fit invite other members, representatives from other partner 

organisations, other public and private and third sector bodies to take part 

in the work of the group where and when appropriate to do so. 

APPENDIX D
Page 181



 

 

Core Membership (subject to Board approval): 

Cllr Nesil Caliskan   (Chair, Leader of the Council) 

Cllr Ian Barnes   (Vice-Chair, Deputy Leader of the Council) 

Jo Ikhelef    (Chief Executive, Enfield Voluntary Action) 

Pamela Burke   (Chief Executive, Enfield Carers Centre) 

Nnenna Anyanwu   (CEO, Citizens Advice Enfield) 

Ben Ingber     (CEO, Age UK Enfield) 

Kerry Coe    (North Enfield Food Bank) 

Anne Elkins    (The Felix Project) 

Tony Watts    (Over 50’s Forum) 

Noelle Skivington   (Healthwatch Enfield) 

Fay Hammond (Acting ED of Resources – Group Coordinator) 

Stuart Lines  (Director of Public Health) 

Glenn Stewart    (Assistant Director of Public Health) 

Sue McDaid    (Head of Regulatory Services) 

Helen Papadopoulos  (Head of Emergency Planning) 

David Greely    (Head of Communications) 

Shaun Rogan (Head of Corporate Strategy) 

Heather Littler   (Notary, Enfield Council) 

 

Terms of Reference (subject to Board approval) 

The Community Resilience and Outbreak Engagement Board will focus on the 

following main areas of interest: 

• To work proactively with communities to help increase community resilience in 

relation to Covid-19 outbreaks 

 

• Develop capacity through successful promotion of local volunteering, targeted 

project delivery and development of mutual aid networks to build resilience 

during and after the coronavirus pandemic as part of a successful ‘Enfield 

Stands Together’ programme. 

 

• To ensure that key prevention messages (such as handwashing and social 

distancing) are heard, understood and implemented across the borough, with 

a focus on high-risk and disadvantaged groups  

APPENDIX D
Page 182



 

 

 

• To ensure a clear focus on individual financial resilience can be coordinated 

 

• To receive and comment upon reports from the LOCP Outbreak Control Team 

on outbreaks and their management 

 

• To identify, lead and coordinate bespoke workstreams and research of the 

likely impact on partner services and residents as a result of coronavirus 

pandemic;  

 

• To identify potential means of reducing the number and / or severity of Covid-

19 outbreaks in the borough 

 

• To ensure consistent communications to local residents on how they can be 

involved in the ‘Enfield Stands Together’ programme (including accessing 

help) 

 

• To agree the framework for and then manage commissioned added value 

projects that can be drawn down from the £100,000 Community Resilience 

Fund 

 

The Board will agree work streams to deliver a formal work programme and allocate 

leadership on identified workstreams in its first formal meeting based on some or all 

of the suggested following areas. 

• Coordination/management of Enfield Stands Together programme 

• Community Support and Involvement (Volunteering and care) 

• Food strategy 

• Support for people facing financial hardship (Individual financial 

resilience) 

• Identification of value projects and interventions (VCS Support Fund) 

• Communications  

 

Meetings of the Community Resilience Board 

1. The frequency of meetings of the Community Resilience Board will be 

determined by the Chair. 

 

2. The meetings will be facilitated through dial-in via skype / Teams. 

 

3. In the absence of the Chair or Vice-Chair, the Board will elect a person to 

Chair the meeting. 

 

4. Meetings of the Panel will not be held in public. 

 

APPENDIX D
Page 183



 

 

5. Relevant officers will assist with the successful convening of the Enfield 

Resilience and Outbreak Engagement Board. 

 

6. The meeting will not be formally minuted but agreed actions will be recorded, 

agreed and allocated by the Enfield Resilience and Outbreak Engagement 

Board for taking forward 

 

APPENDIX D
Page 184



 

26 March 2020 

Enfield Stands Together 
Our community response to the Coronavirus crisis 

Safeguarding Information 

Councillor Nesil Caliskan 
Leader of the Council 
Enfield Council     
Civic Centre, Silver Street 
Enfield EN1 3XY 

Email: Cllr.Nesil.Caliskan@enfield.gov.uk www.enfield.gov.uk 
If you need this document in another language or format contact the service using the details above. 

Dear Enfield Residents 

Thank you for volunteering to support your fellow residents during these challenging 
times. Your support will be crucial in protecting our borough’s residents and building 
a resilient community.  

When volunteering in your community, you may be interacting with extremely 
vulnerable residents. It is therefore important that you are aware of the Council’s 
safeguarding procedures and that you are confident with what actions to take in case 
of an emergency. 

The following document offers some guidance on how to protect both yourself and 
the person you are providing support for, and what to do in case of emergency or if 
there are signs of neglect or abuse.  

Please read through this guidance and familiarise yourself with the relevant 
information. You can find more information about safeguarding vulnerable people at 

https://mylife.enfield.gov.uk/enfield-home-page/content/safeguarding/about-
safeguarding-adults/ 

https://new.enfield.gov.uk/enfieldlscb/children-young-people/worried-about-the-
safety-of-a-child-report-it-now/ 

https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/children-and-education/childrens-portal/ 

Thank you for your support and dedication to ensuring that Enfield remains a vibrant 
and caring community. 

APPENDIX E 
Page 185

http://www.enfield.gov.uk/
https://mylife.enfield.gov.uk/enfield-home-page/content/safeguarding/about-safeguarding-adults/
https://mylife.enfield.gov.uk/enfield-home-page/content/safeguarding/about-safeguarding-adults/
https://new.enfield.gov.uk/enfieldlscb/children-young-people/worried-about-the-safety-of-a-child-report-it-now/
https://new.enfield.gov.uk/enfieldlscb/children-young-people/worried-about-the-safety-of-a-child-report-it-now/
https://new.enfield.gov.uk/services/children-and-education/childrens-portal/


 

Yours Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Nesil Caliskan 
Leader of the Council 
 
 
 
 
              Our Community Response to Covid 19 
               Volunteer Safeguarding Guidance 
 
Thank you for volunteering to support your fellow community members. As a 
volunteer, you may be assisting vulnerable residents. It is important to know what to 
do if you recognise signs of neglect or abuse and be aware of how to respond in 
emergency situations. 
 
Please remember that someone who is self-isolating will be anxious and potentially 
lonely. We must avoid breaking their isolation if this isn’t necessary for their own 
protection. If they would benefit from more social contact, let your volunteer 
coordinator know and phone conversation befriending services can be arranged. 
 
 
What to do in an emergency? 
 
If you visit someone and they are in crisis, please call whatever emergency service is 
appropriate and stay with them until the services arrive. Unless necessary for their 
own protection and safety, continue to follow social isolation guidance.  
 
When you have an opportunity, please also call your volunteer coordinator to let 
them know what has happened and to allow them to support you (e.g. by completing 
outstanding visits or coming to relieve you if you have to go due to your own 
commitments).  
 
If a crime has occurred… 

APPENDIX E 
Page 186



 

 
If a serious crime occurs whilst you are helping a resident, which requires immediate 
assistance by the police, please call 999 
 
If you are concerned that a crime has occurred (but no urgent attendance by Police 
is required) then you can dial 101 to report.  
 
 
If there is a medical emergency… 
 
If a serious medical emergency occurs whilst you are helping a resident, which 
requires immediate ambulance assistance, please call 999. 
If someone requires medical advice, e.g. suspected Coronavirus symptoms over and 
above what can be dealt with at home or another medical issue, then they can dial 
111 for medical advice. Please be aware that this service is experiencing very high 
demand at the moment so there may be a considerable wait.  
 
Do not take the patient to Accident and Emergency (A&E) Department unless 
advised to by a medical professional, as this would risk spread of the virus.  
 
Reporting Abuse or Neglect 
 
Whilst volunteering there is a possibility you will come into contact with adults or 
children who show sign of abuse.  
 
Adult abuse is the violation of an individual’s human and civil rights by any other 
person or persons. Safeguarding adults means upholding the rights of adults to live 
in safety, free from abuse and neglect. To achieve this, we may take or prompt 
action to minimise risks, prevent and/or stop abuse and/or neglect.  
 
Child abuse is defined as any form of maltreatment of a child. This can be abuse or 
neglect of a child by inflicting harm, or by failing to act to prevent harm. Children may 
be abused in a family or in an institutional or community setting, by those known to 
them or, more rarely, by others. Abuse can take place wholly online, or technology 
may be used to facilitate offline abuse. Children may be abused by an adult or 
adults, or another child or children. 
 
Suspected neglect or abuse of an adult  

APPENDIX E 
Page 187



 

 
If you believe that an adult you have visited is being, or has been, abused or 
neglected, then you must report this to Enfield Council. 
 
There are different ways to do this depending on the time of day: 
 

 
Please note that these are not emergency services – always dial 999 if an 
ambulance or Police are required 
 
Suspected neglect or abuse of a child  
 
All children and young people have the right to live in safety, without emotional 
cruelty, neglect, violence, or sexual abuse. 

If you are worried about the welfare of a child you encounter whilst volunteering, 
please contact Enfield Council and speak about your concerns so that somebody 
can help. 

Report abuse via the Children’s Multi-
Agency Safeguarding Hub:  
during office hours: 
 
Mon- Friday, 9am- 5pm. 
 

Tel: 020 8379 5555 
 
Email: childrensMASH@enfield.gov.uk 

 
Report abuse via a dedicated phoneline 

 
Tel:  020 8379 1000 

To report abuse via the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub, 
 
Mon- Friday, 9am- 5pm. 
 

Tel: 020 8379 3196 
 
Email: TheMASHteam@enfield.gov.uk 

 
Report abuse via dedicated phoneline 
any time day or night.  
  

 
Tel:  020 8379 5212 

 
Report abuse via a text phone  
 

Tel: 18001 020 8379 5212 

APPENDIX E 
Page 188

mailto:childrensMASH@enfield.gov.uk


 

outside of office hours. 
  
 
Make a referral via the Children’s Portal 
 

 
www.enfield.gov.uk/childrensportal 

 
Please note that these are not emergency services – always dial 999 if an 
ambulance or Police are required. 
 
 
 
 
If you think a resident requires support from a care service… 
 
If you believe someone needs support from carers or occupational therapy etc on a 
non-urgent basis then please call the Enfield Single Point of Access: 
 
During office hours: 
 
Mon- Fri, 9am- 5pm. 

Tel: 0208 379 1001 
 
Email: adultsocialcare@enfield.gov.uk 

 
Outside of office hours: 
 

 
020 8379 1000 
 

 
 
If a resident’s carer has not shown up… 
 
If someone is usually visited by a carer but they have not attended that day – without 
prior arrangement – then please call 020 8379 1001 (Mon- Fri,9am-5pm), to let 
Enfield Council know so that enquiries can be made. 
 
Keeping safe 
 
If you feel at all unwell, do not volunteer. 
 
Before and between running errands, you must wash your hands thoroughly for 20 
seconds with soap and water, following NHS guidelines: https://www.nhs.uk/live-
well/healthy-body/best-way-to-wash-your-hands/ 

APPENDIX E 
Page 189

http://www.enfield.gov.uk/childrensportal
mailto:adultsocialcare@enfield.gov.uk
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/healthy-body/best-way-to-wash-your-hands/
https://www.nhs.uk/live-well/healthy-body/best-way-to-wash-your-hands/


 

 
If you make a delivery, stay two metres away from the person who is in isolation at 
all times. Place the items outside their door and then step away, to prevents potential 
transmission.  
 
It may be someone you visit tries to thank you with money. You must not allow them 
to give you a ‘tip’ or buy you anything from their own funds. Though it may seem 
harmless to allow someone to express their gratitude in this way, you run the risk of 
them feeling that this is expected and being reluctant to accept the service in future. 
If they suffer from memory issues, they could also forget that they had asked you to 
do this.  
 
Handling money   
 
Enfield Council is setting up a system of food distribution from hubs to vulnerable 
households which are self-isolating.  
 
We advise that cash should not be exchanged between volunteers and isolating 
residents. You should not allow residents to tell you their PIN number or hand you a 
bank card. This would leave them vulnerable to fraud and you vulnerable to potential 
allegations or misunderstandings. If there is an exceptional circumstance where 
payment is required, please seek advice from the volunteer coordinator.  
 
Reporting financial abuse  
 
You should also be very clear with the resident that a genuine volunteer will not 
accept their money – there have unfortunately been examples of fraud and burglary 
already with fake volunteers taking advantage of those in need.  
 
If you are worried that someone you are helping is being taken advantage of, please 
tell someone. You will be listened to and your concerns will be taken seriously. 

You can report abuse to the 24-hour Enfield Adult Abuse Line - 020 8379 5212.  

You can also report fraud Mon- Fri, 9am-5pm on Enfield Council’s Fraud Hotline - 
020 8379 4683 
 
Caring for pets in case of emergency 
 
If a vulnerable person has a pet and is taken to hospital, and there is nobody to look 

APPENDIX E 
Page 190



 

after the animal, then you should ask the hospital to contact the relevant council 
officers directly to ensure that the pets are cared for. It may be helpful to mention to 
the ambulance crew (or others) that there is a pet at home. 
 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
 
If you are required to deliver supplies or contact a resident for a friendly phone call, 
you may be given access to their personal data, such as their name, address or 
phone number. It is essential that you safeguard this information in accordance with 
the data protection regulations.  
 
Personal information should not be shared with anyone unless it is essential in order 
to support that individual. You should always, where possible, inform the person 
whose details you intend to share, letting them know why you need to share and 
giving them the opportunity to object.  
 
Information should be stored securely and should not be held for longer than 
necessary when the individual no longer requires your assistance. This means that 
you MUST destroy it when your engagement with the individual is completed. 
 
Protecting vulnerable resident’s data is extremely important in order to keep them 
safe. For more information about the regulations please visit:  
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-
data-protection-regulation-gdpr/ 
 
Other Advice and Guidance 
 
The London Mayoral Office has produced some guidance for Londoners who would 
like to volunteer to support other residents during the COVID-19 pandemic. To read 
more, including advice from the NHS and Public Health England, please visit:  
 
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/volunteering/coronavirus-covid-19-
volunteering 
 

APPENDIX E 
Page 191

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/volunteering/coronavirus-covid-19-volunteering
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/volunteering/coronavirus-covid-19-volunteering


CARE HOMES 
AFFECTED

34

No of deaths= 2
Staff = 66 cases

Residents = 72 cases

ENFIELD COVID-19 DATA

TOTAL CASES

25,506

TOTAL DEATHS

544 

NEW CASES*

2,258

RECENT COVID 
DEATHS*

46
(45 excess#)

TESTS*

5,126

VACCINATIONS
11,030 1st DOSES

INFECTION RATE 
PER 100,000*

676

AGE GROUP
0-29    30-59   60+

per 100,000
(PCR = 9,398 tests, lateral 

flow = 7,711 tests)

515 861 608

SCHOOLS 
AFFECTED

37
Staff = 63 cases

Students = 40 cases

WARDS WITH 
MOST CASES* 
(TOP THREE)

1. Enfield Highway
(162)

2. Upper Edmonton
(151)

3. Edmonton Green
(146)

TOTALS

06 Mar 20 - 17 Jan 21

06 Mar 20 – 08 Jan 21 18 Jan update18 Jan update

#North Central London includes Camden, Barnet, Enfield, Haringey 
& Islington  

Change since last week of data 

INFECTION RATE 
RANK*
NCL# = 1

LON= 10; Eng= 24

TESTING RATE 
RANK

NCL# = 1
LON=13; Eng= 61

DOM CARE AFFECTED
40

Care Staff = 87 cases
Clients = 39 cases

(11 – 17 Jan 21)

17 Jan

#According to ONS weekly mortality analysis.

Appendix F
P

age 192



APPENDIX F
P

age 193

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/c3a108ab-2c16-4080-b262-b963a25b6012/?pbi_source=PowerPoint


Appendix G: Summary of changes to the legislative framework – Coronavirus 
Act 2000 and Care Act 2014 easements 

The Coronavirus Act 2020 

1. Receives Royal Assent on 25th March 2020.
2. Specifically, for Health and Social Care the Act aimed to:

a. increase the available health and social care workforce: the Act removes
barriers to allow suitably experienced people to be part of the workforce during
this period (such as recently retired NHS staff and social workers returning to
work);

b. reduce the burden on frontline staff: the Act aims to reduce the number of
administrative tasks frontline staff must perform, so that actions can be
focussed where most needed and public services maintained;

c. support people: provisions of the Act make it easier for people and businesses
impacted by coronavirus to access financial support when they need it;

d. contain and slow the virus: provisions of the Act facilitate actions to promote
social distancing and mitigate spread, including preventing gatherings of
people and closing schools, and encouraging people to self-isolate by making
Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) payable from day 1;

e. Manage the deceased with respect and dignity: The Act enables the death
management system to deal with increased demand for its services.

Provisions of the Act 
3. The provisions of the Coronavirus Act, which are time-limited for two years, enable

the government to restrict or prohibit public gatherings, control or suspend public
transport, order businesses such as shops and restaurants to close, temporarily
detain people suspected of Covid19 infection, suspend the operation of ports and
airports, temporarily close educational institutions and childcare premises, enrol
medical students and retired healthcare workers in the health services, relax
regulations to ease the burden on healthcare services, and assume control of death
management in particular local areas. The government has stated that these powers
may be "switched on and off" according to the medical advice it receives.

4. The act also provides for measures to combat the economic effects of the pandemic.
It includes the power to halt the eviction of tenants, protect emergency volunteers
from becoming unemployed, and provide special insurance cover for healthcare staff
taking on additional responsibilities. The government will reimburse the cost of
statutory sick pay for employees affected by COVID-19 to employers, and
supermarkets will be required to report supply chain disruptions to the government.

5. The act has a two-year time limit that may be shortened or lengthened by six months
at ministerial discretion. Following a government amendment, the act is additionally
subject to parliamentary renewal every six months; it would originally have been
returned to Parliament for debate one year after its enactment.

6. Section 88 of the act enables national authorities to suspend (and later revive, if
appropriate) many of the act's provisions, and section 97 requires the Secretary of
State to publish, every two months, a report on the status of the non-devolved
provisions. On 7 May 2020, the Department of Health & Social Care published a table
showing the status of each provision, including those not at that time in force. This
was followed on 29 May by the first two-monthly report, which gives for provisions not

APPENDIX G
Page 194



yet in force a brief explanation of the reason, and for those in force an outline of the 
extent to which the provision has been used. 

7. Further two-monthly reports were published on 31 July, 1 October and 1 December
2020; and on 28 January, 22 March, 27 May 2021and 21 July 2021.

8. By September 2020, the provisions addressing potential staff shortages in mental
health services had not been required in England. An instrument to remove these
provisions was laid before Parliament on 21 October and came into force on 9
December 2020.

9. As part of the one-year review in March 2021, the government stated its intention to
expire twelve sections of the act and suspend three provisions.

10. Several sections of the act were expired early, on 17 July 2021, by The Coronavirus
Act (Early Expiry) Regulations

11. Alongside this the government produced its four-step programme out of Lockdown in
Spring 2021 beginning on 28th March 2021.

Care Act Easements 

12. Purpose of the easements - Local authorities and care providers are already facing
rapidly growing pressures as more people need support because unpaid carers are
unwell or unable to reach them, and as care workers are having to self-isolate or are
unable to work for other reasons.1

13. The government puts in place a range of measures to help the care system manage
these pressures. Local authorities should do everything they can to continue meeting
their existing duties prior to the Coronavirus Act provisions coming into force. In the
event that they are unable to do so, it is essential that they are able to streamline
present assessment arrangements and prioritise care so that the most urgent and
acute needs are met.

14. The powers in the Act enable them to prioritise more effectively where necessary
than would be possible under the Care Act 2014 prior to its amendment (referred to
in this guidance as the Care Act). They are time-limited and are there to be used as
narrowly as possible.

15. What the powers changed - The changes fall into 4 key categories, each applicable
for the period the powers are in force:

a. Local authorities will not have to carry out detailed assessments of people’s
care and support needs in compliance with pre-amendment Care Act
requirements. However, they will still be expected to respond as soon as
possible (within a timeframe that would not jeopardise an individual’s human
rights) to requests for care and support, consider the needs and wishes of
people needing care and their family and carers, and make an assessment of
what care needs to be provided. Annex B of the guidance provides more
information

b. Local authorities will not have to carry out financial assessments in compliance
with pre-amendment Care Act requirements. They will, however, have powers
to charge people retrospectively for the care and support they receive during
this period, subject to giving reasonable information in advance about this, and

1 Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-changes-to-the-care-act-
2014/care-act-easements-guidance-for-local-authorities  

APPENDIX G
Page 195

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-changes-to-the-care-act-2014/care-act-easements-guidance-for-local-authorities#annex-b
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-changes-to-the-care-act-2014/care-act-easements-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-changes-to-the-care-act-2014/care-act-easements-guidance-for-local-authorities


a later financial assessment. This will ensure fairness between people already 
receiving care and support before this period, and people entering the care and 
support system during this period. Annex B of the guidance provides more 
information 

c. Local authorities will not have to prepare or review care and support plans in
line with the pre-amendment Care Act provisions. They will however still be
expected to carry out proportionate, person-centred care planning which
provides sufficient information to all concerned, particularly those providing
care and support, often at short notice. Where they choose to revise plans, they
must also continue to involve users and carers in any such revision. Annex B of
the guidance provides more information

d. The duties on local authorities to meet eligible care and support needs, or the
support needs of a carer, are replaced with a power to meet needs. Local
authorities will still be expected to take all reasonable steps to continue to meet
needs as now. In the event that they are unable to do so, the powers will enable
them to prioritise the most pressing needs, for example enhanced support for
people who are ill or self-isolating, and to temporarily delay or reduce other
care provision. Annex C provides further guidance about the principles and
approaches which should underpin this

16. Protections and safeguards - The overriding purpose of these easements is to 
ensure the best possible provision of care to people in these exceptional 
circumstances. In order to help ensure that they are applied in the best possible way, 
with the greatest regard towards the needs and wishes of care users and their carers, 
the following protections and safeguards will apply.

a. The easements took legal effect on 31 March 2020 but should only be 
exercised by local authorities where this is essential in order to maintain the 
highest possible level of services. They should comply with the pre-amendment 
Care Act provisions and related Care and Support Statutory Guidance for as 
long and as far as possible.

b. They are temporary. The Secretary of State will keep them under review and 
terminate them, on expert clinical and social care advice, as soon as possible.

c. All assessments and reviews that are delayed or not completed will be followed 
up and completed in full once the easements are terminated.

d. Local authorities will remain under a duty to meet needs where failure to do so 
would breach an individual’s human rights under the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR). These include, for example, the right to life under 
Article 2 of the ECHR, the right to freedom from inhuman and degrading 
treatment under Article 3 and the right to private and family life under Article 8.

e. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) will continue to provide oversight of 
providers under existing legislation. Throughout this period the CQC will take a 
pragmatic approach to inspection and proportionate action as necessary while 
maintaining its overriding purpose of keeping people safe.

17. Other important duties on local authorities remain in place:
a. Duties in the Care Act to promote wellbeing and duties relating to safeguarding 

adults at risk remain in place.
b. Duties in the Mental Capacity Act 2005 relating to Deprivation of Liberty 

Safeguards (DoLS) remain in place.
c. Local authorities’ duties relating to prevention and providing information and 

advice also remain in place. The provision of information and advice for public

APPENDIX G
Page 196

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-changes-to-the-care-act-2014/care-act-easements-guidance-for-local-authorities#annex-b
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-changes-to-the-care-act-2014/care-act-easements-guidance-for-local-authorities#annex-b
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-changes-to-the-care-act-2014/care-act-easements-guidance-for-local-authorities#annex-c


reassurance will be particularly important during this period. To aid good 
communications, local authorities should continue to draw on their helpful 
relationships with trusted partners in the voluntary sector as well as on a full 
range of digital and other channels which help reach people with differing needs 
and in different circumstances during this period (for example, to make up for 
any closure or reduced service of libraries) 

d. Duties imposed under the Equality Act 2010 also remain, including duties to 
make reasonable adjustments, the Public Sector Equality Duty and duties 
towards people with protected characteristics. These should underpin any 
decisions made with regard to the care and support someone receives during 
this period 

18.    Principles to govern use of the powers - The Care Act embodies a principled, 
person-centred and values-based approach to all aspects of the provision of social 
care. It is essential that these principles and values are maintained during this period. 

19.    Local authorities are expected to observe the ethical framework for adult social 
care. This provides a structure within which local authorities must measure their 
decisions and reinforces that the needs and wellbeing of individuals should be central 
to decision-making. In particular, it should underpin challenging decisions about the 
prioritisation of resources where they are most needed. 

20.    Alongside the framework, local authorities should continue to respect the principles 
of personalisation and co-production. These are embodied in the following statement 
produced with the support of Think Local, Act Personal (TLAP): I am supported to 
make decisions by people who see things from my point of view, with concern for 
what matters to me, my wellbeing and health. (Making it Real). 

21. Steps local authorities should take before exercising the Care Act easements: 
a. A local authority should only take a decision to begin exercising the Care Act 

easements when the workforce is significantly depleted, or demand on social 
care increased, to an extent that it is no longer reasonably practicable for it to 
comply with its Care Act duties (as they stand prior to amendment by the 
Coronavirus Act) and where to continue to try to do so is likely to result in urgent 
or acute needs not being met, potentially risking life. Any change resulting from 
such a decision should be proportionate to the circumstances in a particular 
local authority. 

b. Social care varies greatly across local authorities and the decision to operate 
the easements should be taken locally. It should be agreed by the director of 
adult social services in conjunction with or on the recommendation of the 
principal social worker (PSW). The director of adult social services and 
the PSW must ensure that their lead member has been involved and briefed 
as part of this decision-making process. The Health and Wellbeing Board 
should be kept informed. The decision should also be fully informed by 
discussion with the local NHS clinical commissioning group leadership. 

22. Local authorities should have a record of the decision with evidence that was 
taken into account. Where possible the record should include the following: 

a. the nature of the changes to demand or the workforce 
b. the steps that have been taken to mitigate against the need for this to happen 
c. the expected impact of the measures taken 
d. how the changes will help to avoid breaches of people’s human rights at a 

population level 
e. the individuals involved in the decision-making process 

APPENDIX G
Page 197

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-ethical-framework-for-adult-social-care/responding-to-covid-19-the-ethical-framework-for-adult-social-care
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-ethical-framework-for-adult-social-care/responding-to-covid-19-the-ethical-framework-for-adult-social-care
https://www.thinklocalactpersonal.org.uk/makingitreal/


f. the points at which this decision will be reviewed again 
g. This decision should be communicated to all providers, service users, carers 

and local MPs. The accessibility of communication to service users and carers 
should be considered. 

23. Local authorities should notify the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC) using the Care Act Easements Notification Form when: 

a. they decide to start streamlining assessments and/or prioritising services under 
these easements 

b. the use of easements changes 
c. they resume full Care Act duties 
d. Information received will be held and shared with CQC, the Association of 

Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS), the Local Government Association 
(LGA) and other relevant parties. Details of which local authorities are 
operating under easements will be publicly available for transparency. 

24. The Care Act easements provision in the Coronavirus Act 2020 expired on 16 July 
2021 and is no longer in force. 

25. Enfield Council did not enact any Care Act Easements during this period. Staffing 
levels consistently remained at a level where this was not required (above 95%) and 
adjustments to working practices were in line with government guidelines (for 
example, remote assessments or face to face as required by individual case 
circumstances). 

 

APPENDIX G
Page 198

https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/adult-social-care/care-act-easements-it
https://www.cqc.org.uk/guidance-providers/adult-social-care/care-act-easements-it
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2021/856/made?view=plain


1 

 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

London Borough of Enfield 
 
Briefing for the Overview and Scrutiny Business Meeting 
 
Date   21 March 2022 
 

 
Subject:   Gambling Act 2005 – Control of gambling premises 

including in Town Centres 
 
 

 
1.0 Introduction: 
 
1.1 Around 63% of gambling premises shops are located in the most deprived 

wards in the borough where the highest number of incidences of crime 
associated with gambling premises occur. 20% of the gambling premises within 
the borough are located in the three of wards (Edmonton Green, Upper and 
Lower Edmonton), that are amongst the 10% of most deprived wards nationally.  

 
1.2 Neither the licensing nor the planning framework provides Councils with very 

effective powers to limit the number of gambling premises in their areas, and 
many gambling premises have been long established some time ago. The 
licensing regime in particular legally requires Councils to ‘aim to permit’ 
gambling premises, and so is a fundamental obstacle in this regard. 

 
1.3 However, over the years, both the licensing team and planning team have 

sought to exercise as much control as possible of gambling premises within the 
constraints of the legislation. 

 
1.4 When the licensing of gambling premises was transferred to local authorities in 

2007, most of the gambling premises had already been established and trading 
for some time.  In 2007/8, there were 80 licensed gambling premises in the 
borough. Over the years many gambling premises have closed, and new 
operators set up, but overall the numbers of gambling premises have remained 
quite stable. Currently, there are 79 licensed gambling premises in the borough.  

 
1.5 We are seeing a recent trend where we are receiving applications for new bingo 

and adult gaming centre licence applications for premises which previously held 
betting premises licences. Such premises often occupy old betting shops and 
contain gaming machine and allow online gambling via devices.  These 
gambling applications are notably on the increase, and this is common 
nationwide. 

 
1.6 We recently revised and re-consulted on our Gambling Act policy (attached) 

which was approved at the Council meeting on 17 November 2021. 
 
 
 
 

Page 199 Agenda Item 5



2 

 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

2.0 Licensing regime- Gambling Act 2005: 
 
2.1 The Gambling Act places a legal obligation on local authorities to “aim to 

permit” licences if they meet with Codes of Practice, the licensing objectives 
and our own Gambling Policy (called the Statement of Principles). This means 
that we are expected to issue licences to gambling premises unless they do not 
meet the above requirements. Therefore it is very difficult for Councils to refuse 
a licence even when there are strong objections from the public and Cllrs. 

 
2.2 There is also no ability under the Gambling Act to control the concentration of 

gambling premises (ie ‘clustering’ of gambling premises) like there is with a 
‘cumulative impact’ policy for alcohol licensed premises under the Licensing Act 
in which you can take into account the impact of nearby pubs etc on the local 
neighbourhood (such as nuisance, crime and antisocial behaviour).  

 
2.3 The Licensing team inspect every gambling premises on a yearly basis. Overall, 

gambling premises are generally compliant as the majority are operated by the 
large gambling companies.  We receive very few complaints about how the 
gambling premises are operating. 

 
2.4 Despite the requirement on Councils to ‘aim to permit’ the licensing of gambling 

premises, we have taken measures within the legislation to be as robust as 
possible within the constraints imposed by the legislative regime and guidance.   

 
3.0   Enfield’s Gambling Policy (Statement of Principles): 
 
3.1 In 2016, we took the opportunity presented in the revised Gambling 

Commission guidance to Licensing Authorities to provide a local area profile of 
the borough in the Policy.  This provides operators of gambling premises with a 
clear understanding of the local characteristics of the borough.  Unlike alcohol 
control, where the harms are readily apparent in drunken behaviour and 
nuisance, problem gambling can be less visible and have devastating impacts 
on the person, their relationships, their family, on their health and cause 
significant debt. 

 
3.2 The local area profile shows the location of facilities associated with children 

(eg schools) and vulnerable persons as well as some socio-economic indicators 
of potential vulnerability such as deprivation and unemployment. We expect the 
operators of gambling premises in Enfield to demonstrate they have had regard 
to this local area profile in preparing their own risk assessment of their premises 
and when they make licence applications to us.  

 
3.3 We also developed conditions to attach to licences in relation to the protection 

of children and problem gambling that are as robust as we could within the 
constraints of the legislation. 

 
4.0 Fixed Odd Betting Terminals in gambling premises – reduction of 

maximum payout 
 

Page 200



3 

 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

4.1 In 2018, we supported the London Borough of Newham’s campaign to reduce 
the maximum payout (stakes) of fixed odd betting terminals within gambling 
premises from £100 to £2.  At that time, these betting machines allowed players 
gambling excessively or compulsorily to lose £100 every 20 seconds.  This 
campaign resulted in a change to the legislation to reduce the maximum payout 
from £100 to £2.  

 
5.0 The Planning regime: 

 
 Gambling premises - ‘Sui Generis’ use class 
 
5.1.1 Following representations by Councils including Enfield, a 2015 amendment 

to the Use Classes Order placed betting offices and pay day loan shops 
outside of Use Class A2 (financial services), instead making them expressly 
‘sui generis’ uses. In more recent changes to the use class order in August 
2020, Use Class A2 (financial services) has been replaced by Class E(c)(i) 
(financial services) within Class E (commercial, business and services). 
However, betting offices and pay day loan shops are still classified as “Sui 
Generis”. Planning permission is therefore required for all new gambling 
premises and pay day loan shops, even if such new units are just a change of 
use from what was a Class A2, now a Class E use. Prior to 2015 such 
changes would have been permitted development.. Such proposals would be 
assessed against Enfield’s Development Management Document Policy DMD 
33 (see below). 

 
 
5.1.2 Although Betting Offices are classed as ‘Sui Generis’ and therefore are 

technically in a class of their own, the current legislation does permit certain 
changes from betting shop use to other uses without planning permission as 
part of ‘permitted development’ legislation:  

 

Sui Generis (betting 
office) 

 E (commercial, business and services) – 
P3/Class A 

 C3 (dwelling house) up to 150m2 and subject 
to Prior Approval – P3/Class M 

 1 or 2 flats above subject to prior approval –
 P3/Class G 

 
 
 
 
5.2 Development Management Document, Policy DMD33 “Managing the 

Impact of Gambling premises” 
 
5.2.1 Due to concerns about the proliferation and concentration of gambling 

premises, Planning Services introduced in its adopted Development 
Management Document, a specific planning policy; Policy DMD33 “Managing 
the Impact of Gambling premises”. This policy seeks to control the negative 
aspect associated with gambling premises. It aims to control the clustering of 

Page 201

https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/use-class/use-class-sui-generis-for-those-locations-which-are-unique-in-themselves/
https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/use-class/use-class-sui-generis-for-those-locations-which-are-unique-in-themselves/
https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/gpdo/changes-of-use/class-a/
https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/gpdo/changes-of-use/class-a/
https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/planning/gpdo/changes-of-use/class-m/
https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/planning/gpdo/changes-of-use/class-m/
https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/gpdo/changes-of-use/class-g/
https://www.planninggeek.co.uk/gpdo/changes-of-use/class-g/


4 

 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

uses to ensure there is no harm to the viability and vitality of centres or harm 
caused by anti-social behaviour.  

 
5.2.2 Proposals for gambling premises will assessed against the current DMD 

Policy 33 and will only be permitted if all of the following criteria are met: 
 

a. The proposed development is located within a local or district centre, or 
within the secondary shopping frontage of Enfield Town; 
b. There should be a minimum of five non-betting shop units between the 
proposed site and the next betting shop premises, or at least 25m, between 
them, whichever is greater; and 
c. The proposal should be designed such as to provide an active frontage 
during the daytime and evening, and to have a positive visual impact on the 
street. 

 
5.2.3 DMD Policy 33 also acknowledged that Article 4 Directions may be an option 

in centres where there is considered to be an oversupply of gambling 
premises to ensure any future proposals will require planning permission. 

 
5.2.4 Enfield’s DMD33 policy gives the Council control over the disposition of 

gambling premises.   
 

 
6.0 Conclusion and further policy considerations for gambling premises: 
 
6.1 As explained above, the Gambling Act requires Councils to ‘aim to permit’ 

gambling premises to be licensed unless there is strong evidence that they 
will not meet the Licensing objectives in the Act or our Gambling policy 
(statement of principles). We have pushed to the boundaries of the legislation 
on what we can reasonably require of gambling premises when they apply for 
licences. They are no further policy changes we can make under the 
Licensing regime. 

 
6.2 The Government undertook a public consultation on revisions to the Gambling 

Act 2005 which closed in March 2021.  We understand that the response to  
the consultation might not be published until 2023.  

 
6.3 In addition to the legislative changes to the uses class for gambling premises 

requiring planning permission/prior approval for changes of use, Planning 
services have introduced DMD33 to control the clustering of gambling 
premises. As planning permission is required for a new betting shop, other 
planning controls; such as an Article 4 Direction, would not be necessary or 
appropriate at this time as it would not bring any additional control. 

Page 202



 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2021-22 
 

As at 11.03.2022 

 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

 
ITEM 

 

Weds 2 
June 2021 
Planning 
session 

Tues 20 
July 2021 

Weds 
8 Sept 
2021 

Wed 10 
Nov 

Thurs 
18 

Nov 

Thurs 
25 

Nov 
2021 

Weds 1 
Dec 
2021  

Weds 12 
Jan 2022 
(Budget 
meeting) 

Tues 
18 Jan 
2022 

Thurs 10 
Feb  

2022 

Monday 21 
March 2022 

Work 
Programme 

   Call-in 
Sloemans 
Farm 
 

Call-in 
White 
webbs 

      

Setting the 
Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Annual Work 
Programme 
2021/22 

 Agree OSC 
Work 
Programme 
for 2021/22 

         

Actions from 
Scrutiny 
Panels 

           

Specific 
items 

           

Council 
Priorities 
2021/22 
 

Verbal 
presentation 

          

Budget 
Consultation 
2022/23 
 

       Report and 
presentation 

   

Local Plan  Report          

Food Poverty  
Update 
 

     Report      

Flytipping 
 

  Report         

Build the   Report         

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 6



 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2021-22 
 

As at 11.03.2022 

 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

change 
update 

 
ITEM cont’d 
 

Weds 2 
June 2021 
Planning 
session 

Tues 20 
July 2021 

Weds 
8 Sept 
2021 

Wed 10 
Nov 2021 

Thurs 
18 

Nov 
2021 

Thurs 
25 

Nov 
2021 

Weds 1 
Dec 
2021 

Weds 12 
Jan 2022 
(Budget 
Meeting) 

Tues 
18 Jan 
2022 

Thurs 10 
Feb 

2022 

Monday 
21 

March 
2022 

Consultations 
 

     Report      

Safeguarding       Report     

Petition – 
Firs Farm 

      Report     

Petition – 
Stop the 
Road Blocks 

        Report   

Town 
Centres 
 

         Report  

Retender of 
the Domestic 
Violence 
Refuge  

      Report 
Deferred 
to future 
meeting  

    

Covid 19 
(lessons 
learned) 

          Report 
(Shaun Rogan) 

Licensing for 
Gaming 

          Report 
(Sara Carey) 

White Paper 
on Planning 
 

           

Standing 
Items 

           

P
age 204



 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2021-22 
 

As at 11.03.2022 

 

Internal - Official - Sensitive 

 

 

Scrutiny 
Annual 
Report 
2020/21 

     Report      

 
ITEM cont’d 
 

Weds 2 
June 2021 

Planning 
session 

Tues 20 
July 2021 

Weds 
8 Sept 
2021 

Wed 10 
Nov 2021 

Thurs 
18 
Nov 
2021 

Thurs 
25 

Nov 
2021 

Weds 
1 Dec 
2021 

Weds 12 
Jan 2022 
(Budget 
Meeting) 

Tues 18 
Jan 
2022 

Thurs 10 
Feb 

2022 

Monday 21 March 
2022 

Updates from 
Scrutiny 
Panel Chairs 

     Verbal 
Update 

     

Draft Work 
Programmes 
from Scrutiny 
Panels 

 Update          

Monitoring/ 
update 

           

Complaints, 
MEQs and 
FOIs 

         Report  

P
age 205



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Call-In: Dugdale Centre Refurbishment (KD5433)
	Call-In Published PL21088PDugdaleRefurbishmentApproved
	Call-In Published PL21088Appendix1DugdaleRestaurantBusinessCaseApproved
	Call-In Published PL21088Appendix21170DACDesignUpdateStage2IssueApproved
	L_4600_Signage and Display Layout [I00] .pdf
	L_4600Signage and Display Layout 
	1/00006
	1/00008


	L_4502_Proposed RCP Curtain Tracks [I00].pdf
	L_4502Proposed RCP 
	1/00007


	L_4501_Lighting Plan Mezzanine [I00].pdf
	L_4501Lighting Plan Mezzanine
	1/00009
	1/00010


	L_4500_Lighting Plan Ground Floor [I00].pdf
	L_4500Lighting Plan Ground Floor
	1/00006
	1/00008


	L_4001_Floor Finishes Mezzanine [I00].pdf
	L_4001Mezzanine Plan 
	1/00005


	L_4000_Floor Finishes Ground Floor [I00].pdf
	L_4000Ground Floor Plan 
	1/00006


	L_1001_Wall Type Mezzanine [I00].pdf
	L_1001Wall Type Mezzanine
	1/00009
	1/00010


	L_1000_Wall Type Ground Floor [I00].pdf
	L_1000Wall Type Ground Floor 
	1/00006
	1/00008


	E_0110_Ground Floor Plan [I00].pdf
	E_0110Ground Floor Plan 
	1/00004


	A_0125_Proposed Kitchen Layout [I00].pdf
	A_0125Proposed Kitchen Layout
	1/00017
	1/00018


	A_0124_Proposed Entrance Layout [I00].pdf
	A_0124Proposed Entrance Layout
	1/00014
	1/00015


	A_0123_WC Block Layout [I00].pdf
	A_0123WC Block Layout
	1/00010
	1/00011


	A_0122_Box Office Layout [I00].pdf
	A_0122Box Office Layout
	1/00016
	1/00006
	1/00009


	A_0121_Tiered Seating Layout [I00].pdf
	A_0121Tiered Seating Layout 
	1/00005
	1/00008
	1/00013


	A_0120_Museum Exhibit Layout [I00].pdf
	A_0120 Museum Exhibit Layout
	1/00003
	1/00007
	1/00012


	A_0111_Mezzanine Plan [I00].pdf
	A_0111Mezzanine Plan 
	1/00002


	A_0110_Ground Floor Plan [I00].pdf
	A_0110Ground Floor Plan 
	1/00004



	Call-In Dugdale Refurbishment Call-In Signed Sheet
	Dugdale_refurbhisment Response to Call In March 2022 (002)

	4 Managing the Covid-19 Pandemic: Interim Summary Report
	Managing Covid-19 Pandemic Appendices
	OSC210322 - COVERSHEET
	Covid Impact Health Adult Social Care Enfield Appendix A
	SOS letter 16 April 2020
	Care home statement 06 04 20
	Letter to SoS for Health 231220.
	Coronavirus Testing 220420
	Letter to All Households from Leader Sept 2020 - Covid 19
	CEX711 Leaders Letter borough-wide 110121 1623
	Special Report
	Special Report: In shielding its hospitals from COVID-19, Britain left many of the weakest exposed
	THE COCOON
	DO YOU WORK FOR THE NHS?
	AN INVISIBLE TRAIL
	TEST, TEST, TEST
	MASKS
	GETTING TO HOSPITAL
	FALSE VICTORY


	Community Resilience Board TOR 2020_ asof04.09.20
	EST - Guidance for Volunteers
	Appendix Fi
	Slide Number 2

	Appendix F
	Data Summary

	Appendix G - Legislative changes (40-64)
	Provisions of the Act
	Care Act Easements



	5 Gambling Act 2005 - Control of gambling premises including in Town Centres
	6 2021/22 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme



